Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

.

RECEIVED: October 28, 2024 ACCEPTED: January 17, 2025 PUBLISHED: February 18, 2025

# Eigenvalue systems for integer orthogonal bases of multi-matrix invariants at finite N

Adrian Padellaro<sup>®</sup>,<sup>a</sup> Sanjaye Ramgoolam<sup>®b,c</sup> and Ryo Suzuki<sup>®d</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Faculty of Physics, Bielefeld University, PO-Box 100131, D-33501 Bielefeld, Germany
<sup>b</sup>Centre for Theoretical Physics, Department of Physics and Astronomy, Queen Mary University of London, London E1 4NS, U.K.
<sup>c</sup>School of Theoretical Physics, Dublin Institute for Advanced Studies, 10 Burlington Road, Dublin 4, Ireland
<sup>d</sup>Shing-Tung Yau Centre of Southeast University, No.2 Sipailou, Xuanwu district, Nanjing, Jiangsu, 210096, China E-mail: apadellaro@physik.uni-bielefeld.de, s.ramgoolam@qmul.ac.uk, rsuzuki.mp@gmail.com

ABSTRACT: Multi-matrix invariants, and in particular the scalar multi-trace operators of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM with U(N) gauge symmetry, can be described using permutation centraliser algebras (PCA), which are generalisations of the symmetric group algebras and independent of N. Free-field two-point functions define an N-dependent inner product on the PCA, and bases of operators have been constructed which are orthogonal at finite N. Two such bases are well-known, the restricted Schur and covariant bases, and both definitions involve representation-theoretic quantities such as Young diagram labels, multiplicity labels, branching and Clebsch-Gordan coefficients for symmetric groups. The explicit computation of these coefficients grows rapidly in complexity as the operator length increases. We develop a new method for explicitly constructing all the operators with specified Young diagram labels, based on an N-independent integer eigensystem formulated in the PCA. The eigensystem construction naturally leads to orthogonal basis elements which are integer linear combinations of the multi-trace operators, and the N-dependence of their norms are simple known dimension factors. We provide examples and give computer codes in SageMath which efficiently implement the construction for operators of classical dimension up to 14. While the restricted Schur basis relies on the Artin-Wedderburn decomposition of symmetric group algebras, the covariant basis relies on a variant which we refer to as the Kronecker decomposition. Analogous decompositions exist for any finite group algebra and the eigenvalue construction of integer orthogonal bases extends to the group algebra of any finite group with rational characters.

KEYWORDS: 1/N Expansion, AdS-CFT Correspondence, Gauge Symmetry, Matrix Models

ARXIV EPRINT: 2410.13631



# Contents

1	Introduction		
<b>2</b>	Symmetric group algebras and multi-matrix invariants	5	
	2.1 Notation	6	
	2.2 Two decompositions of $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$	11	
	2.3 Permutation centraliser algebra $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$	15	
	2.4 Restricted Schur basis	17	
	2.5 Covariant basis	19	
	2.6 General covariant basis	21	
3	Eigenvalue method for $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$	22	
	3.1 Regular representation of $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$	23	
	3.2 Generating sets of central elements and integer eigenvalues	24	
	3.3 Hermite normal forms and kernels of integer matrices	25	
	3.4 Simple example	26	
	3.5 Orthogonality from planar to finite $N$	27	
4	Eigenvalue method for $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$		
	4.1 Decomposition of the regular representation	31	
	4.2 Eigenvalue system for the Artin-Wedderburn decomposition	33	
	4.3 Eigenvalue system for the Kronecker decomposition	34	
<b>5</b>	Integer eigenvalue system for general rational finite groups	34	
	5.1 Two decompositions of $\mathbb{C}[G]$	35	
	5.2 Two decompositions of $\mathbb{C}[G]^H$	36	
	5.3 Integer orthogonal bases for rational groups	38	
6	Conclusions	38	
$\mathbf{A}$	Notation	39	
	A.1 Branching coefficients	39	
	A.2 CG coefficients of $S_L$	41	
	A.3 CG coefficients of $U(M)$	42	
в	Algorithm: decomposition of $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$	42	
	B.1 Outline of SageMath code	43	
	B.2 Integer kernels	46	
	B.3 Simple example: integer kernel	47	
С	Data: integer orthogonal bases for $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1,\mu_2)$	48	
	C.1 Half-BPS operators	48	
	C.2 Restricted basis	49	

56

C.3	Covariant	basis

D Data: orthonormal bases for $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$	62
D.1 Matrix units of $S_L$	62
D.2 Kronecker basis of $S_L$	66

# 1 Introduction

An important problem in the AdS/CFT correspondence [1–3] is to understand the map between quantum states in the CFT and in the string theory side. The operator-state map in CFTs [4] means that the quantum states in CFT correspond to local operators. In any CFT with gauge symmetry, the local operators are constructed as gauge-invariant composites of the elementary fields. The study of the construction and correlators of general half-BPS operators in four-dimensional  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  super Yang-Mills (SYM) with U(N) gauge group  $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM [5] has allowed a detailed study of the physics of giant gravitons [6] and half-BPS geometries [7] in ten-dimensional space-time from the dual CFT point of view.

Half-BPS local operators in the U(N) theory are gauge-invariant holomorphic functions of a complex matrix Z of size  $N \times N$ . Since the half-BPS sector is protected, the inner product on the space of half-BPS operators defined by the free-field two-point functions is valid for any coupling. The operators of dimension L, which are polynomial gauge invariants of degree L, have an orthogonal basis labelled by Young diagrams with L boxes and no more than N rows. The elements of the basis are expressible as linear combinations of multi-trace operators with coefficients given by characters of the symmetric group  $S_L$  for the irreducible representation specified by the Young diagram, evaluated on a conjugacy class determined by the trace structure of the multi-trace operator. The norm of the operator in the free-field inner product is a polynomial in N which is related to dimensions of U(N)and  $S_L$  representations associated with the Young diagram [5].

The quarter-BPS and 1/8-BPS sectors contain gauge-invariant operators of more than one type of complex matrices, which we call multi-matrix operators or multi-matrix invariants. Multi-matrix operators are relevant to strings attached to giant gravitons and to brane-antibrane systems. Finite N bases for multi-matrix operators were constructed in [8-12], which are orthogonal under the free-field inner product, and the norms of the basis elements were calculated. The number of elements in these finite N bases were shown ([13] and section 6 of [12]) to agree with finite N counting formulae for gauge invariant operators [14-17]. The basis in [10, 13] is known as the restricted Schur basis, and has its origins in studies of general (BPS or non-BPS) open string excitations of giant gravitons [18-20]. The simplest instance involves holomorphic gauge-invariant functions of two matrices. The construction of [8] was motivated by the brane-anti-brane interpretation of operators constructed from  $Z, Z^{\dagger}$  and employed Walled Brauer algebras. The basis in [9] was studied with motivations coming from the quarter-BPS sector and involved holomorphic functions of two complex matrices, which are quarter-BPS at zero Yang-Mills coupling. This basis is known as the covariant basis for the two-matrix system, since the global U(2) rotating the two matrices into each other is manifest. The generalisation to multi-matrix systems for general global

symmetry group was described in [12]. The existence of different orthogonal bases was explained in terms of Casimirs for enhanced symmetries in the zero coupling limit in [21]. The generalisation of the restricted Schur and covariant matrix bases to quiver gauge theories was given in [22]. Reviews of work on applications of these results on field theoretic multi-matrix combinatorics are available in [23–26].

It has been explained that the space of two-matrix gauge-invariant operators is closely related to the structure of an algebra  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$  which is an instance of a permutation centraliser algebra (PCA) [27].  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$  is a sub-algebra of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ , where  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  is the group algebra of the symmetric group  $S_L$  of all permutations of  $\{1, 2, \dots, L\}$ . It is the sub-algebra which commutes with the sub-group  $S_{\mu_1} \times S_{\mu_2}$  of  $S_L$ , where  $\mu_1 + \mu_2 = L$  and  $S_{\mu_1}$  permutes  $\{1, \dots, \mu_1\}$  and  $S_{\mu_2}$  permutes  $\{\mu_1 + 1, \dots, \mu_1 + \mu_2 = L\}$ :

$$\mathcal{A}(\mu_1,\mu_2) = \left\{ \sigma \in \mathbb{C}[S_{\mu_1+\mu_2}] \, \middle| \, \gamma \sigma \gamma^{-1} = \sigma, \quad \forall \gamma \in S_{\mu_1} \times S_{\mu_2} \right\}.$$
(1.1)

More generally, the gauge-invariant operators of M types of complex matrices are related to

$$\mathcal{A}(\mu) = \mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2, \dots, \mu_M) = \left\{ \sigma \in \mathbb{C}[S_L] \, \middle| \, \gamma \sigma \gamma^{-1} = \sigma, \quad \forall \gamma \in S_{\mu_1} \times S_{\mu_2} \times \dots \times S_{\mu_M} \subseteq S_L \right\},$$
(1.2)

 $\mu_1 + \mu_2 + \cdots + \mu_M = L$ . The structure constants of PCAs have been shown to arise in the correlators of Gaussian matrix models with background fields [28] and these algebras have been found to be useful in proving identities for Littlewood-Richardson coefficients which arise in quantum information theory [29].

In this paper we develop efficient algorithms to compute orthogonal bases for the permutation centraliser algebras  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$ . These lead to orthogonal bases for the two-matrix system, which are closely related to the restricted Schur and covariant bases.

The restricted Schur basis for gauge-invariant composites of matrices Z, W of size  $N \times N$ , of degree  $\mu_1$  in Z and degree  $\mu_2$  in W takes the form

$$\mathcal{O}_{\nu_{-},\nu_{+}}^{R,(r_{1},r_{2})}[Z,W] \tag{1.3}$$

where  $r_1, r_2, R$  are Young diagrams with  $\mu_1, \mu_2, \mu_1 + \mu_2 \equiv L$  boxes respectively, with their number of rows should be less or equal to N. These Young diagrams label irreducible representations of symmetric groups, denoted by  $V_{r_1}^{S_{\mu_1}}, V_{r_2}^{S_{\mu_2}}, V_R^{S_{\mu_1+\mu_2}}$  respectively. The index  $\nu_{\mp}$  is an integer ranging over the Littlewood-Richardson coefficient  $g(r_1, r_2; R)$ , which has an interpretation as the multiplicity in the reduction of the irreducible representation  $V_R^{S_{\mu_1+\mu_2}}$  to the representation  $V_{r_1}^{S_{\mu_1}} \otimes V_{r_2}^{S_{\mu_2}}$ . The restricted Schur basis is closely related to the Artin-Wedderburn decomposition of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$ . The explicit formula for the operators (1.3) involves branching coefficients for this reduction (for the details see [10, 11, 21]). The explicit construction of these branching coefficients has been discussed in the mathematical physics literature [30–37] and become very complex when  $\mu_1, \mu_2$  increase up to say 4, 5. Nevertheless the Young diagram structure of the restricted Schur basis has been useful in identifying new large N integrable sectors in the two-matrix system (see [38–40] and references therein).

The covariant basis elements [9, 12] for gauge-invariant composites of Z, W of size  $N \times N$  of total degree L in the two matrices take the form

$$\mathcal{O}^{R,\Lambda,M_{\Lambda},\tau}[Z,W] \tag{1.4}$$

where  $R, \Lambda$  are Young diagrams with L boxes whose length (number of non-vanishing rows) obey  $\ell(R) \leq N, \ell(\Lambda) \leq 2$ . A is associated with a representation  $V_{\Lambda}^{S_L}$  of  $S_L$  and also by Schur-Weyl duality with a representation  $V_{\Lambda}^{\mathrm{U}(2)}$  of U(2).  $M_{\Lambda}$  denotes a state in the representation  $V_{\Lambda}^{\mathrm{U}(2)}$  of U(2). The index  $\tau$  runs over the multiplicity of  $V_{\Lambda}^{S_L}$  in the tensor product decomposition of  $V_R^{S_L} \otimes V_R^{S_L}$ . This multiplicity is equal to the Kronecker coefficient  $C(R, R, \Lambda)$  for the triple of representations  $(R, R, \Lambda)$  of  $S_L$  and is also equal to the number of times the trivial representation of  $S_L$  appears in this tensor product  $V_R^{S_L} \otimes V_R^{S_L} \otimes V_{\Lambda}^{S_L}$ . In this two-matrix case, the state label  $M_{\Lambda}$  can further be decomposed into a pair of non-negative integers  $(\mu_1, \mu_2)$  with  $\mu_1 + \mu_2 = L$ , along with a branching multiplicity  $\beta$ . The integers  $\mu_1$ and  $\mu_2$  are the numbers of Z and W respectively in the composite operator, and the index  $\beta$  ranges over the Kotska number  $K_{\Lambda(\mu_1,\mu_2)}$ , which represents how many times the trivial representation of  $S_{\mu_1} \times S_{\mu_2}$  appears when the representation  $V_{\Lambda}^{S_L}$  is restricted from  $S_L$  to the subgroup  $S_{\mu_1} \times S_{\mu_2}$ . The explicit formula for the basis elements involves Clebsch-Gordan coefficients for the overlaps of the states in  $V_R^{S_L} \otimes V_R^{S_L}$  with the states in the subspace  $V_{\Lambda}^{S_L}$ , as well as the branching coefficients for the trivial representation of  $S_{\mu_1} \times S_{\mu_2}$  in  $V_{\Lambda}^{S_L}$ . Explicit examples at small  $\mu_1, \mu_2$  in [9, 12] were given using standard group theory constructions of symmetric group Clebsch-Gordan coefficients [41], but these constructions become rapidly very complex as L increases.

We will explain in section 2.2 that the covariant construction is closely related to a variant of Artin-Wedderburn decomposition of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  which we call Kronecker decomposition.

We will describe an eigenvalue system for matrices derived from a selection of central elements in  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$ , which allows the construction of multi-matrix invariants of restricted Schur type in the vector space of dimension  $g(r_1, r_2; R)^2$ 

$$\bigoplus_{\nu_{-},\nu_{+}=1}^{g(r_{1},r_{2};R)} \operatorname{Span} \left( \mathcal{O}_{\nu_{-},\nu_{+}}^{R,(r_{1},r_{2})}[Z,W] \right)$$
(1.5)

The matrices in this eigenvalue system have non-negative integer entries. The eigenvalues are also integers, as they are expressible in terms of characters of symmetric group elements in the irreducible representations  $r_1, r_2, R$ . This integrality of the matrices and their eigenvalues means that the eigenvectors can be constructed as integer linear combinations of multi-trace functions of Z, W by standard algorithms for null vectors of integer matrices based on Hermite normal forms. The output of the null vector algorithms can be efficiently orthogonalised, in the planar limit of the free-field inner product by a Gram-Schmidt procedure. This naturally produces rational linear combinations of multi-traces but can easily be adapted to produce integer combinations. Interestingly, the orthogonal basis for the planar inner product thus produced is automatically orthogonal under the finite N inner product.

Extending these considerations to the covariant basis (1.4) for each  $R, \Lambda, M_{\Lambda}$ , we will describe an eigenvalue system allowing the construction of multi-matrix invariants in the vector space of dimension  $C(R, R, \Lambda)$ 

$$\bigoplus_{\tau=1}^{C(R,R,\Lambda)} \operatorname{Span}\left(\mathcal{O}^{R,\Lambda,M_{\Lambda},\tau}[Z,W]\right).$$
(1.6)

In this case the eigenvalue system is derived by considering the matrix elements of the appropriate actions of central elements of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ . The left or right action selects R and the adjoint action selects  $\Lambda$ . The integrality of the eigenvalue system leads to a basis for (1.6) which consists of integer linear combinations of multi-traces. The states of different  $M_{\Lambda}$  are related by the generators of U(2), expressed as operators on

$$\bigoplus_{\substack{\mu_1,\mu_2\\\mu_1+\mu_2=L}} \mathcal{A}(\mu_1,\mu_2).$$
(1.7)

Similar eigenvalue methods have been developed in the context of representation-theoretic orthogonal bases arising in tensor models with U(N) symmetries [42] as well as matrix [43] and tensor [44] models with  $S_N$  symmetries. In a close similarity to (1.3) and (1.4) the basis labels in these cases include representation labels as well as appropriate multiplicity labels. These applications, as well as the present one, exploit properties of centres of symmetric group algebras whereby the characters of a small set conjugacy classes of  $S_L$ , which multiplicatively generate the centres, suffice to identify an irreducible representation of  $S_L$  [45, 46].

The paper is organised as follows. In section 2 we review the connection between multi-matrix invariants, symmetric group algebras, permutation centraliser algebras and the previously mentioned representation bases. An important result in section 3 is that the representation bases of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$  is characterised as eigenstates of an integer eigensystem constructed from certain linear combinations in  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  acting on  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$ . We explain how to construct integer eigenvector solutions to the eigensystem by using the Hermite normal form from the theory of integer matrices. A similar construction is applied to the Artin-Wedderburn and the Kronecker decompositions of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  in section 4. Section 5 extends this dicussion to general finite group algebras, specialises to rational groups where analogous integrality properties hold. Appendix A details the notation used for group and representation theoretic quantities. Details on the algorithm used to compute integer bases for  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$  are given in B. This paper is accompanied by a computer code which easily produces the results up to L = 10 by laptop, and in principle works up to L = 14. We give a complete set of the restricted and covariant basis elements for  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$  up to L = 5, and give an interesting example at L = 6 in appendix C. Following section 4, we give a complete set of bases elements for  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  up to L = 4 in appendix **D**.

# 2 Symmetric group algebras and multi-matrix invariants

Physically, we are interested in constructing an orthogonal basis of all multi-trace operators of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM. The  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM contains six real scalar fields in the adjoint representation of the gauge group U(N), denoted by  $\Phi_{ij}^I$  with  $I = 1, 2, \ldots, 6$  and  $i, j = 1, 2, \ldots, N$ . The  $\mathfrak{su}(2)$  sector of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM is made of two complex scalars,  $Z = \Phi^5 + \sqrt{-1} \Phi^6$  and  $W = \Phi^3 + \sqrt{-1} \Phi^4$ . The general multi-trace operator in the  $\mathfrak{su}(2)$  sector of length  $L = \mu_1 + \mu_2$  can be written as

$$\mathcal{O}_{g}[Z,W] = \sum_{i_{1},i_{2},\dots,i_{\mu_{1}+\mu_{2}}=1}^{N} \prod_{a=1}^{\mu_{1}} Z_{i_{a}i_{g(a)}} \prod_{b=\mu_{1}+1}^{\mu_{1}+\mu_{2}} W_{i_{b}i_{g(b)}}$$
(2.1)

with g in the symmetric group  $S_{\mu_1+\mu_2}$ . It is straightforward to generalize (2.1) to all multitrace operators made of M complex scalars as

$$\mathcal{O}_g(\vec{a}) = \sum_{i_1, i_2, \dots, i_L=1}^N X_{i_1 i_g(1)}^{a_1} X_{i_2 i_g(2)}^{a_2} \dots X_{i_L i_g(L)}^{a_L}$$
(2.2)

where  $a_i \in \{1, 2, ..., M\}$ . We call  $\mathcal{O}_g(\vec{a})$  multi-matrix invariants, or gauge-invariant operators. As will be shown below, the multi-matrix invariants possess a conjugation symmetry

$$\mathcal{O}_g(a_1, a_2 \dots a_L) = \mathcal{O}_{\gamma g \gamma^{-1}}(a_{\gamma(1)} a_{\gamma(2)} \dots a_{\gamma(L)}), \qquad \forall \gamma \in S_L.$$
(2.3)

An extra sign is needed in this equation when  $X^a$  are fermionic fields. One example of such situations is the  $\mathfrak{su}(2|3)$  sector of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM consisting of three complex scalars and two fermions [47, 48].

### 2.1 Notation

The symmetric group algebra  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  helps organise contractions of tensor indices of multimatrix U(N) invariants, and Young diagrams are useful for describing the irreducible representations of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ . We begin by fixing our notation about  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  and Young diagrams.

## 2.1.1 Group algebra actions

Let  $g_1, g_2$  be elements in  $S_L$ . The composition of two permutations acts on  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., L\}$  as

$$(g_1 g_2)(i) = g_2(g_1(i)). \tag{2.4}$$

Let  $\sigma \in \mathbb{C}[S_L]$  be given by

$$\sigma = \sum_{g \in S_L} c_g(\sigma) g, \qquad c_g(\sigma) \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(2.5)

We define the  $\delta$ -function by

$$\delta(g) = \begin{cases} 1 & g = \mathbf{1} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(2.6)

and extend it linearly to the group algebra  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  by

$$\delta(\sigma) = \sum_{g \in S_L} c_g(\sigma) \,\delta(g) = c_1(\sigma). \tag{2.7}$$

The left and right actions of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  are denoted by the following linear operators

$$m^{\mathfrak{L}}[\sigma](\tau) = \sigma\tau, \qquad m^{\mathfrak{R}}[\sigma](\tau) = \tau\sigma, \qquad \sigma, \tau \in \mathbb{C}[S_L].$$
 (2.8)

The left and right actions always commute,

$$m^{\mathfrak{L}}[\sigma_1]\Big(m^{\mathfrak{R}}[\sigma_2](h)\Big) = m^{\mathfrak{R}}[\sigma_2]\Big(m^{\mathfrak{L}}[\sigma_1](h)\Big) = \sigma_1 h \,\sigma_2.$$

$$(2.9)$$

Expanding the left or right action of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  in a basis of  $S_L$ , we obtain their matrix elements as

$$\sigma h = \sum_{g \in S_L} m_{gh}^{\mathfrak{L}}[\sigma] g, \qquad h\sigma = \sum_{g \in S_L} m_{gh}^{\mathfrak{R}}[\sigma] g, \qquad (2.10)$$

which can be written as

$$m_{gh}^{\mathfrak{L}}[\sigma] = \delta\left(g^{-1}\sigma h\right), \qquad m_{gh}^{\mathfrak{R}}[\sigma] = \delta\left(g^{-1}h\sigma\right).$$
 (2.11)

We also introduce the involution

$$S(\sigma) = \sum_{g \in S_L} c_g(\sigma) g^{-1}$$
(2.12)

which is known as the antipode in the context of group Hopf algebras. The adjoint action of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ , often called conjugation in the literature, is denoted by

$$m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[\sigma](h) = \sum_{g \in S_L} c_g(\sigma) ghg^{-1}, \quad \text{for} \quad \sigma = \sum_{g \in S_L} c_g(\sigma) g, \quad \sigma, h \in \mathbb{C}[S_L].$$
(2.13)

The matrix elements of the adjoint action is denoted by

$$m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[\sigma](h) = \sum_{g \in S_L} m_{gh}^{\mathfrak{ad}}[\sigma] g.$$
(2.14)

# 2.1.2 Centre of $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$

The centre of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ , denoted  $\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L])$ , is the subalgebra defined by

$$\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L]) = \Big\{ z \in \mathbb{C}[S_L] \, \Big| \, zg = gz \text{ for all } g \in S_L \Big\}.$$
(2.15)

The centre has two important bases. The first basis is labelled by conjugacy classes of  $S_L$ . Let  $\rho \vdash L$  (here  $\vdash L$  means an integer partition of L, see equation (2.35)) and  $C_{\rho}$  the corresponding conjugacy class of  $S_L$ , we define

$$z_{\rho} \equiv \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Stab}(g_{\rho})|} \sum_{\gamma \in S_L} \gamma \, g_{\rho} \, \gamma^{-1} \tag{2.16}$$

for any  $g_{\rho} \in C_{\rho}$ , where  $\operatorname{Stab}(g_{\rho})$  is the stabiliser subgroup of  $S_L$ , which leaves  $g_p$  invariant. That  $z_{\rho}$  is central is proven as follows

$$hz_{\rho} = \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Stab}(g_{\rho})|} \sum_{\gamma \in S_L} h\gamma \, g_{\rho} \, \gamma^{-1} = \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Stab}(g_{\rho})|} \sum_{\gamma' \in S_L} \gamma' \, g_{\rho} \, \gamma'^{-1} h = z_{\rho} h \tag{2.17}$$

where we defined  $\gamma' = h\gamma$ . The second basis is a set of the projection operators to the irreducible representation  $R \vdash L$ ,

$$P^{R} = \frac{d_{R}}{L!} \sum_{g \in S_{L}} \chi^{R}(g) g^{-1}$$
(2.18)

where  $\chi^R(g)$  is a character of  $S_L$ . That  $P^R$  is central follows from the fact that  $\chi^R(g)$  is a class function. The two bases are related by an eigensystem

$$m^{\mathfrak{L}}[z_{\rho}](P^{R}) = z_{\rho}P^{R} = \frac{\chi^{R}(z_{\rho})}{d_{R}}P^{R}$$

$$(2.19)$$

and the eigenvalues are called normalised characters. The last equality follows from Schur's lemma. As we will see in subsequent sections, generalisations of this eigenvalue equation exist for permutation centraliser algebras and play an important role in the eigenvalue method used in this paper.

There exists a subset of the above equations that uniquely distinguish all  $P^R$ . It was proven in [45, section 3.4] (see [46, section 3.1] for the general group algebra case) that the following two statements are equivalent

- A set of central elements  $z_1, z_2, \ldots, z_k \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L])$  multiplicatively generate the centre.
- The ordered list of normalised characters  $(\frac{\chi^R(z_1)}{d_R}, \dots, \frac{\chi^R(z_k)}{d_R})$  uniquely determine  $R \vdash L$ .

The following facts, which were observed in [45], contribute to the efficiency of our algorithms. Let  $p \in \{1, ..., L\}$  and define

$$T_p = z_{(p,1^{L-p})}, (2.20)$$

which is a sum of all the elements of  $S_L$  with a single cycle of length p and L-p cycles of length 1. It was then observed that  $T_2$  generates  $\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L])$  for L = 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, and  $T_2$ together with  $T_3$  generates the centre for  $L = 6, 8, 9, \ldots, 14$ . Therefore, for  $L \leq 14$  it is sufficient to solve the eigensystem

$$m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_2](P^R) = \frac{\chi^R(T_2)}{d_R}P^R, \quad m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_3](P^R) = \frac{\chi^R(T_3)}{d_R}P^R,$$
 (2.21)

to find the projectors  $P^R$ . More generally, there exists a  $k_* < L$  such that  $T_2, \ldots, T_{k^*}$  generate the centre but  $T_2, \ldots, T_{k^*-1}$  do not. An important observation is that  $k_*$  is typically much smaller than L.

# 2.1.3 Basis for multi-matrix U(N) invariants

Denote an N-dimensional vector space by  $V_N = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} (e_i \mid i \in \{1, 2, \dots, N\})$ , and its dual vector space by  $\overline{V}_N = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} (\check{e}_j \mid j \in \{1, 2, \dots, N\})$ . Consider a set of M linear operators

$$X^a: V_N \to V_N, \qquad a = 1, 2, \dots, M \tag{2.22}$$

which defines a set of  $N \times N$  matrices as  $X^a e_i = \sum_{j=1}^N X_{ji}^a e_j$ . For a given tuple  $\vec{a} = (a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_L) \in \{1, 2, \ldots, M\}^{\times L}$ , we define the tensor product of linear operators

$$\mathcal{O}(\vec{a}) = X^{a_1} \otimes X^{a_2} \otimes \dots \otimes X^{a_L}.$$
(2.23)

The operator  $\mathcal{O}(\vec{a})$  acts on

$$V_N^{\otimes L} = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \left( e_{i_1} \otimes e_{i_2} \otimes \cdots \otimes e_{i_L} \,|\, i_1, \dots, i_L = 1, \dots, N \right)$$
(2.24)

as

$$\mathcal{O}(\vec{a}) e_{i_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes e_{i_L} = X^{a_1} e_{i_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes X^{a_L} e_{i_L} = \prod_{k=1}^L X^{a_k}_{j_k i_k} e_{j_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes e_{j_L}.$$
 (2.25)

We define an operator  $\mathcal{L}: S_L \to \operatorname{End}(V_N^{\otimes L})$  as the permutation of factors of the tensor product

$$\mathcal{L}(g) | e_{i_1} \otimes e_{i_2} \otimes \dots \otimes e_{i_L} \rangle = | e_{i_{g(1)}} \otimes e_{i_{g(2)}} \otimes \dots \otimes e_{i_{g(L)}} \rangle$$
(2.26)

$$\langle \check{e}_{j_1} \otimes \check{e}_{j_2} \otimes \cdots \otimes \check{e}_{j_L} | \mathcal{L}(g^{-1}) = \langle \check{e}_{j_{g(1)}} \otimes \check{e}_{j_{g(2)}} \otimes \cdots \otimes \check{e}_{j_{g(L)}} |.$$
(2.27)

This permutation operator obeys the composition rule  $\mathcal{L}(g_1)\mathcal{L}(g_2) = \mathcal{L}(g_1g_2)$  under the convention (2.4). It acts on the operator  $\mathcal{O}(\vec{a})$  as

$$\mathcal{L}(g)\mathcal{O}(\vec{a})\mathcal{L}(g^{-1}) = \mathcal{O}(g\cdot\vec{a}) \equiv X^{a_{g(1)}} \otimes X^{a_{g(2)}} \otimes \dots \otimes X^{a_{g(L)}},$$
(2.28)

where

$$g \cdot \vec{a} = (a_{g(1)}, a_{g(2)}, \dots, a_{g(L)}).$$
(2.29)

By combining (2.26)-(2.28), we find

$$\prod_{\ell=1}^{L} X_{j_{g(\ell)}i_{g(\ell)}}^{a_{g(\ell)}} = \prod_{k=1}^{L} X_{j_{k}i_{k}}^{a_{k}}$$
(2.30)

which means that the product of matrix elements are invariant under the relabelling.

By taking the trace over the tensor product space  $V_N^{\otimes L}$ , we obtain the multi-matrix invariant (2.2)

$$\mathcal{O}_{g}(\vec{a}) \equiv \operatorname{tr}_{V_{N}^{\otimes L}}(\mathcal{L}(g)\mathcal{O}(\vec{a})) = \sum_{j_{1},j_{2},\dots,j_{L}=1}^{N} X_{j_{1}j_{g(1)}}^{a_{1}} X_{j_{2}j_{g(2)}}^{a_{2}} \dots X_{j_{L}j_{g(L)}}^{a_{L}}.$$
 (2.31)

It defines a map between the pairs  $(g, \vec{a})$  and the space of multi-traces of multiple matrices. For a fixed  $\vec{a}$  this map can be extended linearly to elements of the group algebra  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ . Let  $\sigma \in \mathbb{C}[S_L]$  be given by (2.5). The corresponding sum of multi-matrix invariants is given by

$$\mathcal{O}_{\sigma}(\vec{a}) = \sum_{g \in S_L} c_g(\sigma) \, \mathcal{O}_g(\vec{a}). \tag{2.32}$$

From the cyclic property of the trace, we have

$$\sum_{i_1,i_2,\dots,i_L} \langle \check{e}_{i_1} \otimes \dots | \mathcal{L}(\sigma) \mathcal{O}(\vec{a}) | e_{i_1} \otimes \dots \rangle = \sum_{i_1,i_2,\dots,i_L} \langle \check{e}_{i_1} \otimes \dots | \mathcal{L}(\gamma) \mathcal{L}(\sigma) \mathcal{O}(\vec{a}) \mathcal{L}(\gamma^{-1}) | e_{i_1} \otimes \dots \rangle$$
(2.33)

for any  $\gamma \in S_L$ . By evaluating this equation with the help of (2.26)–(2.28), we can derive the identity for the multi-matrix invariants (2.3),

$$\mathcal{O}_{\sigma}(\vec{a}) = \mathcal{O}_{\gamma \sigma \gamma^{-1}}(\gamma \cdot \vec{a}), \qquad \forall \gamma \in S_L.$$
(2.34)

#### 2.1.4 Representations and Young diagrams

The irreducible representations of  $S_L$  are labelled by integer partitions of L, or equivalently Young diagrams with L boxes. Young diagrams with L boxes are also denoted by

$$R = [R_1, R_2, \dots, R_\ell] \vdash L, \qquad R_1 \ge R_2 \ge \dots \ge R_\ell, \qquad \sum_{i=1}^\ell R_i = L, \qquad \ell \equiv \ell(R).$$
(2.35)

The dimension of the irreducible representation  $V_R^{S_L}$  for  $R \vdash L$  can be computed combinatorially using Young diagrams. Given a Young diagram R, we label the boxes using coordinates (i, j) where for example (1, 1) labels the top-left box. Then the dimension  $d_R = \dim V_R^{S_L}$  is

$$d_R = \frac{L!}{\text{hook}_R}, \quad \text{hook}_R = \prod_{(i,j)\in R} \left(\text{hook length at } (i,j)\right). \quad (2.36)$$

From Schur-Weyl duality, R also labels an irreducible representation of U(N). The dimension of the irreducible representation  $V_R^{U(N)}$  labelled by R is

$$\operatorname{Dim}_{N}(R) = \frac{d_{R}}{L!} \operatorname{Wt}_{N}(R), \qquad \operatorname{Wt}_{N}(R) = \prod_{(i,j) \in R} (N+i-j).$$
(2.37)

We use the symbol  $e_I^R$  as the *I*-th basis element of  $V_R^{S_L}$  with  $I = 1, 2, \ldots, d_R$ . We introduce the inner product of  $S_L$  by  $(e_I^R, e_J^S)$ . The representation R is called unitary if the group action respects the inner product

$$(g e_I^R, g e_J^R) = (e_I^R, e_J^R), \quad \forall g \in S_L.$$
 (2.38)

When the inner product is diagonal,  $(e_I^R, e_J^S) = \delta^{RS} \delta_{IJ}$ , we use Dirac's bracket notation

$$e_J^S = \begin{vmatrix} S \\ J \end{vmatrix}, \qquad (e_I^R, \cdot) = \left\langle \begin{matrix} R \\ I \end{matrix} \end{vmatrix}, \qquad \left\langle \begin{matrix} R \\ I \end{matrix} \middle| \begin{matrix} S \\ J \end{matrix} \right\rangle = \delta^{RS} \,\delta_{IJ}.$$
 (2.39)

The group element  $g \in S_L$  acts on this basis as

$$g \left| {R \atop I} \right\rangle = \sum_{J=1}^{d_R} \left| D_{JI}^R(g) \right| {R \atop J} \right\rangle \tag{2.40}$$

where  $D_{JI}^{R}(g)$  is the matrix element of the irreducible representation R. The matrix element for  $g_1g_2$  is

$$D_{JI}^{R}(g_{1}g_{2}) = \sum_{K=1}^{d_{R}} D_{JK}^{R}(g_{1}) D_{KI}^{R}(g_{2}).$$
(2.41)

It follows that

The unitary representation R can also be defined by using the matrix elements as

$$D_{IJ}^{R}(g^{-1}) = D_{JI}^{\overline{R}}(g)$$
(2.43)

where  $\overline{R}$  is the complex conjugate representation of R. The character of  $V_R^{S_L}$  is defined by

$$\chi^{R}(\sigma) = \sum_{I=1}^{d_{R}} D_{II}^{R}(\sigma).$$
(2.44)

Since (2.39) is a complete basis, the projection operator to  $V_R^{S_L}$  can also be written as

$$P^{R} = \sum_{I=1}^{d_{R}} \left| \frac{R}{I} \right\rangle \left\langle \frac{R}{I} \right|.$$
(2.45)

The dimension  $d_R$  is equal to the number of standard Young tableaux of shape R. For example, when  $R = [3, 1] = \square$ , we find  $d_R = 3$  and

$$\left\{ \begin{vmatrix} R \\ 1 \end{vmatrix}, \begin{vmatrix} R \\ 2 \end{vmatrix}, \begin{vmatrix} R \\ 3 \end{pmatrix} \right\} = \left\{ \boxed{123}_{4}, \boxed{124}_{3}, \boxed{134}_{2} \right\}.$$
(2.46)

# 2.2 Two decompositions of $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$

We will discuss two interesting decompositions of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ . In the first decomposition,  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  decomposes into a direct sum of matrix sub-algebras, which transform as  $V_R^{S_L} \otimes V_R^{S_L}$  under the simultaneous left and right action of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  on itself. We refer to this as the Artin-Wedderburn decomposition since it is an example of the Artin-Wedderburn decomposition of general semi-simple associative algebras into simple algebras. It is also known, in the context of finite groups, as the Maschke's decomposition, since Maschke's decomposition establishes the semi-simplicity of the group algebras of finite groups [49, 50]. In the second decomposition, the simultaneous left and right actions of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  on  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  are recognised as an action of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L] \otimes \mathbb{C}[S_L]$  and we decompose the matrix blocks  $V_R^{S_L} \otimes V_R^{S_L}$  under the diagonal embedding  $\mathbb{C}[S_L] \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}[S_L] \otimes \mathbb{C}[S_L]$ . We call it Kronecker decomposition, as it involves a multiplicity space whose dimension is equal to the Kronecker coefficient  $C(R, R, \Lambda)$ . These Kronecker coefficient multiplicities have appeared in the construction of covariant bases of matrix operators [9, 12].

# 2.2.1 Artin-Wedderburn decomposition

Any irreducible representations of  $S_L$  satisfy the orthogonality relation

$$\sum_{g \in S_L} D_{IJ}^R(g^{-1}) \, D_{KL}^S(g) = \frac{|S_L|}{d_R} \, \delta^{RS} \, \delta_{IL} \, \delta_{JK} \,. \tag{2.47}$$

All irreducible representations of  $S_L$  can be chosen real and unitary, so that  $D_{IJ}^R(g^{-1}) = D_{IJ}^R(g)$ . With this assumption, we define the following elements of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ ,

$$Q_{IJ}^{R} = \frac{d_{R}}{|S_{L}|} \sum_{g \in S_{L}} D_{JI}^{R}(g) g^{-1}.$$
(2.48)

Using (2.47), one can prove that they satisfy the relation [51, Proposition 11, page 49],

$$Q_{IJ}^R Q_{KL}^S = \delta^{RS} \,\delta_{JK} \,Q_{IL}^R \,. \tag{2.49}$$

These elements are called matrix units (borrowing the language in [52, Theorem 3.7]). The matrix units form a complete basis of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  making the following group theoretical identity manifest

$$|S_L| = L! = \sum_{R \vdash L} d_R^2.$$
 (2.50)

The existence of a complete basis of matrix units is guaranteed by the Artin-Wedderburn theorem. The Artin-Wedderburn theorem, applied to  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ , states that  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  decomposes into the direct sum of simple subalgebras, and each simple subalgebra is a matrix algebra over an irreducible representation of  $S_L$  [51, section 6.2]. The Artin-Wedderburn decomposition of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  is written as

$$\mathbb{C}[S_L] \cong \bigoplus_{R \vdash L} \operatorname{Mat}\left(V_R^{S_L}\right)$$
(2.51)

where  $\operatorname{Mat}(V_R^{S_L})$  is the matrix algebra over  $V_R^{S_L}$ , consisting of  $d_R \times d_R$  matrices. The matrix units  $Q_{IJ}^R$  in (2.49) can be identified as a complete basis of  $\operatorname{Mat}(V_R^{S_L})$ .

The matrix algebra over  $V_R$  can be written as a tensor product

$$\operatorname{Mat}(V_R^{S_L}) \cong V_R^{S_L} \otimes V_R^{S_L} \,. \tag{2.52}$$

To see this, consider group actions on the matrix units. From the definition in (2.48), we have

$$h Q_{IJ}^{R} = \frac{d_{R}}{|S_{L}|} \sum_{g \in S_{L}} D_{JI}^{R}(g) hg^{-1}$$

$$= \frac{d_{R}}{|S_{L}|} \sum_{k \in S_{L}} \sum_{K=1}^{d_{R}} D_{JK}^{R}(k) D_{KI}^{R}(h) k^{-1} = \sum_{K=1}^{d_{R}} D_{KI}^{R}(h) Q_{KJ}^{R}.$$
(2.53)

where in the second equality we defined  $k^{-1} = hg^{-1}$ . Following similar steps we also have

$$Q_{IJ}^R h^{-1} = \sum_{K=1}^{d_R} D_{JK}^R (h^{-1}) Q_{IK}^R = \sum_{K=1}^{d_R} D_{KJ}^R (h) Q_{IK}^R , \qquad (2.54)$$

where we used the fact that the representation matrices  $D_{IJ}^R(h)$  are real and unitary. This argument shows that under the following group action

$$(h, h') \cdot Q_{IJ}^R \equiv h \, Q_{IJ}^R \, (h')^{-1} \,, \qquad (h, h') \in S_L \times S_L$$
 (2.55)

the subscripts of  $Q_{IJ}^R$  separately form a basis for irreducible representations  $V_R^{S_L} \otimes V_R^{S_L}$  of  $S_L \times S_L$ , which is (2.52).

The centre  $\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L])$  acts on the matrix units as the multiplication of a constant known as a normalised character,

$$m^{\mathfrak{L}}[z](Q_{IJ}^{R}) = m^{\mathfrak{R}}[z](Q_{IJ}^{R}) = \frac{\chi^{R}(z)}{d_{R}}Q_{IJ}^{R}$$
 (2.56)

where we used (2.53), (2.54) and Schur's lemma which implies that  $D_{IJ}^R(z) = \chi^R(z) \, \delta_{IJ}/d_R$ for  $z \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L])$ .

# 2.2.2 Kronecker decomposition

Recall that the matrix algebra over the irreducible representation  $V_R^{S_L}$  can be regarded as a tensor product of a pair of  $V_R^{S_L}$ 's (2.52). We decompose this tensor product into a sum of irreducible representations,

$$\mathbb{C}[S_L] \cong \bigoplus_{R \vdash L} V_R^{S_L} \otimes V_R^{S_L} \cong \bigoplus_{R \vdash L} \bigoplus_{\Lambda \vdash L} V_{\Lambda}^{S_L} \otimes V_{R,R,\Lambda}$$
(2.57)

where the multiplicity space  $V_{R,R,\Lambda}$  has the dimension equal to the Kronecker coefficient,

$$\dim V_{R,R,\Lambda} = C(R,R,\Lambda) = \frac{1}{|S_L|} \sum_{g \in S_L} \chi^R(g) \chi^R(g) \chi^\Lambda(g).$$
(2.58)

We take an explicit basis of  $V_R^{S_L}$  as in section 2.1.4 and rewrite the irreducible decomposition (2.57) as

$$\begin{pmatrix} R \\ I \end{pmatrix} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} R \\ J \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{\Lambda \vdash L} \sum_{\tau=1}^{C(R,R,\Lambda)} \sum_{K=1}^{d_{\Lambda}} S^{\tau \Lambda RR}_{KIJ} \begin{vmatrix} \Lambda \\ K \end{matrix}$$
(2.59)

where  $S^{\tau}{}^{\Lambda}{}^{RR}_{KIJ}$  is called the Clebsch-Gordan coefficient and  $\tau$  is a label for an orthogonal basis in the multiplicity space. You can read more about these in appendix A.2.

Now consider the following transformation of the matrix units,

$$\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau} = \sum_{I,J=1}^{d_{R}} S^{\tau}{}_{KIJ}^{\Lambda RR} Q_{IJ}^{R} .$$

$$(2.60)$$

Since this is a unitary transformation, the elements  $\{\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}\}$  also form a complete basis of  $\mathbb{C}[S_{L}]$ ,

$$\mathbb{C}[S_L] \cong \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \left( \mathcal{Q}_K^{R,\Lambda,\tau} \,\middle|\, R, \Lambda \vdash L, K \in \{1, \dots, d_\Lambda\}, \ \tau \in \{1, \dots, C(R, R, \Lambda)\} \right).$$
(2.61)

We call (2.60) Kronecker basis and (2.61) Kronecker decomposition. This equation is consistent with the identity

$$|S_L| = L! = \sum_{R,\Lambda \vdash L} C(R, R, \Lambda) \, d_\Lambda \,. \tag{2.62}$$

It turns out that the subscript K of the Kronecker basis forms an irreducible representation  $V_{\Lambda}^{S_L}$ . In particular, if we consider the adjoint action of  $\gamma \in S_L$  defined in (2.13), we will find

$$m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[\gamma](\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}) = \sum_{K'} \mathcal{Q}_{K'}^{R,\Lambda,\tau} D_{K'K}^{\Lambda}(\gamma).$$
(2.63)

To see this, we combine (2.48) and (2.60) as

$$m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[\gamma](\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}) = \frac{d_{R}}{|S_{L}|} \sum_{g \in S_{L}} \sum_{I,J} S^{\tau} {}_{KI}{}_{J}{}^{RR} D_{JI}^{R}(g) \gamma g^{-1} \gamma^{-1} = \frac{d_{R}}{|S_{L}|} \sum_{g \in S_{L}} \sum_{I,J,I',J'} S^{\tau} {}_{KI}{}^{RR} D_{JJ'}^{R}(\gamma^{-1}) D_{J'I'}^{R}(g) D_{I'I}^{R}(\gamma) g^{-1}.$$
(2.64)

Since R is a real and unitary representation, we have  $D_{I'I}^R(\gamma) = D_{II'}^R(\gamma^{-1})$ . Using the equivariance property of Clebsch-Gordan coefficients (A.19), the equation (2.64) simplifies as

$$m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[\gamma](\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}) = \frac{d_{R}}{|S_{L}|} \sum_{g \in S_{L}} \sum_{I',J',K'} D_{KK'}^{\Lambda}(\gamma^{-1}) S^{\tau} {}^{\Lambda}_{K'I'J'} D_{J'I'}^{R}(g) g^{-1} = \sum_{K'} \mathcal{Q}_{K'}^{R,\Lambda,\tau} D_{K'K}^{\Lambda}(\gamma)$$
(2.65)

which is (2.63).

Let us compute the inner product of the Kronecker basis using the  $\delta$ -function defined by (2.6). We write

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}) = \frac{d_{R}}{|S_{L}|} \sum_{\sigma \in S_{L}} \sum_{I,J} S^{\tau \Lambda RR}_{KIJ} D^{R}_{JI}(\sigma) \sigma$$
(2.66)

$$\mathcal{Q}_{K'}^{R',\Lambda',\tau'} = \frac{d_{R'}}{|S_L|} \sum_{\sigma' \in S_L} \sum_{I',J'} S^{\tau'\Lambda'R'R'}_{K'I'J'} D_{J'I'}^{R'}(\sigma') \sigma'^{-1}$$
(2.67)

and use the relation

$$\sum_{\sigma,\sigma'\in S_L} \delta\left(D_{JI}^R(\sigma) \, D_{J'I'}^{R'}(\sigma') \, \sigma \, \sigma'^{-1}\right) = \sum_{\sigma} D_{JI}^R(\sigma) \, D_{J'I'}^{R'}(\sigma) = \frac{|S_L|}{d_R} \, \delta^{RR'} \delta_{JJ'} \, \delta_{II'} \tag{2.68}$$

together with the orthogonality of the Clebsch-Gordan coefficients (A.18). Then we find

$$\delta\left(\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau})\mathcal{Q}_{K'}^{R',\Lambda',\tau'}\right) = \frac{d_{R}}{|S_{L}|} \,\delta^{RR'} \delta^{\Lambda\Lambda'} \,\delta^{\tau\tau'} \,\delta_{KK'} \,. \tag{2.69}$$

This  $\delta$ -function inner product is the same as the planar two-point function of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM at zero coupling, as will be discussed in section 3.5.

Let us consider the adjoint action of the centre on  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  and in particular on the basis  $\mathcal{Q}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}_{K}$ . Following the notation in section 2.1.1, we write

$$m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[z](\sigma) = \sum_{g \in S_L} c_g(z) g^{-1} \sigma g, \quad \text{for} \quad z = \sum_{g \in S_L} c_g(z) g \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L]). \quad (2.70)$$

The left and right action of the center  $\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L])$  on  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  are identical. This left/right action commutes with the adjoint action of  $\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L])$  on  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ . For  $z_1, z_2 \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L])$  and  $\sigma \in \mathbb{C}[S_L]$ 

$$m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[z_1](m^{\mathfrak{L}}[z_2](\sigma)) = m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[z_1](m^{\mathfrak{R}}[z_2](\sigma)) = m^{\mathfrak{L}}[z_2](m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[z_1](\sigma)) = m^{\mathfrak{R}}[z_2](m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[z_1](\sigma)).$$
(2.71)

Equivalently as linear operators on  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ ,

$$m^{\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{d}}[z_1]m^{\mathfrak{L}}[z_2] = m^{\mathfrak{L}}[z_2]m^{\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{d}}[z_1]$$
(2.72)

It follows from (2.63) and (2.56) that the centre acts on the Kronecker basis as

$$m^{\mathfrak{L}}[z_1](\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}) = m^{\mathfrak{R}}[z_1](\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}) = \frac{\chi^{R}(z_1)}{d_R} \mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}, \qquad m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[z_2](\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}) = \frac{\chi^{\Lambda}(z_2)}{d_\Lambda} \mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}$$
(2.73)

In other words, the Kronecker basis simultaneously diagonalises the left/right action and the adjoint action of the centre  $\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L])$ .

The state label I, J in the matrix units  $Q_{IJ}^R$  and K in the Kronecker basis  $\mathcal{Q}_K^{R,\Lambda,\tau}$  can be determined by the action of non-central elements such as the Young-Jucys-Murphy elements. We will elaborate on this in section 4.

## 2.3 Permutation centraliser algebra $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$

Consider the multi-matrix invariants  $\mathcal{O}_g(\vec{a})$  in (2.31) which consist of M types of  $N \times N$  matrices. We fix the field content of  $\mathcal{O}_g(\vec{a})$  as having  $\mu_1 X^{1}$ 's,  $\mu_2 X^{2}$ 's and so on up to  $\mu_M X^M$ 's. Each multi-matrix invariant corresponds to a choice of the field contents  $\mu = (\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_M)$  within the range

$$\mu_{\ell} \in \{0, 1, \dots, L\} \quad \text{such that} \quad \sum_{\ell=1}^{M} \mu_{\ell} = L.$$
(2.74)

For simplicity we assume that the matrix size is larger than or equal to the operator length,  $N \ge L$ .

Using the conjugation symmetry (2.3), we may rearrange  $\vec{a}$  as

$$\vec{a}_{\mu} = (\underbrace{1, 1, \dots, 1}_{\mu_1}, \underbrace{2, 2, \dots, 2}_{\mu_2}, \dots, \underbrace{M, M, \dots, M}_{\mu_M}).$$
 (2.75)

We denote the multi-matrix invariant for the field content  $\mu = (\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_M)$  by

$$\mathcal{O}_g(\vec{a}_\mu) = \operatorname{tr}_{V_N^{\otimes L}} \left( \mathcal{L}(g) \, (X^1)^{\otimes \mu_1} \otimes (X^2)^{\otimes \mu_2} \otimes \dots \otimes (X^M)^{\otimes \mu_M} \right).$$
(2.76)

This  $\mathcal{O}_g(\vec{a}_\mu)$  is invariant under conjugation by the subgroup,

$$\mathcal{O}_g(\vec{a}_\mu) = \mathcal{O}_{hgh^{-1}}(\vec{a}_\mu), \qquad \forall (g,h) \in S_L \times S_\mu \,, \tag{2.77}$$

where  $S_{\mu}$  is called the Young subgroup indexed by  $\mu$ ,

$$S_{\mu} = S_{\mu_1} \times S_{\mu_2} \times \dots \times S_{\mu_M} \subseteq S_L.$$
(2.78)

The sum over the orbits of the equivalence class of  $S_{\mu}$  in (2.77) defines an interesting subalgebra of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  called permutation centraliser algebra [27],

$$\mathcal{A}(\mu) = \mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2, \dots, \mu_M) = \left\{ \sigma \in \mathbb{C}[S_L] \, \middle| \, h\sigma h^{-1} = \sigma \text{ for all } h \in S_\mu \right\}$$
(2.79)

One may also write  $\mathcal{A}(\mu) = \mathbb{C}[S_L]^{S_{\mu}}$ , where  $G^H$  is the *H*-invariant subspace of *G*.

For any  $g \in S_L$  we define the  $S_{\mu}$ -orbit

$$\{g\}_{\mu} = \{hgh^{-1} \,|\, \forall h \in S_{\mu}\}.$$
(2.80)

Let  $l = \dim \mathcal{A}(\mu)$  and  $g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_l$  be a complete set of representatives. That is, a set of elements satisfying

$$\{g_1\}_{\mu} \cup \{g_2\}_{\mu} \cdots \cup \dots \{g_l\}_{\mu} = S_L \tag{2.81}$$

and  $\{g_i\}_{\mu} \cap \{g_j\}_{\mu}$  is empty if  $i \neq j$ . Let us define a linear operator  $P_{\mu}: S_L \to A(\mu)$  by

$$P_{\mu}(g) = \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Stab}(g)|} \sum_{\gamma \in S_{\mu}} \gamma g \gamma^{-1}$$
(2.82)

where  $\operatorname{Stab}(g)$  is the subgroup of  $S_{\mu}$  that leaves g invariant under conjugation.<sup>1</sup> The algebra  $A(\mu)$  has a linear basis labelled by the  $S_{\mu}$ -orbits,

$$\{P_{\mu}(g_1), P_{\mu}(g_2), \dots, P_{\mu}(g_l)\}$$
(2.83)

that we call the orbit basis. It follows that

$$\mathcal{O}_{P_{\mu}(\sigma)}(\vec{a}_{\mu}) = |\operatorname{Orb}(\sigma)|\mathcal{O}_{\sigma}(\vec{a}_{\mu}), \qquad \sigma \in \mathbb{C}[S_L]$$
(2.84)

where  $|\operatorname{Orb}(\sigma)|$  is the number of different elements in  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  which belong to the same equivalence class of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$ . We have  $|\operatorname{Orb}(\sigma)||\operatorname{Stab}(\sigma)| = |S_{\mu}|$  according to the orbit-stabilizer theorem.

There are two interesting cases where  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$  reduces to well-known algebras. The first case is

$$\mathcal{A}(L) = \left\{ \sigma \in \mathbb{C}[S_L] \, \middle| \, h\sigma h^{-1} = \sigma \quad \text{for all } h \in S_L \right\} = \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L]) \tag{2.85}$$

which corresponds to the centre of the symmetric group algebra and describes the half-BPS operators of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM. The second case is

$$\mathcal{A}(\underbrace{1,1,\ldots,1}_{L}) = \mathbb{C}[S_L] \tag{2.86}$$

which is the symmetric group algebra discussed in section 2.2.

The dimension of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$  is equal to the number of multi-matrix invariants at large N, i.e. for operators with  $L \leq N$ .

$$\sigma \in \mathcal{A}(\mu) \quad \stackrel{\text{large } N}{\longleftrightarrow} \quad \mathcal{O}_{\sigma}(\vec{a}_{\mu}) \in \Big\{ M \text{-matrix invariants of degree } L \leq N \text{ and field content } \mu \Big\}.$$
(2.87)

The restricted Schur basis of multi-matrix operators [10, 11] corresponds to a restricted basis in  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$  with labels  $R \vdash L, r_i \vdash \mu_i$ , in addition to multiplicity labels  $1 \leq \nu_{\mp} \leq g(r_1, r_2; R)$ . The finite N constraint is the condition  $\ell(R) \leq N$  on this basis. Equivalently the space of finite N multi-matrix invariants is in 1-1 correspondence with a quotient of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$  defined by setting to zero all the elements of the restricted basis with  $\ell(R) > N$ . In the next two sub-sections we will arrive at the restricted basis in  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$  by starting with the Artin-Wedderburn basis in  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  and projecting with branching coefficients for the subgroup  $S_{\mu} \to S_L$ .

The covariant basis [9, 12] corresponds to a basis in  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$  with labels  $R, \Lambda \vdash L$ , along with a branching multiplicity coefficient for branching of the irreducible representation of  $S_L$  labelled by  $\Lambda$  into the trivial representation of  $S_{\mu}$ , and a Clebsch-Gordan (or Kronecker) multiplicity for  $V_{\Lambda}^{S_L}$  in the tensor product  $V_R^{S_L} \otimes V_R^{S_L}$ . The finite N constraint is again the condition  $\ell(R) \leq N$  on this basis. Equivalently the space of finite N multi-matrix invariants is in 1-1 correspondence with a quotient of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$  defined by setting to zero all the elements of the covariant basis with  $\ell(R) > N$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The stabilizer subgroup  $\operatorname{Stab}(\sigma)$  is also called Automorphism group, denoted by  $\operatorname{Aut}(\sigma)$  in [28].

## 2.4 Restricted Schur basis

We review the restricted Schur basis [19] emphasising the connection with the Artin-Wedderburn basis for  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  in section 2.2.

Given an irreducible representation of  $S_L$ , we can restrict  $S_L \to S_\mu$  and look at the corresponding decomposition into irreducible representations of  $S_\mu$ 

$$V_R^{S_L} \cong \bigoplus_{r_1 \vdash \mu_1} \cdots \bigoplus_{r_M \vdash \mu_M} \left( V_{r_1}^{S_{\mu_1}} \otimes \cdots \otimes V_{r_M}^{S_{\mu_M}} \otimes V_{R \to (r_1 \dots r_M)} \right).$$
(2.88)

Here  $V_{R \to (r_1 \dots r_M)}$  is the multiplicity space of this decomposition, and its dimension is equal to the Littlewood-Richardson coefficient

$$\dim V_{R \to (r_1 \dots r_M)} = g(r_1 \dots r_m; R).$$
(2.89)

Concretely, we can write an orthonormal basis of states for the irreducible representation of  $S_{\mu}$  as

$$\begin{pmatrix} r_1 \dots r_M \\ i_1 \dots i_M \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{I=1}^{d_R} B_{I \to (i_1 \dots i_M), \nu}^{R \to (r_1 \dots r_M)} \begin{vmatrix} R \\ I \end{vmatrix}$$
(2.90)

where  $i_k = 1, \ldots, d_{r_k}$  and  $\nu = 1, \ldots, g(r_1 \ldots r_M; R)$ . The transformation matrix  $B_{I \to (i_1 \ldots i_M), \nu}^{R \to (r_1 \ldots r_M)}$  is called the branching coefficients, whose properties are discussed in detail in appendix A.1. The restricted Schur basis is built from this decomposition as

$$\mathcal{A}(\mu) \cong \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \left( Q_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,(r_{1}\dots r_{M})} \, \middle| \, R \vdash L, r_{k} \vdash \mu_{k} \,, \nu_{\pm} \in \{1, \dots, g(R; r_{1}, \dots, r_{M})\} \right) Q_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,(r_{1}\dots r_{M})} = \sum_{I,J} \sum_{i_{1},\dots,i_{M}} B_{I \to (i_{1}\dots i_{M}),\nu_{-}}^{R \to (r_{1}\dots r_{M})} Q_{IJ}^{R} \, B_{J \to (i_{1}\dots i_{M}),\nu_{+}}^{R \to (r_{1}\dots r_{M})}$$
(2.91)

Tracing over the representations  $(r_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes r_M)$  ensures that the restricted Schur basis satisfies

$$h Q_{\nu_{+},\nu_{-}}^{R,(r_{1}...r_{M})} h^{-1} = Q_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,(r_{1}...r_{M})}, \qquad \forall h \in S_{\mu}.$$
(2.92)

The numerical coefficient of  $Q_{\nu_+\nu_-}^{R,(r_1...r_M)}$  in front of  $g^{-1} \in S_L$  is called the restricted Schur character [19],

$$\chi_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,(r_{1}\dots r_{M})}(g) = \frac{d_{R}}{|S_{L}|} \sum_{I,J} \sum_{i_{1}\dots i_{M}} B_{I\to(i_{1}\dots i_{M});\nu_{-}}^{R\to(r_{1}\dots r_{M})} D_{JI}^{R}(g) B_{J\to(i_{1}\dots i_{M});\nu_{+}}^{R\to(r_{1}\dots r_{M})}.$$
(2.93)

Note that the restricted Schur character is invariant under the permutation of  $(r_1, \ldots, r_M)$ . The restricted Schur basis is a matrix unit of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$  as they satisfy the relation [27, 53]

$$Q_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,(r_{1}\dots r_{M})} Q_{\xi_{+}\xi_{-}}^{S,(s_{1}\dots s_{M})} = \delta^{RS} \left(\prod_{k=1}^{M} \delta^{r_{k}s_{k}}\right) \delta_{\nu_{-}\xi_{+}} Q_{\nu_{+}\xi_{-}}^{R,(r_{1}\dots r_{M})}.$$
(2.94)

The  $\delta$ -function inner product of the restricted Schur basis can be computed as

$$\delta\left(\mathcal{S}(Q_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,(r_{1}...r_{M})}) Q_{\xi_{+}\xi_{-}}^{S,(s_{1}...s_{M})}\right) = \delta^{RS}\left(\prod_{k=1}^{M} \delta^{r_{k}s_{k}}\right) \delta_{\nu_{+}\xi_{+}} \,\delta(Q_{\nu_{-}\xi_{-}}^{R,(r_{1}...r_{M})}) = \delta^{RS}\left(\prod_{k=1}^{M} \delta^{r_{k}s_{k}} \, d_{r_{k}}\right) \delta_{\nu_{+}\xi_{+}} \,\delta_{\nu_{-}\xi_{-}}$$
(2.95)

where we used the real unitarity of R,

$$\mathcal{S}(Q_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,(r_{1}...r_{M})}) = \sum_{I,J} \sum_{i_{1},...,i_{M}} B_{I \to (i_{1}...i_{M}),\nu_{-}}^{R \to (r_{1}...r_{M})} D_{IJ}^{R}(\sigma) B_{J \to (i_{1}...i_{M}),\nu_{+}}^{R \to (r_{1}...r_{M})} \sigma = Q_{\nu_{-}\nu_{+}}^{R,(r_{1}...r_{M})} .$$
(2.96)

In fact, this basis is a Artin-Wedderburn decomposition of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$  [21]

$$\mathcal{A}(\mu) \cong \bigoplus_{\substack{R \vdash L \\ r_i \vdash \mu_i}} \operatorname{Mat}(V_{R \to (r_1 \dots r_M)})$$
(2.97)

and it gives the formula

$$\dim \mathcal{A}(\mu) = \sum_{\substack{R \vdash L \\ r_i \vdash \mu_i}} g(r_1, \dots, r_M; R)^2.$$
(2.98)

With the help of (2.87), we write the corresponding multi-matrix invariants as

$$\mathcal{O}_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,(r_{1}\dots r_{m})}(\vec{a}_{\mu}) = \operatorname{tr}_{V_{N}^{\otimes L}}\left(\mathcal{L}(Q_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R(r_{1}\dots r_{M})})(X^{1})^{\otimes \mu_{1}} \otimes (X^{2})^{\otimes \mu_{2}} \otimes \dots \otimes (X^{M})^{\otimes \mu_{M}}\right)$$
(2.99)

which is called the restricted Schur operators. The operators  $\mathcal{O}_{\nu_+\nu_-}^{R,(r_1...r_m)}(\vec{a}_{\mu})$  form a basis of multi-matrix invariants for  $L \leq N$ . At finite N, only the subset of operators with  $\ell(R) \leq N$  remain linearly independent [5, 19]. The restricted Schur operators form an orthonormal basis with respect to the two-point functions of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM at zero coupling. The operators above the cutoff  $\ell(R) > N$  have zero norm. Further discussion will be given in section 3.5 about the two-point functions at finite N.

Let us investigate the properties of the restricted Schur basis as in section 2.2. The following basic observations were made in [21]. First, it follows from (2.91) that for  $z \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L])$ 

$$z Q_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,(r_{1}...r_{M})} = \frac{\chi^{R}(z)}{d_{R}} Q_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,(r_{1}...r_{M})}.$$
(2.100)

Secondly, the irreducible representations  $r_k$  can be determined in a similar manner. For this, the relevant subalgebras are the centres of the group algebras  $\mathbb{C}[S_{\mu_k}] \subseteq \mathbb{C}[S_L]$ . As we will now show, for any  $z_k \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_{\mu_k}])$ 

$$z_k Q_{\nu_+\nu_-}^{R,(r_1\dots r_M)} = \frac{\chi^{r_k}(z_k)}{d_{r_k}} Q_{\nu_+\nu_-}^{R,(r_1\dots r_M)}.$$
(2.101)

To prove this, consider

$$z_k = \sum_{\gamma \in S_{\mu_k}} c_{\gamma}(z_k) \gamma \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_{\mu_k}])$$
(2.102)

and compute its left action on the restricted Schur basis

$$z_{k}Q_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,(r_{1}...r_{M})} = \sum_{\gamma\in S_{\mu_{k}}}\sum_{\sigma\in S_{L}}\sum_{I,J,K}\sum_{i_{1}...i_{M}}c_{\gamma}(z_{k})B_{I\rightarrow(i_{1}...i_{M});\nu_{-}}^{R\rightarrow(r_{1}...r_{M})}D_{JK}^{R}(\sigma)D_{KI}^{R}(\gamma)B_{J\rightarrow(i_{1}...i_{M});\nu_{+}}^{R\rightarrow(r_{1}...r_{M})}\sigma^{-1}$$

$$=\sum_{\gamma\in S_{\mu_{k}}}\sum_{\sigma\in S_{L}}\sum_{J,K}\sum_{\substack{i_{1}...i_{M}\\j_{1}...j_{M}}}c_{\gamma}(z_{k})B_{K\rightarrow(j_{1}...j_{M});\nu_{-}}^{R\rightarrow(r_{1}...r_{M})}D_{j_{k}i_{k}}^{r}(\gamma)\left(\prod_{\ell\neq k}^{M}\delta_{j_{\ell}i_{\ell}}\right)D_{JK}^{R}(\sigma)B_{J\rightarrow(i_{1}...i_{M});\nu_{+}}^{R\rightarrow(r_{1}...r_{M})}\sigma^{-1}$$

$$(2.103)$$

where we used the equivariance property of branching coefficients (A.11). Since the central element  $z_k \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_{\mu_k}])$  satisfies  $D_{j_k i_k}^{r_k}(z_k) = \chi^{r_k}(z_k) \,\delta_{j_k i_k}/d_{r_k}$ , we find

$$z_{k} Q_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,(r_{1}...r_{M})} = \frac{\chi^{r_{k}}(z_{k})}{d_{r_{k}}} \sum_{J,K} \sum_{i_{1}...i_{M}} B_{K \to (i_{1}...i_{M});\nu_{-}}^{R \to (r_{1}...r_{M})} Q_{KJ}^{R} B_{J \to (i_{1}...i_{M});\nu_{+}}^{R \to (r_{1}...r_{M})}$$

$$= \frac{\chi^{r_{k}}(z_{k})}{d_{r_{k}}} Q_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,(r_{1}...r_{M})}$$
(2.104)

which is (2.101). The actions of  $\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L]), \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_{\mu_1}]), \ldots, \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_{\mu_M}])$  all commute and can be simultaneously diagonalised. The corresponding eigenspaces, which we will construct in section 3 are

$$\mathcal{A}^{R,r_1,\dots,r_M}(\mu) = \operatorname{Span}\Big(Q^{R,(r_1\dots,r_M)}_{\nu_+\nu_-} \mid \nu_+,\nu_- = 1,\dots,g(r_1,\dots,r_M;R)\Big).$$
(2.105)

## 2.5 Covariant basis

In a similar manner we will review the covariant basis [9, 12], which can be viewed as generalisation of the Kronecker basis of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ .

Recall that the Kronecker basis was organised in terms of irreducible representations  $V_{\Lambda}^{S_L}$  of the adjoint action of  $S_L$ . Restricting to the adjoint action of  $S_{\mu}$  gives the following decomposition

$$V_{\Lambda}^{S_L} \cong \bigoplus_{r_1 \vdash \mu_1} \cdots \bigoplus_{r_M \vdash \mu_M} \left( V_{r_1}^{S_{\mu_1}} \otimes \cdots \otimes V_{r_M}^{S_{\mu_M}} \otimes V_{\Lambda \to (r_1 \dots r_M)} \right)$$
(2.106)

where  $V_{\Lambda \to (r_1 \dots r_M)}$  is the multiplicity space. Since we are interested in the states invariant under the adjoint action of  $S_{\mu}$ , we pick out the trivial representation as

$$V_{\Lambda}^{S_L}\Big|_{S_{\mu}\text{-inv}} \cong V_{\text{triv}(\mu)}^{S_{\mu}} \otimes V_{\Lambda \to ([\mu_1]\dots[\mu_M])}, \qquad V_{\text{triv}(\mu)}^{S_{\mu}} \equiv V_{[\mu_1]}^{S_{\mu_1}} \otimes \dots \otimes V_{[\mu_M]}^{S_{\mu_M}}$$
(2.107)

where  $\operatorname{triv}(\mu) = ([\mu_1] \dots [\mu_M])$  is the trivial representation of  $S_{\mu}$ . The multiplicity space has the dimension

$$\dim V_{\Lambda \to ([\mu_1]\dots[\mu_M])} = g([\mu_1],\dots,[\mu_M];\Lambda) \equiv K_{\Lambda\mu}, \qquad (2.108)$$

which is also known as the Kostka number. In concrete terms, we take orthonormal bases of states and express (2.106) as

$$\begin{pmatrix} r_1 \dots r_M \\ k_1 \dots k_M \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{K=1}^{d_{\Lambda}} B_{K \to (k_1 \dots k_M), \beta}^{\Lambda \to (r_1 \dots r_M)} \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda \\ K \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.109)

with  $\beta = 1, \ldots, K_{\Lambda\mu}$  as in (2.90). We are interested in the  $S_{\mu}$ -invariant subspace as in (2.107). Let us write the branching coefficients (2.90) to the trivial representation as

$$\begin{vmatrix} [\mu_1] \dots [\mu_M] \\ 1 \dots 1 \end{vmatrix} \beta \\ = \sum_{K=1}^{d_{\Lambda}} B_{K,\beta}^{\Lambda \to \operatorname{triv}(\mu)} \begin{vmatrix} \Lambda \\ K \end{vmatrix}, \qquad B_{K,\beta}^{\Lambda \to \operatorname{triv}(\mu)} \equiv B_{K \to (1\dots 1),\beta}^{\Lambda \to ([\mu_1]\dots [\mu_M])}.$$
(2.110)

From (2.110) we obtain the covariant basis for  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$ ,

$$\mathcal{A}(\mu) \cong \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \left( \mathcal{Q}_{\beta}^{R,\Lambda,\mu,\tau} \,\middle| \, R \vdash L, \Lambda \vdash L, \tau \in \{1,\ldots,C(R,R,\Lambda)\}, \beta \in \{1,\ldots,K_{\Lambda\mu}\} \right)$$
$$\mathcal{Q}_{\beta}^{R,\Lambda,\mu,\tau} = \sum_{K} B_{K,\beta}^{\Lambda \to \operatorname{triv}(\mu)} \, \mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}$$
(2.111)

which implies

$$\dim \mathcal{A}(\mu) = \sum_{R,\Lambda \vdash L} C(R, R, \Lambda) K_{\Lambda \mu} \,. \tag{2.112}$$

The corresponding matrix invariants

$$\mathcal{O}_{\beta}^{R,\Lambda,\mu,\tau}(\vec{a}_{\mu}) = \operatorname{tr}_{V_{N}^{\otimes L}} \left( \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Q}_{\beta}^{R,\Lambda,\mu,\tau}) (X^{1})^{\otimes \mu_{1}} \otimes (X^{2})^{\otimes \mu_{2}} \otimes \cdots \otimes (X^{M})^{\otimes \mu_{M}} \right)$$
(2.113)

is called the covariant basis of operators. Again, the covariant basis of operators diagonalises the two-point functions of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM at zero coupling. When L > N we need a cut-off on R given by  $\ell(R) \leq N$ . We may impose an extra condition  $\ell(\Lambda) \leq M$  to the equation (2.111), because the Kotska number  $K_{\Lambda\mu}$  vanishes if  $\ell(\Lambda) > M$ .<sup>2</sup>

The real unitarity of R gives

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{Q}^{R,\Lambda,\mu,\tau}_{\beta}) = \mathcal{Q}^{R,\Lambda,\mu,\tau}_{\beta}$$
(2.114)

and the  $\delta$ -function inner product of the covariant basis is

$$\delta\left(\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{Q}^{R,\Lambda,\mu,\tau}_{\beta}) \, \mathcal{Q}^{R',\Lambda',\mu',\tau'}_{\beta'}\right) = \frac{d_R}{|S_L|} \, \delta^{RR'} \delta^{\Lambda\Lambda'} \, \delta^{\tau\tau'} \, \delta^{\mu\mu'} \, \delta_{\beta\beta'} \,. \tag{2.115}$$

This result follows from (2.69) and the orthogonality relation of the branching coefficients (A.10).

It immediately follows from the fact that we started with the Kronecker basis that,

$$z \,\mathcal{Q}_{\beta}^{R,\Lambda,\mu,\tau} = \frac{\chi^R(z)}{d_R} \,\mathcal{Q}_{\beta}^{R,\Lambda,\mu,\tau}, \quad z \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L])$$
(2.116)

$$m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[z](\mathcal{Q}^{R,\Lambda,\mu,\tau}_{\beta}) = \frac{\chi^{\Lambda}(z)}{d_{\Lambda}} \mathcal{Q}^{R,\Lambda,\mu,\tau}_{\beta}, \quad z \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L]).$$
(2.117)

We give a name to the corresponding eigenspaces

$$\mathcal{A}^{R,\Lambda}(\mu) = \operatorname{Span}\Big(\mathcal{Q}^{R,\Lambda,\mu,\tau}_{\beta} \mid \tau \in \{1,\ldots,C(R,R,\Lambda)\}, \beta \in \{1,\ldots,K_{\Lambda\mu}\}\Big).$$
(2.118)

They will be constructed in section 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The symbol  $K_{\Lambda\mu}$  counts the number of semi-standard Young tableau of shape  $\lambda$  and contents  $\mu$ . In other words, one must fill the numbers  $1 \dots M$  in the Young diagram  $\Lambda$ . If  $\ell(\Lambda) > M$  the Young tableau cannot be semi-standard.

## 2.6 General covariant basis

Recall that the multi-matrix invariants in (2.31) respect the global U(M) symmetry. The tuple  $\vec{a} = (a_1, \ldots, a_L)$  belongs to the tensor product  $V_M^{\otimes L}$ , which decomposes into

$$V_M^{\otimes L} = \bigoplus_{\substack{\Lambda \vdash L\\\ell(\Lambda) \le M}} \left( V_\Lambda^{S_L} \otimes V_\Lambda^{\mathrm{U}(M)} \right)$$
(2.119)

under the Schur-Weyl duality of  $S_L \times U(M)$  symmetry. By taking an explicit basis of states, we can rewrite it as

$$|a_1, \dots, a_L\rangle_{\mathrm{U}(M)} = \sum_{\substack{\Lambda \vdash L \\ \ell(\Lambda) \le M}} \sum_{M_\Lambda = 1}^{\mathrm{Dim}_M(\Lambda)} \sum_{K=1}^{d_\Lambda} C_{KM_\Lambda}^{\Lambda\Lambda}(\vec{a}) \left| \begin{matrix} \Lambda \\ K \end{matrix} \right| \left| \begin{matrix} \Lambda \\ M_\Lambda \end{matrix} \right|_{\mathrm{U}(M)}$$
(2.120)

where  $C_{KM_{\Lambda}}^{\Lambda\Lambda}(\vec{a})$  is the Clebsch-Gordan coefficient of  $S_L \times U(M)$ , whose properties will be explained in detail in appendix A.3. Following [12], we define the general covariant basis of operators as

$$\mathcal{O}^{R,\Lambda,M_{\Lambda},\tau} = \sum_{a_1,\dots,a_L=1}^M \sum_K C_{KM_{\Lambda}}^{\Lambda\Lambda}(\vec{a}) \operatorname{tr}_{V_N^{\otimes L}} \left( \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Q}_K^{R,\Lambda,\tau}) \mathcal{O}(\vec{a}) \right)$$
(2.121)

where  $\Lambda$  is the irreducible representation of SU(M) with its dimension equal to  $Dim_M(\Lambda)$ . The general covariant basis respects the global U(M) symmetry, and hence the name 'covariant'.

The parameters  $\mu = (\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_M)$  in (2.113) represent the U(1) charges of the Cartan generators in U(M).<sup>3</sup> If the states with different  $M_{\Lambda}$  carry the same U(1)<sup>M</sup> charges, the number of such states is counted by the Kotska number. Therefore, we can interchangeably specify a state in  $\Lambda$  by  $M_{\Lambda}$  or  $(\mu, \beta)$ . Concretely we can write

$$\left| \begin{array}{c} \Lambda \\ M_{\Lambda} \end{array} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{U}(M)} = \sum_{\substack{\mu_{1},\dots,\mu_{M} \ge 0\\ \mu_{1}+\dots+\mu_{M}=L}} \sum_{\beta=1}^{K_{\Lambda\mu}} \mathcal{B}_{M_{\Lambda}\to\beta}^{\Lambda\to(\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{M})} \left| \begin{array}{c} \Lambda \\ \mu,\beta \end{array} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{U}(M)}$$
(2.122)

where  $\mathcal{B}_{M_{\Lambda} \to \beta}^{\Lambda \to (\mu_1 \dots \mu_M)}$  is the coefficients of some unitary transformation. This equation implies

$$\operatorname{Dim}_{M}(\Lambda) = \sum_{\substack{\mu_{1}, \dots, \mu_{M} \ge 0\\ \mu_{1} + \dots + \mu_{M} = L}} K_{\Lambda\mu} \,. \tag{2.123}$$

We stress that the multiplicity space of  $U(M) \to U(1)^M$  has the same dimension as the multiplicity space of the restriction  $S_L \to S_\mu$  in (2.108),

$$\dim V_{\Lambda \to \mu}^{\mathrm{U}(M) \to \mathrm{U}(1)^M} = \dim V_{\Lambda \to ([\mu_1] \dots [\mu_M])} = K_{\Lambda \mu}$$
(2.124)

which can be explained by Schur-Weyl duality [39].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup> $^{3}$ </sup>Our U(1) charges take non-negative integer values.

By using (2.122), we can relate the original covariant basis and the general covariant basis as

$$\operatorname{Span}\left(\mathcal{O}_{\beta}^{R,\Lambda,\mu,\tau}(\vec{a}_{\mu}) \middle| \beta \in \{1,\ldots,K_{\Lambda\mu}\}\right) = \operatorname{Span}\left(\sum_{M_{\Lambda}} \mathcal{B}_{M_{\Lambda} \to \beta}^{\Lambda \to (\mu_{1}\ldots,\mu_{M})} \mathcal{O}^{R,\Lambda,M_{\Lambda},\tau} \middle| \beta \in \{1,\ldots,K_{\Lambda\mu}\}\right).$$
(2.125)

In other words, the original covariant basis is a fixed-charge projection of the general covariant basis.

# 3 Eigenvalue method for $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$

Having described the general representation theoretic structure of the restricted Schur and covariant bases of the PCA  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \cdots, \mu_M)$  we now turn our attention to concrete construction algorithms. These involve integer matrix algorithms, in particular Hermite normal forms. We will see that these constructions give finite N integer orthogonal bases (with respect to the free two-point function in  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM). Similar integer matrix methods were used in [42] to describe and construct representation theoretic subspace of algebras related to tensor invariants and Kronecker coefficients.

For concreteness, we will consider the case of  $M = 2, L = \mu_1 + \mu_2 \leq 14$  and  $\mu = (\mu_1, \mu_2)$ , but the generalisation is straightforward. In this section, we describe the mathematical aspects of the construction, while a detailed description of the code is given in appendix B. For specified  $\mu_1, \mu_2$ , the code produces as output:

- A restricted basis  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$ , labelled by Young diagrams  $R \vdash \mu_1 + \mu_2 = L, r_1 \vdash \mu_1, r_2 \vdash \mu_2$ , presented as  $g(r_1, r_2; R)^2$  linear combinations of multi-traces, where  $g(r_1, r_2; R)$  is the Littlewood-Richardson coefficient for the triple.
- A covariant basis of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$ , labelled by Young diagrams  $R \vdash L$  and  $\Lambda \vdash L$ , with  $\ell(\Lambda) \leq 2$ , presented as  $C(R, R, \Lambda)K_{\Lambda\mu}$  with  $\mu = (\mu_1, \mu_2)$  linear combinations of multitraces, where  $C(R, R, \Lambda)$  is the Kronecker coefficient (or Clebsch-Gordan multiplicity) for the triple of Young diagrams.

For N > L, these span the space of 2-matrix invariants and diagonalise the free field inner product. For N < L, the basis of 2-matrix invariants is obtained by keeping only basis states of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$  with  $\ell(R) \leq N$ . The basis states of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$  labelled by Young diagrams with  $\ell(R) > N$  span the vector space of multi-traces with  $(\mu_1, \mu_2)$  copies of the two matrices which vanish by finite N trace relations (which are also known as Mandelstam identities in the physics literature [54–56]).

The finite N relations for the 2-matrix invariants are also encoded in 2-variable partition functions, or Hilbert series, for this problem. The form of these partition functions rapidly increase in complexity as a function of N, and are explicitly available for N up to 7 in the mathematics and physics literature [57–60]. These partition functions are of interest in the thermodyamics of the 2-matrix system which captures the deconfinement property of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM with U(N) gauge group and is important in the AdS/CFT correspondence. Discussion of the thermodynamic implications of finite N relations in the context of these partition functions are available in [60–62]. The description of the basis of null states given by the code for a fixed value of L, contains information related to the finite N relations for all N < L. For L = 14, this includes N up to 13. This illustrates that the algebraic method presented here is a substantial explicit information about finite N relations in the 2-matrix system.

# 3.1 Regular representation of $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$

To decompose  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$  we will study its regular representation and a set of relevant eigenvalue systems. The regular representation of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$  is defined as follows.

Let  $g_1, \ldots, g_l \in S_L$  be a complete set of representatives, which forms an orbit basis of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$ , defined in (2.81). We apply  $\sigma \in \mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$  to  $P_{\mu_1, \mu_2}(g_i)$  from left, and expand it in the orbit basis as

$$m^{\mathfrak{L}}[\sigma](P_{\mu_1,\mu_2}(g_i)) = \sigma P_{\mu_1,\mu_2}(g_i) \equiv \sum_{j=1}^{l} m_{ji}^{\mathfrak{L}}[\sigma] P_{\mu_1,\mu_2}(g_j).$$
(3.1)

The matrix elements  $m_{ji}^{\mathfrak{L}}[\sigma]$  define the (left) regular representation of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$ . Borrowing the notation in section 2.1.1, we define the adjoint action of  $\sigma = \sum_h c_h(\sigma) h$  on the orbit basis as

$$m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[\sigma](P_{\mu_1,\mu_2}(g_i)) = \sum_{h \in S_L} c_h(\sigma) h P_{\mu_1,\mu_2}(g_i) h^{-1} \equiv \sum_j m_{ji}^{\mathfrak{ad}}[\sigma] P_{\mu_1,\mu_2}(g_j)$$
(3.2)

We can extract the matrix elements from (3.1) or (3.2) using the  $\delta$ -function as in (2.11), keeping in mind that we should sum over the conjugacy class of  $S_{\mu}$  when working with  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$ .

When  $\sigma$  is an integer linear combination of the basis elements  $P_{\mu_1,\mu_2}(g_i)$ , the corresponding representation matrices  $m_{ji}^{\mathfrak{L}}[\sigma], m_{ji}^{\mathfrak{a0}}(\sigma)$  are all integer matrices. This follows from the fact that the structure constants  $C_{ijk}$  are integers

$$P_{\mu_1,\mu_2}(g_i) P_{\mu_1,\mu_2}(g_j) = \sum_{k=1}^{l} C_{ijk} P_{\mu_1,\mu_2}(g_k)$$
(3.3)

To show that  $C_{ijk}$  are integers, we rewrite  $P_{\mu}(g_i)$  as

$$P_{\mu}(g_i) = \frac{1}{|\text{Stab}(g_i)|} \sum_{\gamma \in S_{\mu}} \gamma g_i \gamma^{-1} = \sum_{a=1}^{|\text{Orb}(g_i)|} g_{i,a}$$
(3.4)

with  $g_i = g_{i,1}$ . By using the multiplication rule of  $S_L$ , we find

$$P_{\mu}(g_i) P_{\mu}(g_j) = \sum_{a=1}^{|\operatorname{Orb}(g_i)|} \sum_{b=1}^{|\operatorname{Orb}(g_j)|} g_{i,a} g_{j,b} = \sum_{a,b} \sum_{k=1}^{l} \sum_{c=1}^{|\operatorname{Orb}(g_k)|} \delta\left(g_{i,a} g_{j,b} g_{k,c}^{-1}\right) g_{k,c} \,. \tag{3.5}$$

The sum over the  $\delta$ -functions can be written as

$$\sum_{a,b} \delta\left(g_{i,a} \, g_{j,b} \, g_{k,c}^{-1}\right) = \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Stab}(g_i)| \, |\operatorname{Stab}(g_j)|} \sum_{\gamma_i,\gamma_j \in S_{\mu}} \delta\left(\gamma_i \, g_i \, \gamma_i^{-1} \, \gamma_j \, g_j \, \gamma_j^{-1} \, g_{k,c}^{-1}\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Stab}(g_i)| \, |\operatorname{Stab}(g_j)|} \sum_{\gamma_i,\eta \in S_{\mu}} \delta\left(g_i \, \eta \, g_j \, \eta^{-1} \, \gamma_i^{-1} g_{k,c}^{-1} \gamma_i\right)$$
$$= \frac{|\operatorname{Stab}(g_k)|}{|\operatorname{Stab}(g_i)| \, |\operatorname{Stab}(g_j)|} \sum_{\eta \in S_{\mu}} \sum_c \delta\left(g_i \, \eta \, g_j \, \eta^{-1} \, g_{k,c}^{-1}\right)$$
(3.6)

with  $\eta = \gamma_i^{-1} \gamma_j$ . This equation shows that the quantity

$$C_{ijk} \equiv \sum_{a,b} \delta\left(g_{i,a} \, g_{j,b} \, g_{k,c}^{-1}\right) \tag{3.7}$$

is independent of c. The equation (3.5) simplifies as

$$P_{\mu}(g_i) P_{\mu}(g_j) = \sum_{k=1}^{l} C_{ijk} \sum_{c=1}^{|\operatorname{Orb}(g_k)|} g_{k,c} = \sum_{k=1}^{l} C_{ijk} P_{m,n}(g_k)$$
(3.8)

which is (3.3). From (3.7) we find that  $C_{ijk}$  is an integer.

## 3.2 Generating sets of central elements and integer eigenvalues

Having defined the representation matrices corresponding to left and adjoint actions, we will now formulate the eigenspaces  $\mathcal{A}^{R,r_1,r_2}(\mu_1,\mu_2)$ ,  $\mathcal{A}^{R,\Lambda}(\mu_1,\mu_2)$  defined in (2.105), (2.118) as the intersections of kernels of explicit integer matrices acting on  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1,\mu_2)$ .

Define the following elements in  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$ 

$$T_{2}^{(L)} = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le L} (ij), \qquad T_{2}^{(\mu_{1})} = \sum_{1 \le a < b \le \mu_{1}} (ab), \qquad T_{2}^{(\mu_{2})} = \sum_{\mu_{1}+1 \le p < q \le L} (pq) \qquad (3.9)$$

$$T_{3}^{(L)} = \sum_{1 \le i < j < k \le L} (ijk) + (ikj), \qquad T_{3}^{(\mu_{1})} = \sum_{1 \le a < b < c \le \mu_{1}} (abc) + (acb), \qquad T_{3}^{(\mu_{2})} = \sum_{\mu_{1}+1 \le p < q < r \le L} (pqr) + (prq).$$

We call  $T_p^{(k)}$  Casimir operators, because they are the central elements we encountered in (2.100) and (2.101),

$$T_p^{(L)} \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L]), \qquad T_p^{(\mu_1)} \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_{\mu_1}]), \qquad T_p^{(\mu_2)} \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_{\mu_2}]).$$
(3.10)

As discussed in section 2.1.2, only the generating set of Casimir operators is needed to distinguish different representations. Furthermore, the elements in (3.9) are integer combinations of the basis elements  $P_{\mu_1,\mu_2}(g_i)$  and therefore the corresponding  $m_{ji}^{\mathfrak{L}}, m_{ji}^{\mathfrak{a}}$  are integer matrices.

First, consider the case of  $\mathcal{A}^{R,r_1,r_2}(\mu_1,\mu_2)$  related to the restricted Schur basis. We will use the following shorthand notation for these eigenvalues,

$$\widehat{\chi}_{p}^{R} = \frac{\chi^{R}(T_{p}^{(L)})}{d_{R}}, \quad \widehat{\chi}_{p}^{r_{1}} = \frac{\chi^{r_{1}}(T_{p}^{(\mu_{1})})}{d_{r_{1}}}, \quad \widehat{\chi}_{p}^{r_{2}} = \frac{\chi^{r_{2}}(T_{p}^{(\mu_{2})})}{d_{r_{2}}}, \qquad p = 2,3$$
(3.11)

which are normalised characters. The normalised characters of symmetric groups are known to have integer values [63]. Now we have a collection of integer matrices with integer eigenvalues acting on (the regular representation of)  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$ . According to the discussion in section 2.1.2, these matrices and corresponding eigenvalues are sufficient, for  $\mu_1 + \mu_2 \leq 14$ , to distinguish all the subspaces  $\mathcal{A}^{R,r_1,r_2}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$  in the sense that

$$\mathcal{A}^{R,r_1,r_2}(\mu_1,\mu_2) \cong \operatorname{Ker}\left(m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_2^{(L)}] - \hat{\chi}_2^R\right) \cap \operatorname{Ker}\left(m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_3^{(L)}] - \hat{\chi}_3^R\right) \cap \operatorname{Ker}\left(m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_2^{(\mu_1)}] - \hat{\chi}_2^{r_1}\right) \cap \operatorname{Ker}\left(m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_3^{(\mu_2)}] - \hat{\chi}_3^{r_2}\right) \cap \operatorname{Ker}\left(m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_$$

where Ker(M) for a linear operator M is the subspace of vectors x satisfying Mx = 0.

For completeness, let us now describe the situation for  $\mathcal{A}^{R,\Lambda}$  related to the covariant basis, which is analogous. From (2.117) we know that the matrices  $m_{ij}^{\mathfrak{a}0}[T_2^{(L)}], m_{ij}^{\mathfrak{a}0}[T_3^{(L)}]$  have eigenvalues given by normalised characters

$$\widehat{\chi}_p^{\Lambda} = \frac{\chi^{\Lambda}(T_p^{(L)})}{d_{\Lambda}}, \quad p = 2, 3.$$
(3.13)

As before,  $\Lambda \vdash L \leq 14$  is uniquely determined by these eigenvalues and it follows that

$$\mathcal{A}^{R,\Lambda}(\mu_1,\mu_2) \cong \operatorname{Ker}\left(m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_2^{(L)}] - \widehat{\chi}_2^R\right) \cap \operatorname{Ker}\left(m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_3^{(L)}] - \widehat{\chi}_3^R\right) \cap \operatorname{Ker}\left(m^{\mathfrak{ao}}[T_2^{(L)}] - \widehat{\chi}_2^\Lambda\right) \cap \operatorname{Ker}\left(m^{\mathfrak{ao}}[T_3^{(L)}] - \widehat{\chi}_3^\Lambda\right).$$
(3.14)

## 3.3 Hermite normal forms and kernels of integer matrices

Computing the intersection of kernels of square matrices corresponds to computing the kernel of a single rectangular matrix. For example, given a pair of  $l \times l$  matrices  $M_1, M_2$  we find the intersection  $\text{Ker}(M_1) \cap \text{Ker}(M_2)$  by finding the kernel of the matrix

$$M = \begin{bmatrix} M_1 \\ M_2 \end{bmatrix}. \tag{3.15}$$

This follows since Mx = 0 if and only if  $M_1x = M_2x = 0$  and this generalises to the intersection of kernels of several matrices. Therefore, the space (3.12) corresponds to solutions to

$$\begin{bmatrix} m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_{2}^{(L)}] - \hat{\chi}_{2}^{R} \\ m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_{3}^{(L)}] - \hat{\chi}_{3}^{R} \\ m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_{2}^{(\mu_{1})}] - \hat{\chi}_{2}^{r_{1}} \\ m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_{2}^{(\mu_{1})}] - \hat{\chi}_{2}^{r_{1}} \\ m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_{2}^{(\mu_{2})}] - \hat{\chi}_{2}^{r_{2}} \\ m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_{2}^{(\mu_{2})}] - \hat{\chi}_{2}^{r_{2}} \\ m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_{3}^{(\mu_{2})}] - \hat{\chi}_{3}^{r_{2}} \end{bmatrix} x = 0$$

$$(3.16)$$

We will now give a procedure for solving this equation over the integers. In other words, for fixed  $(R, r_1, r_2)$  we will give a procedure for constructing an integer basis for the space satisfying the simultaneous equations. We will see that this can be turned into an integer orthogonal basis of two-matrix invariants related to the restricted Schur basis. The method works identically for the system of equations

$$\begin{bmatrix} m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_{2}^{(L)}] - \widehat{\chi}_{2}^{R} \\ m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_{3}^{(L)}] - \widehat{\chi}_{3}^{R} \\ m^{\mathfrak{a0}}[T_{2}^{(L)}] - \widehat{\chi}_{2}^{\Lambda} \\ m^{\mathfrak{a0}}[T_{3}^{(L)}] - \widehat{\chi}_{3}^{\Lambda} \end{bmatrix} x = 0$$
(3.17)

corresponding to (3.14), which gives an integer orthogonal basis related to the covariant basis for two-matrix invariants.

Computing an integer basis for Ker(M) uses Hermite normal forms, which are the analog of the more familiar echelon forms, adapted to integer matrix problems, as we will now describe. We now make some general remarks about Hermite normal forms. The fundamental result on Hermite normal forms is the following (see [64, Theorem 2.4.3]). Let M be an  $m \times n$  integer matrix, then there exists a unimodular  $n \times n$  matrix U — an integer matrix with  $\det(U) = \pm 1$  — such that

$$MU = H = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & h \end{bmatrix}, \tag{3.18}$$

where h is an invertible, upper triangular integer matrix and 0 represents are rectangular matrix of zeros. By upper triangular we mean  $h_{ij} = 0$  for i > j. Further conditions are put on h to make it unique, see [64, Definition 2.4.2]. The matrix H is called the Hermite normal form of M. Note that, despite H being unique, U is not unique in general. In particular, H is invariant under permutations of the zero columns; multiplication of any zero column by  $\pm 1$ ; addition of any scalar multiple of a zero column to any other column. These operations can be implemented by right multiplication with unimodular matrices V and we get

$$H = HV = MUV \equiv MU' \tag{3.19}$$

where U' = UV is another unimodular matrix giving an Hermite decomposition of  $M = H(U')^{-1}$ . A Hermite decomposition gives a basis for the kernel of an integer matrix M as follows [64, Proposition 2.4.9]. Let H = MU be a Hermite decomposition such that the first r columns of H are equal to zero

$$[\underbrace{0}_{r} h] = MU. \tag{3.20}$$

Then the first r columns of U form a basis for the kernel of M. In other words, define the vectors  $v_i^{(s)} = U_{si}$ , then

$$\operatorname{Ker}(M) = \operatorname{Span}(v^{(1)}, v^{(2)}, \dots, v^{(r)}).$$
(3.21)

The number of independent solutions r is precisely equal to the dimensions of the subalgebra, namely

$$\dim \mathcal{A}^{R,r_1,r_2}(\mu_1,\mu_2) = g(r_1,r_2;R)^2$$
(3.22)

for the restricted Schur basis and

$$\dim \mathcal{A}^{R,\Lambda}(\mu_1,\mu_2) = C(R,R,\Lambda)K_{\Lambda(\mu_1,\mu_2)}$$
(3.23)

for the covariant basis. In appendix B.2 we will explain an algorithm to compute an Hermite normal form.

# 3.4 Simple example

As a simple example to illustrate the procedure, we will consider the Schur case  $\mathcal{A}(3,0) = \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_3])$  in detail. We have a set of representatives given by the identity permutation  $g_1 = (1)(2)(3)$  and  $g_2 = (12)(3), g_3 = (123)$  with orbit basis

$$P_{3,0}(g_1) = (1)(2)(3),$$
  

$$P_{3,0}(g_2) = (12)(3) + (13)(2) + (23)(1),$$
  

$$P_{3,0}(g_3) = (123) + (132).$$
  
(3.24)

We will only need the left action of  $T_2^{(3)} = P_{3,0}(g_2)$  in this basis, it is straightforward to compute

$$T_2^{(3)}P_{3,0}(g_1) = P_{3,0}(g_2), (3.25)$$

$$T_2^{(3)}P_{3,0}(g_2) = 3P_{3,0}(g_1) + 3P_{3,0}(g_3), \tag{3.26}$$

$$T_2^{(3)}P_{3,0}(g_3) = 2P_{3,0}(g_2), (3.27)$$

and equivalently, the left action matrix in this basis is

$$m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_2^{(3)}] = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 3 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 2 \\ 0 & 3 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.28)

We will only consider the eigenspace corresponding to R = [3]. This has normalised eigenvalue  $\hat{\chi}^R(T_2^{(3)}) = 3$  and so we are looking for the kernel of the matrix

$$m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_2^{(3)}] - 3I_3 = \begin{pmatrix} -3 & 3 & 0\\ 1 & -3 & 2\\ 0 & 3 & -3 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.29)

It is easy to confirm that the vector (1, 1, 1) lies in the kernel and forms an integer basis (this is derived in appendix B.3 using an integer matrix algorithm). In the orbit basis, this corresponds to

$$P_{3,0}(g_1) + P_{3,0}(g_2) + P_{3,0}(g_3) = \sum_{g \in S_3} g$$
(3.30)

or in terms of traces

$$\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3} + 3\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2}) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{3}).$$
(3.31)

# 3.5 Orthogonality from planar to finite N

We will show that the finite N two-point functions in  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM at zero coupling are proportional to the planar two-point functions in any operator bases which are labeled by the irreducible representation R under the left/right action of the centre of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ .

The finite N free-field two-point functions in the permutation basis is given by

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_{g_1}[Z,W]\mathcal{O}_{g_2}[Z,W]^{\dagger} \rangle = \langle \mathcal{O}_{g_1}[Z,W]\mathcal{O}_{g_2^{-1}}[Z^{\dagger},W^{\dagger}] \rangle = \sum_{\gamma \in S_{\mu_1} \times S_{\mu_2}} \sum_{g_3 \in S_L} \delta(g_1 \gamma g_2^{-1} \gamma^{-1} g_3) N^{\mathcal{C}_{g_3}},$$
(3.32)

where the operators have  $\mu_1 Z$ 's and  $\mu_2 W$ 's, and  $C_g$  is the number of cycles in  $g \in S_L$ . The two-point functions vanish if  $\mathcal{O}_{g_1}[Z, W]$  and  $\mathcal{O}_{g_2}[Z, W]$  have different  $(\mu_1, \mu_2)$ 's. This defines an inner product on  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$ . Let  $\sigma_1, \sigma_2 \in \mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$ , then

$$(\sigma_1, \sigma_2)_{\text{finite }N} = \sum_{\gamma \in S_{\mu_1} \times S_{\mu_2}} \sum_{g \in S_L} \delta(\sigma_1 \gamma \mathcal{S}(\sigma_2) \gamma^{-1} g) N^{\mathcal{C}_g} = \mu_1! n! \sum_{g \in S_L} \delta(\sigma_1 \mathcal{S}(\sigma_2) g) N^{\mathcal{C}_g}, \quad (3.33)$$

where  $S(\sigma_2)$  is defined in (2.12). Clearly, this inner product is symmetric,  $(\sigma_1, \sigma_2)_{\text{finite } N} = (\sigma_2, \sigma_1)_{\text{finite } N}$ .

The planar inner product is defined by the large N limit

$$(\sigma_1, \sigma_2)_{\text{planar}} = \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N^L} (\sigma_1, \sigma_2)_{\text{finite } N} = \mu_1! \mu_2! \,\delta(\sigma_1 \mathcal{S}(\sigma_2)). \tag{3.34}$$

The planar inner product is essentially the same as the  $\delta$ -function inner product computed in (2.115). Conversely, the finite N inner product can be obtained by deforming the planar inner product

$$(\sigma_1, \sigma_2)_{\text{finite } N} = (\Omega \, \sigma_1, \sigma_2)_{\text{planar}}, \qquad (3.35)$$

where we defined  $\Omega \in \mathbb{C}[S_L]$  by

$$\Omega = \sum_{g \in S_L} N^{\mathcal{C}_g} g = L! \sum_{R \vdash L} \frac{\text{Dim}_N(R)}{d_R} P^R.$$
(3.36)

Here  $P^R$  is the projector to the representation R in (2.45), and  $\text{Dim}_N(R)$  is the U(N) dimension of the representation R as in (2.37). See [5] for the derivation of the second equality. As we will now see, orthogonalisation with respect to the planar limit is very closely related to orthogonalisation in the finite N case.

The left and adjoint actions of  $T_p \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L])$  used in (3.16), (3.17) are self-adjoint with respect to the planar as well as finite N inner products. For the left action we have

$$(T_p \sigma_1, \sigma_2)_{\text{planar}} = \mu_1! \mu_2! \,\delta(T_p \sigma_1 \mathcal{S}(\sigma_2)) = \mu_1! \mu_2! \,\delta(\sigma_1 \mathcal{S}(T_p \sigma_2)) = (\sigma_1, T_p \sigma_2)_{\text{planar}}, \quad (3.37)$$

where we have used  $T_p = \mathcal{S}(T_p)$  because every conjugacy class of  $S_L$  contains its inverse elements and  $\mathcal{S}(\sigma\tau) = \mathcal{S}(\tau)\mathcal{S}(\sigma)$  for  $\sigma, \tau \in \mathbb{C}[S_L]$ . For the adjoint action, define  $C_p$  to be the conjugacy class  $C_\rho$  with  $\rho = (p, 1^{L-p}) \vdash L$ , then we have

$$(m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[T_p](\sigma_1), \sigma_2)_{\text{planar}} = \sum_{g \in C_p} (g\sigma_1 g^{-1}, \sigma_2)_{\text{planar}} = \mu_1! \mu_2! \sum_{g \in C_p} \delta(g \, \sigma_1 g^{-1} \, \mathcal{S}(\sigma_2))$$
  
=  $\mu_1! \mu_2! \sum_{g \in C_p} \delta(\sigma_1 \, \mathcal{S}(g^{-1} \sigma_2 g)) = \mu_1! \mu_2! \sum_{g \in C_p} \delta(\sigma_1 \, \mathcal{S}(g \sigma_2 g^{-1}))$  (3.38)  
=  $(\sigma_1, m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[T_p](\sigma_2))_{\text{planar}}.$ 

In the penultimate step we used the fact that if  $g \in C_p$  then so is  $g^{-1}$  and therefore we can relabel the sum under the transformation  $g \mapsto g^{-1}$ . The proofs are similar for the finite N case.

### 3.5.1 Restricted Schur basis

Let the eigenvectors of the first equation in (3.16) be  $Q_A^{R,r_1r_2}$ , where A corresponds to the multiplicity in a fixed eigenspace of dimension  $g(r_1, r_2; R)^2$ . Explicitly, we write them as linear combinations of the restricted Schur basis

$$\mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,r_{1}r_{2}} = \sum_{\nu_{+},\nu_{-}=1}^{g(R;r_{1},r_{2})} \mathsf{N}_{A,\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}} Q_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}}$$
(3.39)

where  $N_{A,\nu_+\nu_-}^{R,r_1,r_2}$  is a numerical coefficient. With the help of (2.95), the planar inner product is given by

$$(\mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}},\mathsf{Q}_{B}^{S,s_{1},s_{2}})_{\text{planar}} = \delta^{RS}\delta^{r_{1}s_{1}}\delta^{r_{2}s_{2}} d_{r_{1}}d_{r_{2}} g_{AB}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}}, \qquad g_{AB}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}} \equiv \sum_{\nu_{+},\nu_{-}=1}^{g(R;r_{1},r_{2})}\mathsf{N}_{A,\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}} \mathsf{N}_{B,\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}}$$
(3.40)

where  $g_{AB}^{R,r_1,r_2}$  is a Gram (real symmetric) matrix of dimensions  $g(r_1, r_2; R)^2$ . Note that the inner product must vanish if  $(R, r_1, r_2) \neq (S, s_1, s_2)$ , because they label the eigenvectors of the self-adjoint operators  $(T_p^{(L)}, T_p^{(\mu_1)}, T_p^{(\mu_2)})$ .

To compute the finite N inner product, consider the deformation by  $\Omega$  in (3.35). Because  $\Omega$  is central, using (2.100) we get

$$\Omega \, \mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}} = \frac{\chi^{R}(\Omega)}{d_{R}} \, \mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}} \,. \tag{3.41}$$

The normalised character is readily computed using equation (3.36)

$$\frac{\chi^R(\Omega)}{d_R} = \frac{L!}{d_R} \sum_{S \vdash L} \frac{\operatorname{Dim}_N(S)}{d_S} \chi^R(P^S) = \frac{L!}{d_R} \sum_{S \vdash L} \frac{\operatorname{Dim}_N(S)}{d_S} d_S \,\delta^{RS} = L! \frac{\operatorname{Dim}_N(R)}{d_R}.$$
 (3.42)

Consequently,

$$(\mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}},\mathsf{Q}_{B}^{S,s_{1},s_{2}})_{\text{finite }N} = (\Omega \,\mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}},\mathsf{Q}_{B}^{S,s_{1},s_{2}})_{\text{planar}} = L! \frac{\text{Dim}_{N}(R)}{d_{R}} \,(\mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}},\mathsf{Q}_{B}^{S,s_{1},s_{2}})_{\text{planar}}$$
(3.43)

which shows that the finite N inner product is proportional to the planar inner product in the restricted Schur basis. Note that all the N-dependence is captured by the factor  $\text{Dim}_N(R)$ .

# 3.5.2 Covariant basis

Analogous statements hold for the eigenvectors of (3.17), which we denote by  $Q_A^{R,\Lambda,\mu}$  where  $A \in \{1, \ldots, C(R, R, \Lambda) K_{\Lambda\mu}\}$ . Explicitly, they are linear combinations of covariant bases elements

$$\mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,\Lambda,\mu} = \sum_{\tau=1}^{C(R,R,\Lambda)} \sum_{\beta=1}^{K_{\Lambda\mu}} \mathsf{N}_{A}^{R,\Lambda,\tau,\mu,\beta} \,\mathcal{Q}_{\beta}^{R,\Lambda,\mu,\tau} \,. \tag{3.44}$$

By using (2.115) we find that the planar inner product is given by

$$(\mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,\Lambda,\mu},\mathsf{Q}_{B}^{S,\Lambda',\mu})_{\text{planar}} = \frac{d_{R}}{|S_{L}|} \,\delta^{RS} \delta^{\Lambda\Lambda'} \,G_{AB}^{R,\Lambda,\mu}, \qquad G_{AB}^{R,\Lambda,\mu} \equiv \sum_{\tau=1}^{C(R,R,\Lambda)} \sum_{\beta=1}^{K} \mathsf{N}_{A}^{R,\Lambda,\tau,\mu,\beta} \,\mathsf{N}_{B}^{R,\Lambda,\tau,\mu,\beta}$$

$$(3.45)$$

where  $G_{AB}^{R,\Lambda,\mu}$  is a Gram matrix of dimensions  $C(R, R, \Lambda) K_{\Lambda\mu}$ . As before, the inner product vanishes if  $(R, \Lambda) \neq (S, \Lambda')$ . From (2.116)

$$\Omega \, \mathsf{Q}_A^{R,\Lambda,\mu} = \frac{\chi^R(\Omega)}{d_R} \mathsf{Q}_A^{R,\Lambda}. \tag{3.46}$$

This gives

$$(\mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,\Lambda,\mu},\mathsf{Q}_{B}^{S,\Lambda',\mu})_{\text{finite }N} = (\Omega \,\mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,\Lambda,\mu},\mathsf{Q}_{B}^{S,\Lambda',\mu})_{\text{planar}} = L! \frac{\text{Dim}_{N}(R)}{d_{R}} \,(\mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,\Lambda,\mu},\mathsf{Q}_{B}^{S,\Lambda',\mu})_{\text{planar}}.$$
(3.47)

### 3.5.3 Gram-Schmidt orthogonalisation

The orbit basis is orthogonal with respect to the planar inner product (3.34) since

$$\delta(P_{\mu_1,\mu_2}(g_i)\mathcal{S}(P_{\mu_1,\mu_2}(g_j))) = \sum_{\substack{g \in \{g_i\}_{\mu_1,\mu_2}\\h \in \{g_j\}_{\mu_1,\mu_2}}} \delta(gh^{-1}) = |\operatorname{Orb}(g_i)|\delta_{ij}.$$
(3.48)

It follows that

$$(P_{\mu_1,\mu_2}(g_i), P_{\mu_1,\mu_2}(g_j))_{\text{planar}} = \mu_1! \mu_2! |\operatorname{Orb}(g_i)| \,\delta_{ij} \,, \tag{3.49}$$

which is integer valued.

As we have seen, the integer eigenvectors  $Q_A^{R,r_1,r_2}$  or  $Q_A^{R,\Lambda,\mu}$  are not automatically orthogonal. Integer orthogonal eigenvectors are readily constructed using Gram-Schmidt orthogonalisation. We simply define

$$\widehat{\mathsf{Q}}_{1}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}} = \mathsf{Q}_{1}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}}, 
\widehat{\mathsf{Q}}_{A}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}} = \mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}} - \sum_{B=1}^{A-1} \frac{(\mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}}, \widehat{\mathsf{Q}}_{B}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}})_{\text{planar}}}{(\widehat{\mathsf{Q}}_{B}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}}, \widehat{\mathsf{Q}}_{B}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}})_{\text{planar}}} \widehat{\mathsf{Q}}_{B}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}}, \quad A \in \{2, \dots, g(r_{1},r_{2};R)^{2}\}$$
(3.50)

and it follows that

$$(\widehat{\mathsf{Q}}_{A}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}},\widehat{\mathsf{Q}}_{B}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}})_{\text{planar}} \propto \delta_{AB} \quad \Rightarrow \quad (\widehat{\mathsf{Q}}_{A}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}},\widehat{\mathsf{Q}}_{B}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}})_{\text{finite N}} \propto L! \frac{\text{Dim}_{N}(R)}{d_{R}} \delta_{AB}. \tag{3.51}$$

Similarly for the eigenvectors  $Q_A^{R,\Lambda,\mu}$ . Note that, even if  $Q_A^{R,r_1,r_2}$ ,  $Q_A^{R,\Lambda,\mu}$  are integer vectors, the orthogonalised vectors  $\widehat{Q}_A^{R,r_1,r_2}$ ,  $\widehat{Q}_A^{R,\Lambda,\mu}$  are in general rational. This is easily remedied by multiplying each basis element by an appropriate factor.

#### 3.5.4 General basis

We have discovered that the finite N inner product is proportional to the planar inner product in a basis diagonalising the left action of the centre of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ . The planar inner products are proportional to the Gram matrix,  $g_{AB}^{R,r_1,r_2}$  in (3.40) and  $G_{AB}^{R,\Lambda,\mu}$  in (3.45). If we orthogonalise the Gram matrices, for example using Gram-Schmidt (3.50), we obtain orthogonal finite N bases.

In both (3.43) and (3.47), the proportionality constant only depends on the label  $R \vdash L$ . Let  $\mathbf{Q}_{\alpha}^{R} \in \mathcal{A}(\mu_{1}, \mu_{2})$  be solutions to the eigenvalue equations only for the left action of  $T_{p}^{(L)}$ . Written explicitly, they are

$$\mathsf{Q}_{\alpha}^{R} = \sum_{\substack{r_{1} \vdash \mu_{1} \\ r_{2} \vdash \mu_{2}}} \sum_{A=1}^{g(R;r_{1},r_{2})^{2}} \mathsf{M}_{\alpha A}^{r_{1}r_{2}} \, \mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,r_{1}r_{2}} = \sum_{\substack{\Lambda \vdash L \\ \ell(\Lambda) \leq 2}} \sum_{A=1}^{C(R,R,\Lambda)K_{\Lambda\mu}} \mathsf{M}_{\alpha A}^{\Lambda} \, \mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,\Lambda,\mu}$$
(3.52)

for some numerical constants  $\mathsf{M}_{\alpha A}^{r_1 r_2}$  and  $\mathsf{M}_{\alpha A}^{\Lambda}$ . If we define the Gram matrix  $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha \beta}^R$  by

$$(\mathbf{Q}^{R}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{Q}^{S}_{\beta})_{\text{planar}} = \delta^{RS} \mathcal{G}^{R}_{\alpha\beta}$$
(3.53)

from arguments similar to those above we find

$$(\mathsf{Q}_{\alpha}^{R},\mathsf{Q}_{\beta}^{S})_{\text{finite }N} = L! \frac{\text{Dim}_{N}(R)}{d_{R}} (\mathsf{Q}_{\alpha}^{R},\mathsf{Q}_{\beta}^{S})_{\text{planar}}.$$
(3.54)

Now the dimensions of the Gram matrix  $\mathcal{G}^{R}_{\alpha\beta}$  is

$$\sum_{\substack{\Lambda \vdash L \\ \ell(\Lambda) \le 2}} C(R, R, \Lambda) K_{\Lambda \mu} = \sum_{\substack{r_1 \vdash \mu_1 \\ r_2 \vdash \mu_2}} g(r_1, r_2; R)^2.$$
(3.55)

Orthogonalising  $\mathcal{G}^{R}_{\alpha\beta}$  gives a finite N orthogonal basis, which is a linear combination of the restricted Schur or covariant basis.

# 4 Eigenvalue method for $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$

In section 3 we developed eigenvalue systems for  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$  which give bases of multi-matrix invariants related to the restricted Schur and covariant bases. Similarly, in this section we develop two eigensystems for  $\mathcal{A}(1, \ldots, 1) = \mathbb{C}[S_L]$ . The first one gives the Artin-Wedderburn decomposition, and the second gives the Kronecker decomposition of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ .

### 4.1 Decomposition of the regular representation

We will construct and diagonalise a set of mutually commuting Hermitian operators in order to decompose the regular representation of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  denoted by  $\mathcal{V}_{reg}$ . A set of commuting operators

$$\{m^{X}[O_{1}],\ldots,m^{X}[O_{\Omega}]\} \in \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{V}_{\operatorname{reg}}), \qquad X \in \{\mathfrak{L},\mathfrak{R},\mathfrak{ad}\}$$
(4.1)

is called complete if their eigenvalues specify a unique vector in  $\mathcal{V}_{reg}$  up to normalisation. That is, for

$$\sum_{j=1}^{L!} m_{ij}^X[O_w](\alpha_j) = \lambda_w^{(\alpha)} \alpha_i$$
(4.2)

and any pair of eigenstates  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{V}_{reg}$ 

$$\alpha \neq \beta \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \{\lambda_1^{(\alpha)}, \dots, \lambda_{\Omega}^{(\alpha)}\} \neq \{\lambda_1^{(\beta)}, \dots, \lambda_{\Omega}^{(\beta)}\}.$$

$$(4.3)$$

We are interested in finding a set of commuting operators  $\{m^X[O_1], \ldots, m^X[O_\Omega]\}$  whose eigenstates correspond to the two decompositions of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  discussed in section 2.2. These decompositions allow us to construct orthogonal bases of operators of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM for the case of  $\mathcal{A}(1, \ldots, 1) = \mathbb{C}[S_L]$ . This is a good starting point for considering the general case of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$ .

One natural choice of the commuting operators comes from  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  itself. The elements

$$\mathcal{J}_1 = 0, \qquad \mathcal{J}_k = \sum_{i=1}^{k-1} (i,k), \qquad (k = 2, 3, \dots, L)$$
 (4.4)

are known as Young-Jucys-Murphy elements [65, 66] They generate a maximal commuting subalgebra,<sup>4</sup> denoted  $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{C}[S_L])$ , of the full group algebra and  $\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L])$  is a subalgebra

 $\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L]) \subset \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{C}[S_L]) \subset \mathbb{C}[S_L].$  (4.5)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>This subalgebra is called Gelfand-Tsetlin algebra in [67].

They satisfy  $[\mathcal{J}_k, \mathcal{J}_\ell] = 0$  for any  $k, \ell$  [65, 66] and the following relation with  $s_k = (k, k + 1) \in S_L$ 

$$s_k \mathcal{J}_{k+1} = \mathcal{J}_k s_k + 1. \tag{4.6}$$

In the regular representation, every element of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  corresponds to an element of  $\mathrm{End}(\mathcal{V}_{\mathrm{reg}})$ and the YJM elements correspond to a complete set of commuting matrices.

The YJM elements are not central in general, but power symmetric polynomials

$$\sum_{k=1}^{L} \mathcal{J}_k, \quad \sum_{k=1}^{L} \mathcal{J}_k^2, \dots$$
(4.7)

are related to central elements by [65, 68, 69]

$$T_2 = \sum_{i < j}^{L} (i, j) \qquad \qquad = \sum_{k}^{L} \mathcal{J}_k \qquad (4.8)$$

$$T_3 = \sum_{i < j < k}^{L} \left\{ (i, j, k) + (j, i, k) \right\} = \sum_{k}^{L} \mathcal{J}_k^2 - \frac{L(L-1)}{2}, \qquad (L \ge 3).$$
(4.9)

Because the YJM elements generate a maximal commuting subalgebra, the eigenvalues of the corresponding matrices uniquely specify a standard Young tableau. More precisely, the left or right eigenvalue of  $\mathcal{J}_k$  is equal to the content of the box k inside the Young tableau I of shape R,

$$\mathcal{J}_k \left| \begin{matrix} R \\ I \end{matrix} \right\rangle = \operatorname{Cont}_I^R(k) \left| \begin{matrix} R \\ I \end{matrix} \right\rangle \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad D_{JI}^R(\mathcal{J}_k) = \delta_{JI} \operatorname{Cont}_I^R(k) \tag{4.10}$$

where the content function Cont assigns (x - y) for the box k found at the x-th column and the y-th row,

One can also show that the adjoint actions of  $\mathcal{J}_k$  have the same eigenvalues as in the left or right actions by using (4.6).<sup>5</sup>

The relations (4.8) and (4.9) make it clear that the eigenbasis  $\{ \begin{pmatrix} R \\ I \end{pmatrix} \}$  in (4.10) diagonalises the central elements  $T_p$ , and their eigenvalues depend only on the Young diagram R. Furthermore, it was shown that this eigenbasis coincides with the Young seminormal representation by computing the action of  $s_k$  [66, 67]. To obtain the Young-Yamanouchi orthonormal representation, which is real and unitary, we need to rescale the basis elements of  $\{ \begin{pmatrix} R \\ I \end{pmatrix} \}$  in the Young seminormal representation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>See the argument in [70].

#### 4.2 Eigenvalue system for the Artin-Wedderburn decomposition

Recall that the Artin-Wedderburn decomposition of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  gives the matrix unit denoted by  $Q_{IJ}^R$ . The matrix unit satisfies the relation

$$Q_{IJ}^R Q_{KL}^S = \delta^{RS} \,\delta_{JK} \,Q_{IL}^R \,. \tag{4.12}$$

As shown in (2.53) and (2.54), the left and right actions of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  on the matrix unit can be written as the multiplication of the irreducible representation matrix. Let us identify the subscripts of  $Q_{IJ}^R$  as a basis of Young seminormal representations. If we apply the YJM elements from left and right, we obtain

$$\mathcal{J}_{k} Q_{IJ}^{R} = \sum_{K} D_{KI}^{R}(\mathcal{J}_{k}) Q_{KJ}^{R} = \operatorname{Cont}_{I}^{R}(k) Q_{IJ}^{R}$$

$$Q_{IJ}^{R} \mathcal{J}_{\ell} = \sum_{K} Q_{IK}^{R} D_{JK}^{R}(\mathcal{J}_{\ell}) = \operatorname{Cont}_{J}^{R}(k) Q_{IK}^{R}$$
(4.13)

where we used (4.10).

The matrix unit  $Q_{IJ}^R$  satisfies the following set of eigenvalue system,

$$T_p Q_{IJ}^R = Q_{IJ}^R T_p = \frac{\chi^R(T_p)}{d_R} Q_{IJ}^R$$

$$\mathcal{J}_k Q_{IJ}^R = \operatorname{Cont}_I^R(k) Q_{IJ}^R$$

$$Q_{IJ}^R \mathcal{J}_k = \operatorname{Cont}_J^R(k) Q_{IJ}^R.$$
(4.14)

Conversely, we can reconstruct the matrix unit by solving this eigensystem up to an overall normalisation, which is fixed by (4.12). Since the matrix unit should be expanded as

$$Q_{IJ}^{R} = \frac{d_{R}}{|S_{L}|} \sum_{g \in S_{L}} D_{JI}^{R}(g) g^{-1}$$
(4.15)

we can also reconstruct the matrix of the Young seminormal representations  $D_{JI}^R(g)$  by reading off the coefficients in (4.15).

We have seen that a complete basis of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  is given by the matrix units  $\{Q_{IJ}^R\}$ , and the matrix units can be reconstructed as the solution of the eigensystem (4.14). This means that the following permutations

$$\left\{m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_p] = m^{\mathfrak{R}}[T_p], m^{\mathfrak{L}}[\mathcal{J}_k], m^{\mathfrak{R}}[\mathcal{J}_k] \middle| p \vdash L, k \in \{2, 3, \dots, L\}\right\}$$
(4.16)

form a complete set of commuting operators in  $\operatorname{End}(\mathcal{V}_{\operatorname{reg}})$ .

Here are some remarks. The eigenvalue method for modules was first developed by Murphy [66] for constructing the Young seminormal representation, which was further refined in [67]. We extended this method to construct complete bases of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ , corresponding to Artin-Wedderburn and Kronecker decompositions.

The matrix units  $Q_{IJ}^R$  is called the Young seminormal units, when the subscripts I, J diagonalise the action of YJM elements.<sup>6</sup> The Young seminormal units can also be constructed

<sup>6</sup>In this sense, the Young seminormal units can be written as  $Q_{IJ}^R = \begin{pmatrix} R \\ I \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} R \\ J \end{pmatrix}$ , which automatically satisfy (4.12).

by a recursive method in [71]. However, the recursive method is not as efficient as our eigenvalue method, because it takes a long time to execute the iterative steps.

The efficiency of our algorithm comes from the fact that we only need the minimal generating set of the centre instead of  $T_p$  for all p in (4.16). This should be contrasted with Murphy's approach where he used to distinguish all basis elements of irreducible representations.

# 4.3 Eigenvalue system for the Kronecker decomposition

The Kronecker basis  $\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}$  satisfies the following set of eigenvalue system,

$$T_{p} \mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau} = \mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau} T_{p} = \frac{\chi^{R}(T_{p})}{d_{R}} \mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}$$

$$m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[T_{q}](\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}) = \frac{\chi^{\Lambda}(T_{1})}{d_{\Lambda}} \mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}$$

$$m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[\mathcal{J}_{k}](\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}) = \operatorname{Cont}_{K}^{\Lambda}(k) \mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}$$
(4.17)

where the last equation follows from (2.63) and (4.10).

Conversely, we take a solution of the eigenvalue system (4.17). We fix the overall normalisation, which is fixed by the  $\delta$ -function inner product (2.69). For each  $R, \Lambda$ ), the dimension of the solution space should be equal to  $C(R, R, \Lambda)$ . We take a real orthogonal basis with respect to the inner product, and use  $\tau$  to label its components. In this way, we can reconstruct the Kronecker basis. Since the Kronecker basis should be expanded as

$$\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau} = \frac{d_{R}}{|S_{L}|} \sum_{g \in S_{L}} \sum_{I,J=1}^{d_{R}} S^{\tau}{}_{KI}{}_{J}{}^{R}D_{JI}^{R}(g) g^{-1} = \sum_{I,J=1}^{d_{R}} S^{\tau}{}_{KI}{}_{J}{}^{R}Q_{IJ}^{R}$$
(4.18)

we can determine the Clebsch-Gordan coefficients as

$$S^{\tau \Lambda RR}_{KIJ} = \delta \Big( \mathcal{S}(Q^R_{IJ}) \, \mathcal{Q}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}_{K} \Big). \tag{4.19}$$

Related to this is the fact that in general the set

$$\left\{m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_p] = m^{\mathfrak{R}}[T_p], m^{\mathfrak{a0}}[T_q], m^{\mathfrak{a0}}[\mathcal{J}_k] \middle| p \vdash L, q \vdash L, k \in \{2, 3, \dots, L\}\right\}$$
(4.20)

forms an *incomplete* set of commuting operators in End ( $\mathcal{V}_{reg}$ ) due to the extra multiplicity label  $\tau$ .

# 5 Integer eigenvalue system for general rational finite groups

It is known that characters and normalised characters of finite groups are algebraic integers [51, chapter 6.5]. A finite group G is called rational if all irreducible representations have rationalvalued characters. Since rational algebraic integers are ordinary integers, it follows that rational groups have integer characters and integer normalised characters. In this section, we will generalise the above integer constructions to any pair of rational groups (G, H) where His a subgroup of G and can be used to define a corresponding centraliser algebra

$$\mathbb{C}[G]^{H} = \{ \sigma \in \mathbb{C}[G] : h\sigma = \sigma h \quad \forall h \in H \}.$$
(5.1)

We will start the presentation with a discussion of general pairs (G, H) of group and subgroup, and subsequently specialise to the case where these are both rational groups.

## 5.1 Two decompositions of $\mathbb{C}[G]$

The Artin-Wedderburn decomposition holds for general group algebras (see [51, chapter 6.2] or [41, chapter 3–17]). Let  $\operatorname{Rep}(G)$  be a complete set of unitary irreducible representations of G and for every  $R \in \operatorname{Rep}(G)$  let  $d_R$  be the dimension. The elements

$$Q_{IJ}^{R} = \frac{d_{R}}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} D_{JI}^{R}(g^{-1})g, \quad R \in \operatorname{Rep}(G), \ I, J \in \{1, \dots, d_{R}\}$$
(5.2)

form a basis of matrix units of  $\mathbb{C}[G]$ . As before, we have

$$g_1 Q_{IJ}^R = \sum_{K=1}^{d_R} D_{KI}^R(g_1) Q_{KJ}^R, \qquad Q_{IJ}^R g_2^{-1} = \sum_{K=1}^{d_R} D_{JK}^R(g_2^{-1}) Q_{IK}^R = \sum_{K=1}^{d_R} D_{KJ}^{\overline{R}}(g_2) Q_{IK}^R.$$
(5.3)

where we have used unitarity in the last line of the second equation and  $\overline{R}$  is the complex conjugate representation of R. Therefore, as a representation of  $G \times G$ ,

$$\mathbb{C}[G] \cong \bigoplus_{R \in \operatorname{Rep}(G)} V_R^G \otimes \overline{V}_R^G.$$
(5.4)

This implies the famous counting formula

$$|G| = \sum_{R \in \operatorname{Rep}(G)} d_R^2.$$
(5.5)

Restricting  $G \times G$  to the diagonal subgroup of elements  $(g_1, g_2) = (g, g)$  and decomposing into irreducible representations of this diagonal subgroup gives the Kronecker decomposition of  $\mathbb{C}[G]$ , generalising our discussion for  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ . As a representation of the diagonal subgroup we have

$$V_R^G \otimes \overline{V}_R^G \cong \bigoplus_{\Lambda \in \operatorname{Rep}(G)} V_\Lambda^G \otimes V_{R,\overline{R},\Lambda},$$
(5.6)

where the multiplicity space

$$V_{R,\overline{R},\Lambda} = \operatorname{Hom}_{G}(V_{\Lambda}^{G}, V_{R}^{G} \otimes \overline{V}_{R}^{G}), \quad \dim V_{R,R,\Lambda} = C(R, \overline{R}, \Lambda)$$
(5.7)

has dimension given by Clebsch-Gordan multiplicities. Therefore, we get

$$\mathbb{C}[G] \cong \bigoplus_{R,\Lambda \in \operatorname{Rep}(G)} V_{\Lambda}^G \otimes V_{R,\overline{R},\Lambda}$$
(5.8)

which implies the counting formula

$$|G| = \sum_{R,\Lambda \in \operatorname{Rep}(G)} d_{\Lambda} C(R, \overline{R}, \Lambda).$$
(5.9)

The corresponding basis has the form

$$\mathbb{C}[G] = \operatorname{Span}(\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau} | R, \Lambda \in \operatorname{Rep}(G), K \in \{1, \dots, d_{\Lambda}\}, \tau \in \{1, \dots, C(R, R, \Lambda))\}.$$
 (5.10)

The centre of a general group algebra  $\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[G])$  has a basis labelled by conjugacy classes. Let CL(G) be the set of conjugacy classes of G and for every  $C \in CL(G)$  define

$$T_C = \sum_{g \in C} g \,. \tag{5.11}$$

The elements form a basis for the centre

$$\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[G]) = \operatorname{Span}\Big(T_C \,\Big| \, C \in CL(G)\Big).$$
(5.12)

The matrix units diagonalise the left/right action of the centre

$$m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_C](Q_{IJ}^R) = \frac{\chi^R(T_C)}{d_R} Q_{IJ}^R, \qquad (5.13)$$

and the "Kronecker basis", in addition, diagonalises the adjoint action of the centre,

$$m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[T_C](\mathcal{Q}_K^{R,\Lambda,\tau}) = \frac{\chi^{\Lambda}(T_C)}{d_{\Lambda}} \mathcal{Q}_K^{R,\Lambda,\tau}.$$
(5.14)

As previously mentioned, the above eigenvalues are integers for all rational groups G.

## 5.2 Two decompositions of $\mathbb{C}[G]^H$

The construction of orbit bases of  $\mathbb{C}[G]^H$  is completely analogous to  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$  and follows by replacing

 $S_L \to G, \qquad S_\mu \to H, \qquad \mathcal{A}(\mu) \to \mathbb{C}[G]^H$  (5.15)

where H is any subgroup of G. An orbit basis of  $\mathbb{C}[G]^H$  is defined by

$$P_H(g_i) = \frac{1}{|\text{Stab}(g_i)|} \sum_{h \in H} h g_i h^{-1}$$
(5.16)

for a selection of orbit representatives  $\{g_i\}$ , as in section 2.3. The matrix elements of the left action are defined by

$$\sum_{J=1}^{l} m_{ji}^{\mathfrak{L}}[\sigma] P_H(g_j) = m^{\mathfrak{L}}[\sigma](P_H(g_i)) = \sigma P_H(g_i)$$
(5.17)

as in section 3.1.  $\sigma$  is an integer linear combination of the basis elements  $P_H(g_i)$ , the corresponding representation matrices  $m_{ji}^{\mathfrak{L}}[\sigma], m_{ji}^{\mathfrak{a}\mathfrak{d}}[\sigma]$  are all integer matrices.

#### 5.2.1 Restriction basis

Restricting G to H gives a decomposition of  $V_R^G$  into irreducible representations  $V_r^H$  of H,

$$V_R^G \cong \bigoplus_{r \in \operatorname{Rep}(H)} V_r^H \otimes V_{R \to r}$$
(5.18)

where  $V_{R \to r} = \operatorname{Hom}_{H}(V_{r}, V_{R})$  is the multiplicity space of dimension

$$\dim V_{R \to r} \equiv g(r; R). \tag{5.19}$$

This restriction defines a set of branching coefficients

$$B_{I \to i,\nu}^{R \to r}, \quad I \in \{1, \dots, d_R\} \quad i \in \{1, \dots, d_r\}, \quad \nu \in \{1, \dots, g(r; R)\}.$$
(5.20)

Let us apply the restriction (5.18) to the Artin-Wedderburn decomposition of  $\mathbb{C}[G]$ in (5.4). We obtain a Artin-Wedderburn decomposition of  $\mathbb{C}[G]^H$ 

$$\mathbb{C}[G]^{H} \cong \bigoplus_{\substack{R \in \operatorname{Rep}(G) \\ r \in \operatorname{Rep}(H)}} V_{R \to r} \otimes \overline{V}_{R \to r}$$
(5.21)

which implies

$$\dim \mathbb{C}[G]^H = \sum_{\substack{R \in \operatorname{Rep}(G) \\ r \in \operatorname{Rep}(H)}} g(r; R)^2.$$
(5.22)

Following the construction of the restricted Schur basis, we combine the matrix units of  $\mathbb{C}[G]$ and branching coefficients to define a set of elements

$$Q_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,r} = \sum_{I,J} \sum_{i} B_{I\to i,\nu_{-}}^{R\to r} Q_{IJ}^{R} B_{J\to i,\nu_{+}}^{\overline{R}\to\overline{r}}.$$
(5.23)

These elements satisfy

$$h Q_{\nu_+\nu_-}^{R,r} = Q_{\nu_+\nu_-}^{R,r} h, \quad \forall h \in H.$$
 (5.24)

It is known that the centre of a centraliser algebra  $\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[G]^H)$  is generated by  $\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[G])$ together with  $\mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[H])$  [72]. Let  $C \in CL(G)$  and  $d \in CL(H)$ , then we have the eigensystems

$$m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_C](Q_{\nu_+\nu_-}^{R,r}) = \frac{\chi^R(T_C)}{d_R} Q_{\nu_+\nu_-}^{R,r}$$

$$m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_d](Q_{\nu_+\nu_-}^{R,r}) = \frac{\chi^r(T_d)}{d_r} Q_{\nu_+\nu_-}^{R,r}.$$
(5.25)

#### 5.2.2 *H*-invariant Kronecker basis

As before, we can start from the "Kronecker basis" of  $\mathbb{C}[G]$  to find a basis for  $\mathbb{C}[G]^H$ . Here, we restrict to the diagonal subgroup of elements  $(h,h) \in H \subset G \times G$ . Under this restriction, we have decompositions

$$V_{\Lambda}^{G} \cong \bigoplus_{r \in \operatorname{Rep}(H)} V_{r}^{H} \otimes V_{\Lambda \to r}.$$
(5.26)

In particular, we are interested in the trivial representation  $r_0$  of H appearing in this decomposition since

$$\mathbb{C}[G]^{H} \cong \bigoplus_{R,\Lambda \in \operatorname{Rep}(G)} V_{R,\overline{R},\Lambda} \otimes V_{\Lambda \to r_{0}}.$$
(5.27)

This corresponds to a basis of elements

$$\mathcal{Q}^{R,\Lambda,H,\tau}_{\beta}, \quad H \subset G, \quad \tau \in \{1,\ldots,C(R,\overline{R},\Lambda)\}, \quad \beta \in \{1,\ldots,g(r_0;\Lambda)\}$$
(5.28)

and gives the equality

$$\dim \mathbb{C}[G]^H = \sum_{R,\Lambda \in \operatorname{Rep}(G)} C(R,\overline{R},\Lambda) g(r_0;\Lambda) = \sum_{\substack{R \in \operatorname{Rep}(G)\\r \in \operatorname{Rep}(H)}} g(r;R)^2.$$
(5.29)

#### 5.3 Integer orthogonal bases for rational groups

We now restrict to G, H rational groups with  $H \subset G$ . As mentioned before, normalised characters of rational groups are integers and the central elements (5.11) are integer combinations of orbit basis elements. Therefore, the matrices  $m_{ji}^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_C], m_{ji}^{\mathfrak{ad}}[T_C]$  are integer matrices with integer eigenvalues. Following section 3 we obtain the integer eigenvalue system

$$(\mathbb{C}[G]^{H})^{R,r} \cong \bigcap_{C,d} \left\{ \operatorname{Ker}\left( m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_{C}] - \widehat{\chi}_{C}^{R} \right) \cap \operatorname{Ker}\left( m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_{d}] - \widehat{\chi}_{C}^{r} \right) \right\}$$
(5.30)

and

$$(\mathbb{C}[G]^{H})^{R,\Lambda} \cong \bigcap_{C,C'} \left\{ \operatorname{Ker}\left( m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_{C}] - \widehat{\chi}^{R}_{C} \right) \cap \operatorname{Ker}\left( m^{\mathfrak{a0}}[T_{C'}] - \widehat{\chi}^{\Lambda}_{C'} \right) \right\}.$$
(5.31)

It suffices to use a subset of conjugacy classes C, C' in CL(G) with the property that their normalised characters uniquely identify the irreducible representations  $\operatorname{Rep}(G)$ . Similarly it suffices to use a subset of conjugacy classes  $d \in CL(H)$  which uniquely identify the irreducible representations in  $\operatorname{Rep}(H)$ . The integer eigenvectors can be found following the discussion in section 3.3. Because all characters are rational,  $T_C = \mathcal{S}(T_C)$  and it follows that the operators  $m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_C], m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_d], m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[T_C], m^{\mathfrak{ad}}[T_d]$  are self-adjoint with respect to the  $\delta$ -function inner product. This argument is identical to the proof in equation (3.37). Therefore the eigenvectors corresponding to different eigenvalues are orthogonal.

#### 6 Conclusions

In this paper we developed the theory of multi-matrix invariants and constructions of bases of operators in  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM through their connection to permutation centraliser algebras  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$ , which generalise the symmetric group algebras  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ . We discussed two decompositions of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ , the Artin-Wedderburn and Kronecker decompositions, and reviewed the correspondence between elements of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$  and multi-matrix invariants in section 2.3. Two orthogonal bases of multi-matrix invariants were well-studied in the literature, the restricted Schur and covariant bases. The restricted Schur basis decomposes  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$  into a direct sum of subspaces  $\mathcal{A}^{R,r_1,\ldots,r_M}(\mu)$ , while the covariant basis gives a direct sum of subspaces  $\mathcal{A}^{R,\Lambda}(\mu)$ . Section 2.4 explained how the restricted Schur basis (2.91) can be understood as descending from the Artin-Wedderburn decomposition of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ . Analogously, section 2.5 explained how the covariant basis (2.111) comes from the Kronecker decomposition. In section 3, we derived an efficient algorithm for constructing finite N orthogonal bases of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM operators which are integer linear combinatons of multi-traces. We set up integer eigensystems whose solutions give a basis for  $\mathcal{A}^{R,r_1,r_2}(\mu)$  and  $\mathcal{A}^{R,\Lambda}(\mu)$ , which are realised as eigenspaces. The eigenspaces  $\mathcal{A}^{R,r_1,r_2}(\mu)$  have dimensions equal to  $g(r_1,r_2;R)^2$ , while the eigenspaces  $\mathcal{A}^{R,\Lambda}(\mu)$  have dimensions equal to  $C(R,R,\Lambda)K_{\Lambda\mu}$ . It was emphasised that these equations, summarised in (3.16), (3.17), can be solved by finding kernels of integer matrices using Hermite normal forms. In section 4, we considered generalised eigenvalue systems derived from the Artin-Wedderburn and Kronecker decompositions of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ . In the case of the Artin-Wedderburn decomposition, we constructed the matrix units of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$  in the Young seminormal representation. For the case of the Kronecker decomposition, we obtained the

Kronecker basis and associated Clebsch-Gordan coefficients. The implementation in SageMath is explained in appendix B, and many examples are given in appendices C and D.

The integer orthogonal bases up to L = 10 can be easily determined by running our code in a laptop, and our code is attached to this paper as supplementary material. The code needs minor modification beyond L = 14 because more Casimir operators  $T_4, T_5, \ldots$  should be added to the eigensystem from the discussion of  $k_*$  in section (2.1.2).

It is an open problem to systematically determine the multiplicity indices,  $\nu_{\mp}$  in (2.105) and  $\tau, \beta$  in (2.118). Resolving  $\nu_{\mp}$  involves finding a subset of elements in  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$  that generate a maximal commutative subalgebra of  $\mathcal{A}(\mu)$ . It is interesting that the  $\tau$  multiplicity in the covariant basis has already appeared in the Kronecker decomposition of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ . This Clebsch-Gordan multiplicity should be explained from the structural properties of another PCA called  $\mathcal{K}(n)$ , which has appeared in the study of tensor models. The multiplicity problem can be addressed by developing results in [21, 27, 73, 74]. It is straightforward to generalise our algorithm to *M*-matrix models with M > 2. We will consider these problems in more detail in upcoming work [75].

The representation theoretic approach we have used in this paper provides a comprehensive characterization of the trace relations for finite N by imposing the constraint  $\ell(R) \leq N$  for a Young diagram label R. We have focused on the two-matrix problem here, but the approach also works with multiple fields [9, 12, 48]. An interesting avenue to explore is the application of this systematic description of finite N relations in the context of the construction of  $\frac{1}{16}$ -BPS operators (for related comments and steps in this direction see [76–78]).

### Acknowledgments

We thank Gernot Akemann, Joseph Ben Geloun, Robert de Mello Koch and Ming Fang for discussions. SR is supported by the Science and Technology Facilities Council (STFC) Consolidated Grant ST/T000686/1 "Amplitudes, strings and duality" and a Visiting Professorship at Dublin Institute for Advanced Studies. The work of RS is supported by NSFC grant no. 12050410255. The work of AP was partly funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) grant SFB 1283/2 2021 E317210226.

### A Notation

In this appendix we define the notation used for branching coefficients and Clebsch-Gordan coefficients for  $S_L$  and U(M). They are used to define the decompositions in sections 2.2.2, 2.5, 2.4 and 2.6.

### A.1 Branching coefficients

We review branching coefficients for  $S_L$  to its subgroup, which are used to define the restricted Schur basis in section 2.4 and the covariant basis in section 2.5. A Young subgroup of  $S_L$ is defined by a list of positive integers  $\mu = (\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_M)$  such that

$$\sum_{k}^{M} \mu_k = L. \tag{A.1}$$

The Young subgroup corresponding to  $\mu$  is defined as

$$S_{\mu} = S_{\mu_1} \times S_{\mu_2} \times \dots \times S_{\mu_M} \subseteq S_L \tag{A.2}$$

Suppose that the restriction of the irreducible representation R under  $S_{\mu} \subset S_L$  decomposes into the direct sum of  $(r_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes r_M)$ , where  $r_k \vdash \mu_k$  for  $k = 1, \ldots, M$ . The basis of states in R decomposes as

$$\binom{R}{I} = \sum_{r_1 \vdash \mu_1} \cdots \sum_{r_M \vdash \mu_M} \sum_{\nu=1}^{g(r_1, \dots, r_M; R)} \sum_{i_1=1}^{d_{r_1}} \cdots \sum_{i_M=1}^{d_{r_M}} B_{I \to (i_1 \dots i_M), \nu}^{R \to (r_1 \dots r_M)} \left| \begin{array}{c} r_1 \dots r_M \\ i_1 \dots i_M \end{array} \right| \nu \right\rangle$$
(A.3)

where  $B_{I \to (i_1 \dots i_M), \nu}^{R \to (r_1 \dots r_M)}$  is called the branching coefficient and  $\nu$  is called the multiplicity label. The symbol  $g(R; r_1, \dots, r_M)$  is the Littlewood-Richardson coefficient defined by

$$g(r_1, \dots, r_M; R) = \frac{1}{|S_{\mu}|} \sum_{\alpha_1 \in S_{\mu_1}} \dots \sum_{\alpha_M \in S_{\mu_M}} \chi^R(\alpha_1 \otimes \dots \otimes \alpha_M) \prod_{k=1}^M \chi^{r_k}(\alpha_k).$$
(A.4)

We introduce the standard inner product in the restricted basis,

$$\left\langle \begin{array}{c} r_1 \dots r_M \\ i_1 \dots i_M \end{array} \nu \left| \begin{array}{c} s_1 \dots s_M \\ j_1 \dots j_M \end{array} \xi \right\rangle = \delta_{\nu\xi} \Big( \prod_{k=1}^M \delta^{r_k s_k} \delta_{i_k j_k} \Big), \qquad (i_k, j_k \in \{1, \dots, d_{r_k}\}).$$
(A.5)

The original basis and the restricted basis have the same dimensions,

$$d_R = \sum_{r_1 \vdash \mu_1} \cdots \sum_{r_M \vdash \mu_M} \left( g(r_1, \dots, r_M; R) \prod_{k=1}^M d_{r_k} \right)$$
(A.6)

which is consistent with (2.88). This shows that the transformation (A.3) relates two complete orthonormal bases, and therefore unitary. Because  $S_L$  and  $S_{\mu}$  are real groups, we can choose the branching coefficients to be real, giving

$$B_{I \to (i_1 \dots i_M), \nu}^{R \to (r_1 \dots r_M)} = \left\langle \begin{matrix} r_1 \dots r_M \\ i_1 \dots i_M \end{matrix} \nu \middle| \begin{matrix} R \\ I \end{matrix} \right\rangle = \left\langle \begin{matrix} R \\ I \end{matrix} \middle| \begin{matrix} r_1 \dots r_M \\ i_1 \dots i_M \end{matrix} \nu \right\rangle.$$
(A.7)

The inverse transformation of (A.3) is<sup>7</sup>

$$\begin{vmatrix} r_1 \dots r_M \\ i_1 \dots i_M \end{matrix} \nu \Biggr\rangle = \sum_{I=1}^{d_R} B_{I \to (i_1 \dots i_M), \nu}^{R \to (r_1 \dots r_M)} \begin{vmatrix} R \\ I \end{vmatrix}.$$
(A.8)

The restricted basis (A.3) forms an irreducible representation of  $S_{\mu}$  for each multiplicity label  $\nu$ . As such, a generic element  $h \equiv h_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes h_M \in S_{\mu}$  acts diagonally on the multiplicity space as

$$h \left| \substack{r_1 \dots r_M \\ i_1 \dots i_M} \nu \right\rangle = \sum_{j_1=1}^{d_{r_1}} \dots \sum_{j_M=1}^{d_{r_M}} D_{j_1 i_1}^{r_1}(h_1) \dots D_{j_M i_M}^{r_M}(h_M) \left| \substack{r_1 \dots r_M \\ j_1 \dots j_M} \nu \right\rangle.$$
(A.9)

<sup>7</sup>Note that the restricted basis depends on R through the multiplicity label,  $\nu \in \{1, \ldots, g(r_1 \ldots r_M; R)\}$ .

The branching coefficients satisfy the completeness relations [22, 41]

$$\sum_{I} B_{I \to (i_1 \dots i_M), \nu}^{R \to (r_1 \dots r_M)} B_{I \to (j_1 \dots j_M), \xi}^{R \to (s_1 \dots s_M)} = \sum_{I} \left\langle \begin{matrix} r_1 \dots r_M \\ i_1 \dots i_M \end{matrix} \nu \middle| \begin{matrix} R \\ I \end{matrix} \right\rangle \left\langle \begin{matrix} R \\ I \end{matrix} \middle| \begin{matrix} s_1 \dots s_M \\ j_1 \dots j_M \end{matrix} \xi \right\rangle = \delta_{\nu \xi} \left(\prod_{k=1}^M \delta^{r_k s_k} \delta_{i_k j_k} \right)$$
(A.10)

$$\sum_{r_1\dots r_M} \sum_{\nu} \sum_{i_1\dots i_M} B_{J\to(i_1\dots i_M),\nu}^{R\to(r_1\dots r_M)} B_{I\to(i_1\dots i_M),\nu}^{R\to(r_1\dots r_M)} = \sum_{r_1\dots r_M} \sum_{\nu} \sum_{i_1\dots i_M} \left\langle \begin{matrix} R \\ J \end{matrix} \middle| \begin{matrix} r_1 \dots r_M \\ i_1 \dots i_M \end{matrix} \right\rangle \left\langle \begin{matrix} r_1 \dots r_M \\ i_1 \dots i_M \end{matrix} \right\rangle \left\langle \begin{matrix} R \\ I \end{matrix} \right\rangle = \delta_{IJ}.$$

They also exhibit an equivariance property

$$\sum_{I} D_{JI}^{R}(h) B_{I \to (i_1 \dots i_M), \nu}^{R \to (r_1 \dots r_M)} = \sum_{j_1 \dots j_M} B_{J \to (j_1 \dots j_M), \nu}^{R \to (r_1 \dots r_M)} D_{j_1 i_1}^{r_1}(h_1) \dots D_{j_M i_M}^{r_M}(h_M).$$
(A.11)

### A.2 CG coefficients of $S_L$

We revire the Clebsch-Gordan (CG) coefficients for  $S_L$ , which are used to define the Kronecker basis in section 2.2.2 and covariant basis in 2.5.

Let  $V_{R_1}^{S_L}$ ,  $V_{R_2}^{S_L}$  be the irreducible representations of  $S_L$ . We define the tensor product representation by

$$\sigma \left| \begin{array}{c} R_1 \\ I_1 \end{array} \right\rangle \otimes \left| \begin{array}{c} R_2 \\ I_2 \end{array} \right\rangle = D_{J_1 I_1}^{R_1}(\sigma) D_{J_2 I_2}^{R_2}(\sigma) \left| \begin{array}{c} R_1 \\ J_1 \end{array} \right\rangle \otimes \left| \begin{array}{c} R_2 \\ J_2 \end{array} \right\rangle$$
(A.12)

generalising (2.40). This equation implies that the tensor produce representation is decomposed into irreducible representations of  $S_L$  as

$$V_{R_1}^{S_L} \otimes V_{R_2}^{S_L} \cong \bigoplus_{\Lambda \vdash L} V_{\Lambda}^{S_L} \otimes V_{R_1, R_2, \Lambda}, \qquad \dim V_{R_1, R_2, \Lambda} = C(R_1, R_2, \Lambda)$$
(A.13)

where  $C(R_1, R_2, \Lambda)$  is the Kronecker coefficient defined by

$$C(R_1, R_2, \Lambda) = \frac{1}{|S_L|} \sum_{g \in S_L} \chi^{R_1}(g) \chi^{R_2}(g) \chi^{\Lambda}(g).$$
(A.14)

By equating the dimensions of the representations, we obtain

$$d_{R_1} d_{R_2} = \sum_{\Lambda \vdash L} C(\Lambda, R_1, R_2) d_{\Lambda}.$$
(A.15)

By taking a complete basis of  $S_L$ , we define the CG coefficients from the irreducible decomposition as,

$$\begin{pmatrix} R_1 \\ I_1 \end{pmatrix} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} R_2 \\ I_2 \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{\Lambda \vdash L} \sum_{\tau=1}^{C(\Lambda, R_1, R_2)} \sum_{K=1}^{d_\Lambda} S^{\tau \Lambda R_1 R_2}_{K I_1 I_2} \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda \\ K \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.16)

whose inverse relation is

$$\begin{pmatrix} \Lambda \\ k \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{R_1 \vdash L} \sum_{R_2 \vdash L} \sum_{I_1=1}^{d_{R_1}} \sum_{I_2=1}^{d_{R_2}} S^{\tau} {}^{\Lambda R_1 R_2}_{K I_1 I_2} \begin{pmatrix} R_1 \\ I_1 \end{pmatrix} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} R_2 \\ I_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(A.17)

Since  $S_L$  is a real group, we can choose the CG coefficients to be real. From (A.16) and (A.17) we find the orthogonality relations [22, 41]

$$\sum_{I_1,I_2} S^{\tau} {}^{\Lambda}{}^{R_1R_2}_{KI_1I_2} S^{\tau'} {}^{\Lambda'}_{K'I_1I_2} = \delta^{\Lambda\Lambda'} \delta^{\tau\tau'} \delta_{KK'}, \quad \sum_{\tau,\Lambda,K} S^{\tau} {}^{\Lambda}{}^{R_1R_2}_{KI_1I_2} S^{\tau} {}^{\Lambda}{}^{R_1R_2'}_{KJ_1J_2} = \delta^{R_1R_1'} \delta^{R_2R_2'} \delta_{I_1J_1} \delta_{I_2J_2}.$$
(A.18)

The CG coefficients satisfy the equivariance property

$$\sum_{J_1,J_2} S^{\tau \Lambda R_1 R_2}_{K J_1 J_2} D^{R_1}_{J_1 I_1}(\sigma) D^{R_2}_{J_2 I_2}(\sigma) = \sum_{K'} D^{\Lambda}_{KK'}(\sigma) S^{\tau \Lambda R_1 R_2}_{K' I_1 I_2}.$$
(A.19)

### A.3 CG coefficients of U(M)

The CG coefficients for U(N) are important in defining the general covariant basis in section 2.6. Let  $V_M$  be the fundamental representation of U(M), equipped with the standard inner product

 $\langle a|b\rangle_{\mathcal{U}(M)} = \delta_{ab}, \qquad a, b \in \{1, 2, \dots, M\}.$ (A.20)

Under the Schur-Weyl duality, the tensor product  $V_M^{\otimes L}$  decomposes as

$$V_M^{\otimes L} = \bigoplus_{\Lambda \vdash L} (V_\Lambda^{\mathrm{U}(M)} \otimes V_\Lambda^{S_L}).$$
(A.21)

If we write down explicit components, we find

$$\left|\vec{a}\right\rangle \equiv \left|a_{1},\ldots,a_{L}\right\rangle_{\mathrm{U}(M)} = \sum_{\substack{\Lambda \vdash L\\\ell(\Lambda) \leq M}} \sum_{M_{\Lambda}=1}^{\mathrm{Dim}_{M}(\Lambda)} \sum_{K=1}^{d_{\Lambda}} C_{KM_{\Lambda}}^{\Lambda\Lambda}(\vec{a}) \left|\frac{\Lambda}{K}\right\rangle \left|\frac{\Lambda}{M_{\Lambda}}\right\rangle_{\mathrm{U}(M)}$$
(A.22)

where K labels a component of the irreducible representation  $\Lambda$  of  $S_L$ , and  $M_{\Lambda}$  labels a component of the irreducible representation  $\Lambda$  of U(M). The symbol  $C_{KM_{\Lambda}}^{\Lambda\Lambda}(\vec{a})$  in (A.22) is the CG coefficient of  $S_L \times U(M)$  used in (2.121). By comparing the dimensions in (A.22), we obtain

$$M^{L} = \sum_{\substack{\Lambda \vdash L \\ \ell(\Lambda) \le M}} d_{\Lambda} \operatorname{Dim}_{M}(\Lambda).$$
(A.23)

The CG coefficients satisfy the orthogonality relations

$$\sum_{\vec{a}} C_{KM_{\Lambda}}^{\Lambda\Lambda}(\vec{a}) C_{K'M_{\Lambda'}}^{\Lambda'\Lambda'}(\vec{a}) = \delta^{\Lambda\Lambda'} \delta_{M_{\Lambda}M_{\Lambda'}} \delta_{KK'}, \qquad \sum_{\Lambda,M_{\Lambda},K} C_{KM_{\Lambda}}^{\Lambda\Lambda}(\vec{a}) C_{KM_{\Lambda}}^{\Lambda\Lambda}(\vec{b}) = \prod_{i=1}^{L} \delta_{a_{i}b_{i}}.$$
(A.24)

### B Algorithm: decomposition of $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$

In this appendix we outline the algorithm used to construct an integer basis for  $\mathcal{A}^{R,\Lambda}$ ,  $\mathcal{A}^{R,r_1,r_2}$  using the ingredients introduced in the main text. We used the GAP package in SageMath [79, 80] to run the code. The code produces a text file enumerating the integer orthogonal basis elements in terms of linear combinations of multi-traces. In this appendix we write  $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1,\mu_2) = \mathcal{A}(m,n)$  in order not to deviate from the notation in the code. The code comes in two files:

- Amn\_Restriction\_Decomposition.sage
- Amn\_Covariant\_Decomposition.sage

and can be run in the terminal by executing, for example,

```
sage Amn_Covariant_Decomposition.sage L n N (B.1)
```

The first parameter determines L = m + n and the second parameter determines n. The last parameter N divides the output into two files. The first file contains a basis of operators for  $L \leq N$ , and the second file contains a basis for the finite N trace relations. The output is independent of N if  $N \geq L$ , in which case the second file is empty.

#### B.1 Outline of SageMath code

In this part we will give an outline of the SageMath code. Each file/algorithm consists of three parts: (1) Constructing the orbit basis for  $\mathcal{A}(m, n)$ . (2) constructing the representation matrices of central elements  $T_2, T_3, \ldots$ ; (3) computing the intersection of kernels in section 3.

- 1. The first step of the algorithm is to construct  $\mathcal{A}(m, n)$  using the orbit basis described in 2.3. The orbits are given by  $S_m \times S_n$  acting on  $S_L$  by conjugation and can be constructed in Sage as follows.
  - (a) Construct the groups  $S_m \times S_n$  and  $S_{m+n}$

```
\label{eq:sigma} SmSn = \texttt{libgap.DirectProduct}(\texttt{libgap.SymmetricGroup}(\texttt{m}), \texttt{libgap.SymmetricGroup}(\texttt{n}))\\ Smn = \texttt{libgap.SymmetricGroup}(\texttt{m+n})
```

(B.2)

(b) Compute the orbits

$$orbit\_basis = libgap.OrbitsDomain(SmSn, Smn)$$
 (B.3)

The variable orbit\_basis is a set of orbits, each orbit contains elements of  $S_L$  related by conjugation of  $S_m \times S_n$ . We also collect a set of representatives of each orbit

$$basis_keys = [b[0] for b in orbit_basis]$$
 (B.4)

This gives the orbit basis of  $\mathcal{A}(m, n)$  — each orbit or representative corresponds to a basis element of  $\mathcal{A}(m, n)$ . In the rest of this section we will refer to the representative elements as  $g_i$ , where  $g_i = \mathtt{basis\_keys}[i-1]$  in the code.

- 2. The second step is to compute the left and adjoint action of  $T_2, T_3 \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_L])$  on  $\mathcal{A}(m, n)$ . We will compute the matrix elements  $m_{ji}^L[T_2]$  given by (3.1), and this can be understood in terms of actions on the orbit sets above. Focusing on the left action of  $T_2$ , we compute the following
  - (a) GAP gives the conjugacy classes as a list

$$T2 = libgap.ConjugacyClass(Smn, libgap.eval("(1,2)")).List()$$
(B.5)

(b) Construct an empty matrix of size dim  $\mathcal{A}(m, n) = \texttt{len}(\texttt{orbits})$ 

$$T2\_left\_matrix = zero\_matrix(ZZ, len(orbit\_basis))$$
 (B.6)

The input ZZ forces the matrix to have integer entries.

(c) The left action on  $P_{m,n}(g_i)$  is computed in parallel for every representative. We introduce the notation  $\{T_2g\}$  for the set of elements with non-zero coefficients appearing in the expansion of the product  $T_2g$ . The action on an orbit basis element is determined by the action on representatives because

$$T_2 P_{m,n}(g_i) = \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Stab}(g_i)|} \sum_{h \in S_m \times S_n} h T_2 g_i h^{-1}$$

$$= \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Stab}(g_i)|} \sum_{h \in S_m \times S_n} \sum_{g \in \{T_2 g_i\}} hgh^{-1}$$

$$= \frac{1}{|\operatorname{Stab}(g_i)|} \sum_{g \in \{T_2 g_i\}} |\operatorname{Stab}(g)| P_{m,n}(g)$$

$$= \sum_{g \in \{T_2 g_i\}} \frac{|\operatorname{Orb}(g_i)|}{|\operatorname{Orb}(g)|} P_{m,n}(g)$$
(B.7)

where the last step uses the orbit-stabilizer theorem  $|\operatorname{Stab}(g)||\operatorname{Orb}(g)| = |S_m \times S_n|$ . Therefore, as an intermediate step, it is useful to compute

$$t2\_orb = tuple(t2 * g for t2 in T2),$$
(B.8)

t2\_orb corresponds to the set  $\{T_2g_i\}$ . Now, for every  $h \in \{T_2g_i\}$  that is also in the orbit  $\{g_j\}_{m,n}$  we get a contribution to the coefficient in front of  $P_{m,n}(g_j)$  in the expansion of  $T_2P_{m,n}(g_i)$  in the orbit basis. It follows that the expansion is given by the vector

where len(orbit) is the length of the orbit  $\{g_i\}_{m,n}$ . The sum computes the order of the intersection of  $\{T_2g_i\}$  and  $\{g_j\}_{m,n}$  for all  $j \in \{1, \ldots, \dim \mathcal{A}(m, n)\}$ .

 $sum(1 \text{ for x in t2_orb if x in orb}) = |\{Elements in t2_orb that are also in orb\}|$ (B.10)
t2\_left\_vec corresponds to the *i*th column in the representation of  $T_2$  acting on

 $\mathcal{A}(m,n)$ . We append it to the matrix by setting

$$T2\_left\_matrix[i-1] = t2\_left\_vec$$
(B.11)

for every representative.

(d) Lastly, transpose T2\_left\_matrix.

Similar procedures can be used to compute the left actions of  $T_3$ , adjoint actions of  $T_2, T_3$  and so on. We call the matrix corresponding to the adjoint action T2\_adjoint\_matrix and similarly for  $T_3$ .

- 3. Having computed the representation matrices we want to compute the kernels in section 3. We will focus on the covariant case, the restricted Schur case is analogous. For every  $R, \Lambda$ we do the following
  - (a) Compute the normalised characters/eigenvalues  $\hat{\chi}_2^R, \hat{\chi}_2^{\Lambda}$ . This is done using the functions T2eigval(), T3eigval() which simply computes (4.8), (4.9),

$$R1 = T2eigval(R)$$

$$R2 = T3eigval(R)$$

$$Lambda1 = T2eigval(Lambda)$$

$$Lambda2 = T3eigval(Lambda)$$

(b) Construct a tuple of matrices

(c) Construct a new matrix made out of blocks, that is a 4-by-1 block matrix

where ZZ defines the block matrix to be over the integers.

(d) Compute a basis for the kernel

The matrix kernel\_basis is a matrix with rows giving a basis for the kernel of simul\_kernel\_matrix or equivalently a basis for  $\mathcal{A}^{R,\Lambda}(m,n)$ . For the benefit of the reader, the next subsection contains a review of a simple algorithm for computing this matrix. Lastly, we run the Gram-Schmidt process on the matrix kernel\_basis and clear the denominators of the vectors to get integer orthogonal bases for  $\mathcal{A}^{R,\Lambda}(m,n)$ . The procedure is very similar for the space  $\mathcal{A}^{R,r_1,r_2}(m,n)$ .

Note that the kernel (B.15) contains a non-trivial solution if and only if<sup>8</sup>

 $C(R, R, \Lambda) > 0, \qquad \ell(\Lambda) \le 2, \qquad K_{\Lambda\mu} > 0.$  (B.16)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>In the restricted Schur basis, the eigenspace has non-zero dimension if and only if  $g(R; r_1, r_2) > 0$ .

Therefore, it is sufficient to compute the eigenvalues and kernels in those cases. In the code, the set of non-zero pairs  $(R, \Lambda)$  are computed using

```
sectors = tuple((R,Lambda) for R in Partitions(L) for Lambda in Partitions(L,max_length=2) \\ if len(R) <= N and kroncoeff(R,R,Lambda) > 0 and \\ symmetrica.kostka_number(Lambda,[L-i,i]) > 0) \\ (B.17)
```

here kroncoeff is a function that computes the Kronecker multiplicity  $C(R, R, \Lambda)$  and kostka\_number computes the Kostka number  $K_{\Lambda\mu}$ .

We encounter some problems for L > 10. First, output files are huge, typically larger than 1MB. Second, we need to solve memory shortage to run the code. A workstation with 1TB of memory can reach L = 12; computing L > 12 will require further refinement of the algorithm or some tricks for the memory management for parallel evaluation.

#### **B.2** Integer kernels

The following algorithm/procedure gives a basis for the kernel of a  $p \times q$  matrix M [64, Algorithm 2.4.5]:

- 1. Set  $i = p, j = q, k = q, U = I_q$  the  $q \times q$  identity matrix. If  $p \leq q$  set l = 1 else l = p q + 1.
- 2. If  $j \neq 1$  go top step 3. Otherwise, go top step 4.
- 3. Reduce j by one. If  $M_{ij} = 0$  go to step 2. Otherwise do the following:
  - (a) Set  $a = M_{ik}, b = M_{ij}$ , compute d, u, v such that

$$d = \gcd(a, b) = ua + vb. \tag{B.18}$$

It is technically necessary for |u|, |v| to be minimal, see the remark below [64, Algorithm 2.4.5] for more details.

(b) We introduce an auxiliary column vector B. For every  $r \in \{1, \ldots, p\}$  set

$$B_r = uM_{rk} + vM_{rj} \tag{B.19}$$

$$M_{rj} = \frac{a}{d}M_{rj} - \frac{b}{d}M_{rk} \tag{B.20}$$

$$M_{rk} = B_r \tag{B.21}$$

and analogously for  $r = 1, \ldots, q$ 

$$B_r = uU_{rk} + vU_{rj} \tag{B.22}$$

$$U_{rj} = \frac{a}{d}U_{rj} - \frac{b}{d}U_{rk} \tag{B.23}$$

$$U_{rk} = B_r \tag{B.24}$$

4. Set  $a = M_{ik}$  and do the following steps:

(a) If a < 0, then for every  $r = 1, \ldots, p$  set

$$M_{rk} = -M_{rk}, \quad U_{rk} = -U_{rk}, \quad a = -a.$$
 (B.25)

(b) If a = 0, increase k by one. Otherwise, each  $r = k + 1, \ldots, q$ 

$$q = \lfloor M_{ir}/a \rfloor \tag{B.26}$$

$$M_{sr} = M_{sr} - qM_{sk}, \quad \text{for every } s \in \{1, \dots, p\}$$
(B.27)

$$U_{sr} = U_{sr} - qU_{sk}, \quad \text{for every } s \in \{1, \dots, q\}$$
(B.28)

- (B.29)
- (c) If i = l output the k 1 first column of U and terminate the algorithm. Otherwise, set i = i 1, k = k 1, j = k and go to step 2.

The above procedure is not the one used in practice, for reasons of efficiency, SageMath will choose an appropriate algorithm based on the input matrix.

#### B.3 Simple example: integer kernel

In section 3.4 we illustrated a simple example of applying the eigenvalue method to  $\mathcal{A}(3,0) = \mathcal{Z}(\mathbb{C}[S_3])$  and R = [3]. This appendix contains the details of computing the integer eigenvectors using the algorithm in the previous subsection.

We apply the algorithm on the augmented matrix

$$m^{\mathfrak{L}}[T_2^{(3)}] - 3I_3 = \begin{pmatrix} -3 & 3 & 0\\ 1 & -3 & 2\\ 0 & 3 & -3\\ \hline 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(B.30)

Starting at the third row, we want turn all columns to the left of -3 to zero. We do this by adding the third column to the second column giving

$$\begin{pmatrix}
-3 & 3 & 0 \\
1 & -1 & 2 \\
0 & 0 & -3 \\
\hline
1 & 0 & 0 \\
0 & 1 & 0 \\
0 & 1 & 1
\end{pmatrix}$$
(B.31)

Note that multiplying the upper matrix in (B.30) by the lower matrix of (B.31) on the right, gives the upper matrix of (B.31). There is nothing left to clear to the left of -3, but we switch the sign by multiplying the third column by -1 giving

$$\begin{pmatrix} -3 & 3 & 0 \\ 1 & -1 & -2 \\ 0 & 0 & 3 \\ \hline 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$
 (B.32)

There is nothing to the right of the third column and so no further reduction is needed.

Now consider the second row. We want to clear all columns to the left of -1. We do this by adding the second column to the first giving

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 3 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & -2 \\ \frac{0 & 0 & 3}{1 & 0 & 0} \\ 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$
 (B.33)

Since -1 is not positive, we multiply the second column by -1

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & -3 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -2 \\ \frac{0 & 0 & 3}{1 & 0 & 0} \\ 1 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & -1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$
 (B.34)

We have already found a basis for the kernel here, the vector (1, 1, 1). But for completeness we carry out the full algorithm which says to further reduce to the right of the second column. Let  $q = \lfloor -2/1 \rfloor = -2$ , we remove q = -2 times the second column from the third column to get

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & -3 & 6 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ \frac{0 & 0 & 3}{1 & 0 & 0} \\ 1 & -1 & -2 \\ 1 & -1 & -3 \end{pmatrix}$$
(B.35)

We now consider the first row and column, and the algorithm says to go to step 4. Because the entry is already zero we do not have to do anything and the algorithm terminates. As previously mentioned, a basis for the kernel is given by the first column of the augmented matrix. That is, the vector (1, 1, 1).

## C Data: integer orthogonal bases for $\mathcal{A}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$

In this appendix we give examples of solutions to the eigensystems in section 3, giving integer orthogonal bases for two-matrix invariants in  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM.

### C.1 Half-BPS operators

The multi-matrix invariants for  $\mathcal{A}(L,0)$  describe the half-BPS operators of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM. These operators are labelled by the Young diagram R only, and the restricted Schur and covariant operators become identical.<sup>9</sup> Following the methods in section 3 we obtain the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The label  $\Lambda$  is always given by the totally symmetric representation [L].

integer basis of operators of  $\mathcal{A}(L,0)$ , which can be denoted by

$$\mathsf{O}^{R}[Z] = \operatorname{tr}_{V_{N}^{\otimes L}} \left( \mathcal{L}(\mathsf{Q}^{R}) Z^{\otimes L} \right) = \sum_{g \in T_{p}} |T_{p}| \, \tilde{c}^{R}(g) \, \mathcal{O}_{g}[Z] \tag{C.1}$$

where  $T_p$  is a sum over the conjugacy class of  $S_L$  having the cycle type  $p \vdash L$ . We can view  $Q^R$  as the restricted Schur or covariant basis whose multiplicity labels are all trivial,

$$Q^{R} \propto \begin{cases} Q^{R,(r_{1},r_{2})}_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}, & (r_{1},r_{2},\nu_{+},\nu_{-}) = (R,\emptyset,1,1) \\ Q^{R,\Lambda,(L,0),\tau}_{\beta}, & (\Lambda,\tau,\beta) = ([L],1,1). \end{cases}$$
(C.2)

Below we will present the explicit form of  $O^R[Z]$ . These data suggest that the coefficients in (C.1) are equal to the  $S_L$  characters,

$$|T_p|\,\tilde{c}^R(g) = \chi^R(T_p). \tag{C.3}$$

Since the normalised characters  $\chi^R(T_p)/d_R$  are known to be integers [42], the coefficients have the common factor equal to the dimensions of the  $S_L$  representations,

$$\operatorname{GCD}_{g \in T_p} \{ \tilde{c}^R(g) \} = d_R \,. \tag{C.4}$$

### C.1.1 A(2,0)

$$R = [2], \qquad \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(Z^2)$$
$$R = [1, 1], \qquad \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - \operatorname{Tr}(Z^2)$$

### C.1.2 A(3,0)

$$R = [3], Tr(Z)^3 + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(Z^2) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z^3)$$
  

$$R = [2, 1], 2 \left\{ \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 - \operatorname{Tr}(Z^3) \right\}$$
  

$$R = [1, 1, 1], Tr(Z)^3 - 3 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(Z^2) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z^3)$$

### C.1.3 A(4,0)

$$R = [4], \qquad \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4} + 6\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2}) + 8\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{3}) + 3\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2})\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2}) + 6\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{4})$$

$$R = [3, 1], \qquad 3\left\{\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4} + 2\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2}) - \operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2})\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2}) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{4})\right\}$$

$$R = [2, 2], \qquad 2\left\{\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4} - 4\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{3}) + 3\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2})\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2})\right\}$$

$$R = [2, 1, 1], \qquad 3\left\{\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4} - 2\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2}) - \operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2})\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2}) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{4})\right\}$$

$$R = [1, 1, 1, 1], \qquad \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4} - 6\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2}) + 8\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) + 3\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2})\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2}) - 6\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{4})$$

### C.2 Restricted basis

We will present the operators which are proportional to the restricted Schur operators (2.99),

$$O_{A}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}}(\vec{a}_{\mu_{1},\mu_{2}}) = \operatorname{tr}_{V_{N}^{\otimes L}} \left( \mathcal{L}(Q_{A}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}}) Z^{\otimes \mu_{1}} \otimes W^{\otimes \mu_{2}} \right)$$

$$Q_{A}^{R,r_{1},r_{2}} = \sum_{\nu_{+},\nu_{-}=1}^{g(R;r_{1},r_{2})} \mathsf{N}_{A,\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,(r_{1},r_{2})} Q_{\nu_{+}\nu_{-}}^{R,(r_{1},r_{2})} .$$
(C.5)

where  $Q_A^{R,r_1,r_2}$  is an integer eigenvector for the eigenvalue system of the restricted Schur basis (3.12), obtained according to the methods described in section 3.3.

### C.2.1 A(1,1)

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([2], [1], [1]), \qquad \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(W) + \operatorname{Tr}(ZW)$  $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([1, 1], [1], [1]), \qquad \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(W) - \operatorname{Tr}(ZW)$ 

# C.2.2 A(2,1)

$(R, r_1, r_2) = ([3], [2], [1]),$	$\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(W) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZW) + \operatorname{Tr}\left(Z^{2}\right)\operatorname{Tr}(W) + 2\operatorname{Tr}\left(Z^{2}W\right)$
$(R, r_1, r_2) = ([2, 1], [2], [1]),$	$2\left\{\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(W) - \operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZW) + \operatorname{Tr}\left(Z^{2}\right)\operatorname{Tr}(W) - \operatorname{Tr}\left(Z^{2}W\right)\right\}$
$(R, r_1, r_2) = ([2, 1], [1, 1], [1]),$	$2\left\{\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(W) + \operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZW) - \operatorname{Tr}\left(Z^{2}\right)\operatorname{Tr}(W) - \operatorname{Tr}\left(Z^{2}W\right)\right\}$
$(R, r_1, r_2) = ([1, 1, 1], [1, 1], [1]),$	$\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(W) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZW) - \operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2})\operatorname{Tr}(W) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2}W)$

# C.2.3 $\mathcal{A}(3,1)$

$$\begin{split} &(R,r_1,r_2) = ([4],[3],[1]), \\ & 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \\ & + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \\ &(R,r_1,r_2) = ([3,1],[3],[1]), \\ & 3 \left\{ -2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 - \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \\ & + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \right\} \\ &(R,r_1,r_2) = ([3,1],[2,1],[1]), \\ & 6 \left\{ -2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 - \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \\ & - \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \right\} \\ &(R,r_1,r_2) = ([2,2],[2,1],[1]), \\ & 2 \left\{ -3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \right\}, \\ &(R,r_1,r_2) = ([2,1,1],[2,1],[1]), \\ & 6 \left\{ 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 - \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \\ & - \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \right\} \\ &(R,r_1,r_2) = ([2,1,1],[1,1,1],[1]), \\ & 3 \left\{ 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 - \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \\ & - \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \right\} \\ &(R,r_1,r_2) = ([1,1,1,1],[1,1,1],[1]), \\ & 3 \left\{ 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 - \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \\ & - 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \right\} \\ &(R,r_1,r_2) = ([1,1,1,1],[1,1,1],[1]), \\ & - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \\ & - 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \right\} \end{aligned}$$

### C.2.4 A(2,2)

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([4], [2], [2]),$ 

 $4\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2} + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) + 4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 4\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)$  $+4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ),$ 

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([3, 1], [2], [2]),$ 

 $-2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2} - 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + \operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ),$  $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([3, 1], [2], [1, 1]),$ 

 $2\left\{-2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\right\}$ 

 $-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)\Big\},$ 

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([3, 1], [1, 1], [2]),$ 

 $2\left\{-2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\right\}$ 

+  $\operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 - \operatorname{Tr}(W)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \Big\},\$ 

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([2, 2], [2], [2]),$ 

 $2\left\{-2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2}+2\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\right.$ 

 $-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + \operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)\Big\},$ 

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([2, 2], [1, 1], [1, 1]),$ 

 $2\left\{2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^2 - 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\right\}$ 

 $+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}-\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)\Big\},$  $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([2, 1, 1], [2], [1, 1]),$ 

 $2\left\{2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\right\}$ 

 $-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)\Big\},$ 

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([2, 1, 1], [1, 1], [2]),$ 

 $2\left\{2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\right.$ +  $\operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 - \operatorname{Tr}(W)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \Big\},\$ 

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([2, 1, 1], [1, 1], [1, 1]),$ 

 $-2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2} + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} - \operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} - \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ),$  $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([1, 1, 1, 1], [1, 1], [1, 1]),$ 

 $-4\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2} - 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) + 4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 4\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)$ 

 $-4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} - \operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} - \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)$ 

# C.2.5 A(4,1)

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([5], [4], [1]),$ 

 $24 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ) + 24 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3} + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}$  $+12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^2$  $+8 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) + 8 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZZ)$ 

 $(R,r_1,r_2) = ([4,1],[4],[1]),$ 

 $4\Big\{-6\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)-6\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)-3\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}$ 

 $-3\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - 3\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 3\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^{2} - 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) + 8\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) + 6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZZ) \Big\}$ 

$$(R, r_1, r_2) = ([4, 1], [3, 1], [1]),$$

 $12\left\{-6\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+5\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+3\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-3\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^{2}\right\}$ 

 $-2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZZ)$ 

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([3, 2], [3, 1], [1]),$ 

 $6\left\{-4\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)-4\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+4\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)\right.\\\left.+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^{2}+4\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZZ)\right\}\right\}$ 

 $(R,r_1,r_2) = ([3,2],[2,2],[1]),$  $4 \Big\{ -6\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 + \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^4 + 6\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \Big\}$ 

 $+3\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^{2}-2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)-4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)\Big\}$ 

 $(R,\!r_1,\!r_2)\!=\!([3,\!1,\!1],\![3,\!1],\![1]),$ 

 $12 \Big\{ 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3} + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4} + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \\ - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^{2} - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \\ - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZZ) \Big\} \Big\}$ 

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([3, 1, 1], [2, 1, 1], [1]),$ 

 $12 \Big\{ 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^4 - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^2 + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) -$ 

 $+2\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZZ)$ 

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([2, 2, 1], [2, 2], [1]),$ 

 $4 \Big\{ 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^4 - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^2 \\ + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \Big\}$ 

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([2, 2, 1], [2, 1, 1], [1]),$ 

 $6\left\{4\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 4\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4} + 4\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^{2} - 4\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZZ)\right\}\right\}$ 

 $(R,r_1,r_2) = ([2,1,1,1],[2,1,1],[1]),$ 

 $\begin{aligned} &12 \Big\{ -6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 5 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 - 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^4 \\ &+ 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^2 \\ &+ 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZZ) \Big\} \end{aligned}$ 

 $(R,r_1,r_2) \!=\! ([2,1,1,1],[1,1,1,1],[1]),$ 

 $4\Big\{-6\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)+6\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)-3\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}+\operatorname{$  $+3\mathrm{Tr}(WZZ)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)-3\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)-6\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)+3\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)^{2}$  $+2\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ)+8\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ)-6\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZZ)\Big\}$ 

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([1, 1, 1, 1, 1], [1, 1, 1, 1], [1]),$  $24 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ) - 24 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^4$  $-12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^2$  $-8\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)+8\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)-6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZZ)$ 

### C.2.6 $\mathcal{A}(3,2)$

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([5], [3], [2]),$ 

 $12 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)$  $+6\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+6\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+12\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+6\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}$  $+6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+6\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)$  $+3\mathrm{Tr}(W)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)+3\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)+2\mathrm{Tr}(W)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ)+2\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ)$ 

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([4, 1], [3], [2]),$ 

 $-4\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 4\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}$  $+\mathrm{Tr}(W)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^{3}+\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^{3}+\mathrm{Tr}(WWZ)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)+\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)+3\mathrm{Tr}(W)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)$  $+3\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)\right\}$ 

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([4, 1], [3], [1, 1]),$ 

 $2\left\{-6\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ)+6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)-6\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)-3\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\right\}$  $+3\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}-3\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+3\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)$  $+3\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-3\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)\right\}$ 

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([4, 1], [2, 1], [2]),$ 

 $6 \Big\{ -4 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \Big\} \Big\} = 0 + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W$  $+2\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(Z)+2\mathrm{Tr}(WZWZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)+2\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)+4\mathrm{Tr}(WWZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^{2}$  $+4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}-2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)$ 

 $-\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)$ 

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([3, 2], [3], [2]),$ 

```
3 \bigg\{ -4 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(W
  +2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+2\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)-4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)-2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}
    +\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}-2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+3\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)
  +3\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)
```

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([3, 2], [2, 1], [2]),$ 

```
– 53 –
```

```
4 \bigg\{ 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) - 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) - 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \bigg\} \bigg\} = 0 - 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) - 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) - 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) - 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \bigg\} = 0 - 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) - 3
   +3\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)-3\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}-3\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}
   -\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)
```

```
(R,r_1,r_2) = ([3,1,1],[1,1,1],[2]),
   +2\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2+\mathrm{Tr}(W)^2\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^3+\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^3-2\mathrm{Tr}(WWZ)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)-2\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)
   -3\mathrm{Tr}(W)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) - 3\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) + 2\mathrm{Tr}(W)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ) + 2\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ) \Big\}
```

```
+ \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)
```

 $(R,r_1,r_2) = ([2,2,1],[2,1],[2]),$ 

```
-3\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+3\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)-\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}
+\mathrm{Tr}(W)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^{3}-\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^{3}+2\mathrm{Tr}(WWZ)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)-2\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)-\mathrm{Tr}(W)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ)
```

```
(R, r_1, r_2) = ([3, 1, 1], [2, 1], [1, 1]),
                                                                                         12 \Big\{ \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) + 3\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) - 3\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 3\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) - 3\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) - 3\operatorname{Tr}
```

```
-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)
```

```
+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}-2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)
```

```
12 \left\{ \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) + 3\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) + 3\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ) + 2\operatorname
    -3\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 3\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) - \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} - \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}
```

```
(R, r_1, r_2) = ([3, 1, 1], [2, 1], [2]),
```

```
+3\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - 3\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \right\}
```

```
3 \Big\{ 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)
       -2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)
```

```
-\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)
```

```
-3\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 3\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + 3\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3} - \operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}
```

```
4 \bigg\{ 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) - 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) - 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \bigg\} \bigg\} = 0
```

```
(R,r_1,r_2) = ([3,2],[2,1],[1,1]),
```

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([3, 1, 1], [3], [1, 1]),$ 

```
-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)
```

```
-\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z) - \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}
+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+4\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)
```

```
12 \left\{ -\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) - 4\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WW
```

```
-\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} - \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3} - \operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3} - 4\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \Big\}
```

```
(R, r_1, r_2) \!=\! ([2, 2, 1], [1, 1, 1], [1, 1]),
```

```
3 \left\{ -4 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2} \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2} \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2} \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \right\} \right\}
```

 $(R, r_1, r_2) \!=\! ([2, 1, 1, 1], [2, 1], [1, 1]),$ 

```
6\left\{-4\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)+4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) +2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)-2\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+4\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}-4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} +\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) +\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)\right\}
```

 $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([2, 1, 1, 1], [1, 1, 1], [2]),$ 

```
2\left\{-6\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ)-6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)+6\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)-3\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}-3\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+3\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+3\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)\right\}\right\}
```

```
-3\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - 3\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \right\}
```

 $(R,r_1,r_2) \!=\! ([2,1,1,1],\![1,1,1],\![1,1]),$ 

```
\begin{split} & 6 \bigg\{ 2 \mathrm{Tr}(WWZZZ) - 8 \mathrm{Tr}(WZWZZ) + 8 \mathrm{Tr}(WZ) \mathrm{Tr}(WZZ) - 2 \mathrm{Tr}(W) \mathrm{Tr}(WZZZ) - 2 \mathrm{Tr}(WWZZ) \mathrm{Tr}(Z) \\ & - 4 \mathrm{Tr}(WZ)^2 \mathrm{Tr}(Z) + 4 \mathrm{Tr}(WZWZ) \mathrm{Tr}(Z) + 2 \mathrm{Tr}(W) \mathrm{Tr}(WZZ) \mathrm{Tr}(Z) + \mathrm{Tr}(WWZ) \mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2 - \mathrm{Tr}(W) \mathrm{Tr}(WZ) \mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2 \\ & + \mathrm{Tr}(W)^2 \mathrm{Tr}(Z)^3 - \mathrm{Tr}(WW) \mathrm{Tr}(Z)^3 - \mathrm{Tr}(WWZ) \mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) + \mathrm{Tr}(W) \mathrm{Tr}(WZ) \mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) - 3 \mathrm{Tr}(W)^2 \mathrm{Tr}(Z) \mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) \\ & + 3 \mathrm{Tr}(WW) \mathrm{Tr}(Z) \mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) + 2 \mathrm{Tr}(W)^2 \mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ) - 2 \mathrm{Tr}(WW) \mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ) \bigg\} \bigg\} \end{split}
```

```
(R,r_1,r_2) \!=\! ([1,1,1,1,1],[1,1,1],[1,1]),
```

```
12 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) - 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) - 12 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) - 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2} \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3} - \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3} - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2} \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2} \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)
```

# C.2.7 $\mathcal{A}(3,3)$

This is the first example of the restricted Schur basis with a non-trivial Littlewood-Richardson coefficient

$$g([2,1],[2,1];[3,2,1]) = 2.$$
 (C.6)

Below we show an integer basis of the four states with  $(R, r_1, r_2) = ([3, 2, 1], [2, 1], [2, 1])$ , which are orthogonal with respect to the  $\delta$ -function inner product.

#### C.3 Covariant basis

We will present the operators which are proportional to the covariant operators (2.113),

$$\mathsf{Q}_{\beta}^{R,\Lambda,\mu,\tau}(\vec{a}_{\mu}) = \operatorname{tr}_{V_{N}^{\otimes L}} \left( \mathcal{L}(\mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,\Lambda}) Z^{\otimes \mu_{1}} \otimes W^{\otimes \mu_{2}} \right)$$
$$\mathsf{Q}_{A}^{R,\Lambda} = \sum_{\tau=1}^{C(R,R,\Lambda)} \sum_{\beta=1}^{K_{\Lambda,(\mu_{1},\mu_{2})}} \mathsf{N}_{A,\beta}^{R,\Lambda,\tau} \mathcal{Q}_{\beta}^{R,\Lambda,(\mu_{1},\mu_{2}),\tau} .$$
(C.7)

where  $Q_A^{R,\Lambda}$  is an integer eigenvector for the eigenvalue system of the covariant basis (3.14), obtained according to the methods described in section 3.3. The index  $\beta$  may be omitted because  $K_{\Lambda\mu} = 0$  or 1 for  $\mu = (\mu_1, \mu_2)$ .

C.3.1 A(1,1)

$(R,\Lambda) = ([2],[2]),$	$\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(W) + \operatorname{Tr}(ZW)$
$(R,\Lambda) = ([1,1],[2]),$	$\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(W) - \operatorname{Tr}(ZW)$

### C.3.2 A(2,1)

$(R,\Lambda) = ([3],[3]),$	$\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(W) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZW) + \operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2})\operatorname{Tr}(W) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2}W)$
$(R,\Lambda) = ([2,1],[3]),$	$2\left\{\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(W) - \operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2}W)\right\}$
$(R,\Lambda) = ([2,1],[2,1]),$	$2\left\{\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZW) - \operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2})\operatorname{Tr}(W)\right\}$
$(R,\Lambda) = ([1,1,1],[3]),$	$\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(W) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZW) - \operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2})\operatorname{Tr}(W) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(Z^{2}W)$

## C.3.3 A(3,1)

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([4],[4]),$ 

```
\begin{split} & 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \\ & + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \end{split}
```

 $(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([3,1],\![4]),$ 

 $3\left\{-2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}-\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)\right\}$  $(R,\Lambda)=([3,1],[3,1]),$ 

```
6\left\{\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} - \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)\right\}
```

 $(R,\Lambda) \!=\! ([2,2],[4]),$ 

 $2\left\{-3\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+3\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)\right\}$ 

 $(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([2,1,1],[4]),$ 

 $3\left\{2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3} - \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)\right\}$ 

 $(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([2,1,1],\![3,1]),$ 

```
6\left\{-\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}-\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)\right\}
```

 $(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([1,1,1,1],[4]),$ 

```
-6\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)+6\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)-3\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+3\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-3\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)
```

### C.3.4 A(2,2)

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([4], [4]),$ 

 $\begin{aligned} &4 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2} + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \\ &+ 4 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2} \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2} \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \\ &(R, \Lambda) = ([3, 1], [4]), \\ &- 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2} - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2} \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} \\ &+ \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2} \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \end{aligned}$ 

 $(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([3,1],[3,1]),$ 

 $-24 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3} + 5 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}$  $+12\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+12\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+3\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^{2}$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([4,1],[4,1]),$ 

 $-\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^{2} - 2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZZ) \right\}$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([3,2],[5]),$ 

 $12 \Big\{ 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3} + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \Big\} \Big\} \Big\}$ 

 $+3\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)-2\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ)+2\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ)\right\}$ 

 $24 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ) + 24 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3} + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}$  $+12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+3 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^{2}$  $+8\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)+8\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)+6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZZ)$ 

 $4\left\{-6\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)+3\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}-3\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)\right\}$ 

C.3.5 A(4,1)

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([5], [5]),$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([4,1],[5]),$ 

 $-4\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2}-2\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ)+4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)+4\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)$  $-4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}-\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([1,1,1,1],[4]),$ 

 $+\mathrm{Tr}(W)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)-2\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)\Big\}$ 

 $(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([2,1,1],\![2,2]),$  $2\Big\{2\mathrm{Tr}(WWZZ)+2\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)^2-2\mathrm{Tr}(WZWZ)-2\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)+\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2-2\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2-2\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)+\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}($ 

 $2 \Big\{ 2 \mathrm{Tr}(W) \mathrm{Tr}(WZZ) - 2 \mathrm{Tr}(WWZ) \mathrm{Tr}(Z) + \mathrm{Tr}(WW) \mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2 - \mathrm{Tr}(W)^2 \mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) \Big\}$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) \!=\! ([2,1,1],[3,1]),$ 

 $-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}-\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([2,1,1],[4]),$  $4\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2} + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) - 4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 3\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}$ 

 $(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([2,2],[2,2]),$  $2\left\{-2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)\right\}$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([2,2],[4]),$  $2\left\{2\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)^2 - 2\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZZ) - 2\mathrm{Tr}(WWZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z) + \mathrm{Tr}(W)^2\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2 + \mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)\right\}$ 

 $+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([3,1],[2,2]),$  $2\Big\{2\mathrm{Tr}(WWZZ) - 2\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)^2 - 2\mathrm{Tr}(WZWZ) - 2\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z) + \mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2 + \mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2 + \mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2 + \mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2 + \mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2 + \mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2 + \mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z) + \mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2 + \mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2 + \mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2 + \mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2 + \mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ) + \mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}$ 

 $2\left\{-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}-\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)\right\}$ 

 $+8 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) - 8 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZZ)$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([3,2],[4,1]),$ 

 $24 \Big\{ -\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 + 3\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \Big\} \Big\} + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \Big\} + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \Big\} + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \Big\} + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \Big\} + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \Big\} + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \Big\} + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \Big\} + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \Big\} + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \Big\} + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \Big\} + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \Big\} +$ 

 $-2\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)-\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)+2\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)^{2}-3\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ)$ 

 $-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZZ)$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([3,1,1],[5]),$ 

 $6\Big\{4\mathrm{Tr}(WZZZZ) + \mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^4 - 4\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) - \mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)^2\Big\},\$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([3,1,1],[4,1]),$ 

 $24 \Big\{ -\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 - \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) + \operatorname$  $+\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZZ)$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([2,2,1],[5]),$ 

 $24 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3} + 5 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{4}$ 

 $-12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^{2}$ 

 $-8 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) - 8 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZZ)$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([2,2,1],[4,1]),$ 

 $24 \Big\{ -\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 + 3\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \Big\} \Big\} + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) +$ 

 $+2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^{2}-3\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)$ 

 $+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZZ)$ 

# $(R,\Lambda) = ([2,1,1,1],[5]),$

 $4\Big\{-6\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ)+3\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2-2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^4+3\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr$  $-3\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)\right\}$  $(R,\Lambda) = ([2,1,1,1],[4,1]),$ 

 $12 \Big\{ 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 - \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \Big\} \Big\} \Big\} = 0$  $-\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) + \mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)^{2} + 2\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ) - 2\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZZ) \Big\}$  $(R,\Lambda) = ([1,1,1,1,1],[5]),$  $24 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZZ) - 24 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^4$  $-12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)^2$ 

 $-8 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) + 8 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZZ)$ 

# C.3.6 A(3,2)

This is the first example of the covariant basis with a non-trivial Kronecker coefficient

$$C([3,1,1],[3,1,1],[3,2]) = 2.$$
 (C.8)

Below we show an integer basis of the two states with  $(R, \Lambda) = ([3, 1, 1], [3, 2])$ , which are orthogonal with respect to the  $\delta$ -function inner product.

$$\begin{split} &(R,\Lambda) = ([3,1,1],[3,2]), \\ &3 \Big\{ & \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 \operatorname{Tr}(WW) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(ZW) \operatorname{Tr}(W) + \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(W)^2 \\ &+ 4\operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZWW) - 4\operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZWZW) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZWW) \\ &- 2\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WW) + 4\operatorname{Tr}(ZZW) \operatorname{Tr}(ZW) \Big\} \\ &(R,\Lambda) = ([3,1,1],[3,2]), \\ &12 \Big\{ & \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(ZWW) - \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WW) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZW) \operatorname{Tr}(W) \\ &+ \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZW)^2 + \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(W)^2 + \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZWW) - \operatorname{Tr}(ZZWZW) \Big\} \end{split}$$

The remaining states are given as follows.

 $(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([5],\![5]),$ 

$$\begin{split} &12 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \\ &+ 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 \\ &+ 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 + \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \\ &+ 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \\ \end{split}$$

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([4,1],[5]),$ 

 $2\left\{-6\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ)-6\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ)-6\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)+6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+3\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}-3\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+3\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+4\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)\right\}$ 

 $(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([4,1],\![4,1]),$ 

```
6 \Big\{ -6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \Big\} \Big\} \Big\} = 0
```

 $-2\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)+4\mathrm{Tr}(WWZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^{3}$ 

```
-3\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) - 2\mathrm{Tr}(W)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) + \mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) - 2\mathrm{Tr}(W)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ) \Big\}
```

 $(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([4,1],\![3,2]),$ 

```
6 \Big\{ 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2} \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \\ - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2} \\ + \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3} + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2} \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \\ + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2} \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \Big\} \Big\}
```

 $(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([3,2],[5]),$ 

```
\begin{split} &12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) - 12 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) - 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \\ &- 12 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + 5 \operatorname{Tr}(W)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 + \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 \\ &+ 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \\ &- 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \end{split}
```

 $(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([2,2,1],\![3,2]),$ 

 $+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)-3\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)$ 

 $+ 6 \mathrm{Tr}(WWZ) \mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) - 6 \mathrm{Tr}(W) \mathrm{Tr}(WZ) \mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) - 2 \mathrm{Tr}(W)^2 \mathrm{Tr}(Z) \mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) + 2 \mathrm{Tr}(WW) \mathrm{Tr}(Z) \mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)$ 

 $+2\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)-4\mathrm{Tr}(WWZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^{3}$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([2,2,1],[4,1]),$   $12 \left\{ -3\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 3\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 4\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z) - \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) \right\}$ 

 $-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)$ 

 $-6\mathrm{Tr}(WWZ)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) + 6\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) - 3\mathrm{Tr}(W)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) + 3\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([2,2,1],[5]),$  $-12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)$  $-12 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + 5 \operatorname{Tr}(W)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 - \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3$ 

 $-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)$ 

$$\begin{split} (R,\Lambda) &= ([3,1,1],[3,2]), \\ & 12 \Big\{ \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) - \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 \Big\} \Big\} \\ \end{split}$$

 $+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}-2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)\right\}$ 

 $3 \bigg\{ 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 \bigg\} \bigg\} = 0$ 

 $(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([3,1,1],[3,2]),$ 

```
+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}-2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)\right\}
```

$$\begin{split} (R,\Lambda) &= ([3,1,1],[4,1]), \\ & 12 \bigg\{ \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 \bigg\} \end{split}$$

 $-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([3,1,1],[5]),$   $6 \left\{ 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \right\}$ 

 $+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)\right\}$ 

 $-2\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)+\mathrm{Tr}(WWZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2-2\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2+\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)^3$ 

 $(R,\Lambda) = ([3,2],[3,2]),$   $12 \left\{ -3\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) + 3\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) - 2\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) - \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z) \right\}$ 

 $-2\mathrm{Tr}(W)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ)-3\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ)$ 

 $+6\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-2\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)$ 

 $-2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+4\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}$ 

$$\begin{split} (R,\Lambda) &= ([3,2],[4,1]), \\ & 12 \left\{ -3 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \right\} \end{split}$$

```
\begin{split} &12 \left\{ 3 \mathrm{Tr}(WWZZZ) - 3 \mathrm{Tr}(WZWZZ) - 2 \mathrm{Tr}(WWZZ) \mathrm{Tr}(Z) + \mathrm{Tr}(WZ)^2 \mathrm{Tr}(Z) + 2 \mathrm{Tr}(WZWZ) \mathrm{Tr}(Z) \\ &+ 2 \mathrm{Tr}(W) \mathrm{Tr}(WZZ) \mathrm{Tr}(Z) - \mathrm{Tr}(WWZ) \mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2 - 2 \mathrm{Tr}(W) \mathrm{Tr}(WZ) \mathrm{Tr}(Z)^2 + \mathrm{Tr}(WW) \mathrm{Tr}(Z)^3 \\ &+ \mathrm{Tr}(W)^2 \mathrm{Tr}(Z) \mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) - \mathrm{Tr}(WW) \mathrm{Tr}(Z) \mathrm{Tr}(ZZ) - \mathrm{Tr}(W)^2 \mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ) \right\} \end{split}
```

 $(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([2,\!1,\!1,\!1],\![5]),$ 

 $2\left\{-6\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ)-6\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ)+6\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)+6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+3\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}-6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}-\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}+3\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)-3\operatorname{Tr}(W)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ)\right\}$ 

 $(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([2,1,1,1],[4,1]),$ 

```
6\left\{-6\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ)+4\operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)-2\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^{2}\operatorname{Tr}(Z)+2\operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)\right.\\+2\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)-4\operatorname{Tr}(WWZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(W)\operatorname{Tr}(WZ)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{2}+\operatorname{Tr}(WW)\operatorname{Tr}(Z)^{3}\right]
```

```
+3\mathrm{Tr}(W)\mathrm{Tr}(WZ)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)-2\mathrm{Tr}(W)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)-\mathrm{Tr}(WW)\mathrm{Tr}(Z)\mathrm{Tr}(ZZ)+2\mathrm{Tr}(W)^{2}\mathrm{Tr}(ZZZ)\bigg\}
```

 $(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([2,1,1,1],[3,2]),$ 

```
\begin{split} & 6 \bigg\{ -6 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \\ & -4 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 \\ & + \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) - 4 \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \\ & - \operatorname{Tr}(W)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \bigg\} \end{split}
```

```
(R,\Lambda)\!=\!([1,\!1,\!1,\!1],\![5]),
```

```
\begin{split} &12 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZZ) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZZ) - 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) - 12 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZZ) - 12 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \\ &+ 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZ)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WZWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 12 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 \\ &- 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^2 + \operatorname{Tr}(W)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 - \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z)^3 - 6 \operatorname{Tr}(WWZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 6 \operatorname{Tr}(W) \operatorname{Tr}(WZ) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) \\ &- 3 \operatorname{Tr}(W)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 3 \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(Z) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZ) + 2 \operatorname{Tr}(W)^2 \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) - 2 \operatorname{Tr}(WW) \operatorname{Tr}(ZZZ) \end{split}
```

# D Data: orthonormal bases for $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$

In this appendix we give examples of solutions to the eigensystems in 4, giving the Artin-Wedderburn and Kronecker decomposition of  $\mathbb{C}[S_L]$ , respectively.

## D.1 Matrix units of $S_L$

The matrix unit of  $S_L$  is defined by (2.48),

$$Q_{IJ}^{R} = \frac{d_{R}}{|S_{L}|} \sum_{g \in S_{L}} D_{JI}^{R}(g) g^{-1}.$$
 (D.1)

In the following we construct  $Q_{IJ}^R$ , and thus determine the matrix elements of the irreducible representation of  $S_L$ .<sup>10</sup>

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$ Our construction gives the Young seminormal representation, which is real and unitary. See the discussion at the end of section 4.

We argued in the main text that by solving the eigenvalue system (4.14), the matrix unit can be determined uniquely up to the normalisation constant. If we follow the method of section 3.3 using the Hermite normal form, we obtain the eigenvectors whose components are all integers. Let us call such an eigenvector the integer basis, denoted by

$$\mathsf{Q}_{IJ}^R \equiv \mathsf{N}_{IJ}^R \, Q_{IJ}^R \tag{D.2}$$

where  $N_{IJ}^R$  is a normalisation constant. The integer basis satisfies the condition

$$\mathsf{Q}_{IJ}^R = \sum_{g \in \texttt{Basis}} c_g(\mathsf{Q}_{IJ}^R) \, g, \qquad c_g(\mathsf{Q}_{IJ}^R) \in \mathbb{Z} \,, \tag{D.3}$$

and the product relation

$$\mathsf{Q}_{IJ}^R \mathsf{Q}_{KL}^S = \frac{\mathsf{N}_{IJ}^R \mathsf{N}_{JL}^R}{\mathsf{N}_{IL}^R} \,\delta^{RS} \,\delta_{JK} \,\mathsf{Q}_{IL}^R \,. \tag{D.4}$$

Note that the explicit data shown below may not give real and unitary matrices  $D^R$  in the sense that  $D_{IJ}^R(\sigma^{-1}) \neq D_{JI}^R(\sigma)$ .<sup>11</sup> As discussed at the end of section 4.1, we need to rescale the eigenvectors to obtain the Young-Yamanouchi orthogonal representation, which is real and unitary. However, the rescaling spoils the integer property. Other Z-valued representation matrices, such as arising from the Young natural and Kazhdan-Lusztig constructions, also do not produce unitary matrices [81, 82].

We wrote a Mathematica code to compute the matrix units of  $S_L$  explicitly up to L = 6. Below we just present our results up to L = 4.

#### D.1.1 Case of $S_2$

One finds

$$Q^{[2]} = () + (12), \qquad Q^{[1,1]} = () - (12), \qquad Q^R Q^S = 2 \,\delta^{RS} Q^R$$
 (D.5)

where we omit I, J because all representations are one-dimensional.

#### D.1.2 Case of $S_3$

We express the matrix unit  $Q_{IJ}^R$  as a pair of Young tableaux  $\{I, J\}$  of shape R. We reorganise them into a vector

$$\mathscr{E}_{\rho} \equiv \left(\mathsf{Q}_{11}^{[3]}, \mathsf{Q}_{11}^{[2,1]}, \mathsf{Q}_{12}^{[2,1]}, \mathsf{Q}_{21}^{[2,1]}, \mathsf{Q}_{22}^{[1,1,1]}\right)$$

$$= \left(\left\{\underbrace{123}, \underbrace{123}, \underbrace{123}, \underbrace{123}, \underbrace{123}, \underbrace{123}, \underbrace{123}, \underbrace{123}, \underbrace{123}, \underbrace{133}, \underbrace{123}, \underbrace{123}, \underbrace{123}, \underbrace{133}, \underbrace{133}$$

We choose a basis of  $S_3$  as

$$\texttt{Basis} = \{(), (23), (12), (123), (132), (13)\} \tag{D.7}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>In other words, we did not impose the real unitarity condition on the integer basis  $Q_{IJ}^R$  with a generic  $N_{IJ}^R$ .

and expand  $\mathscr{E}_\rho$  as

$$\mathscr{E}_{\rho} = \sum_{g \in \text{Basis}} E_{\rho g} g. \tag{D.8}$$

The coefficient matrix in the integer basis is given by

$$E_{\rho g} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & -1 & 2 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & -1 & 1 & -1 \\ 2 & 1 & -2 & -1 & -1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 & -1 & 1 & 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(D.9)

We can write down the product relation (D.4) explicitly as

$$\mathscr{E}_{\rho} \, \mathscr{E}_{\rho'} = \begin{pmatrix} 6 \, \mathscr{E}_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 6 \, \mathscr{E}_2 & 6 \, \mathscr{E}_3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 \, \mathscr{E}_2 & 6 \, \mathscr{E}_3 & 0 \\ 0 & 6 \, \mathscr{E}_4 & 2 \, \mathscr{E}_5 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 6 \, \mathscr{E}_4 & 6 \, \mathscr{E}_5 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 6 \, \mathscr{E}_6 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(D.10)

In order to reproduce the standard matrix unit relation (2.49), we need to adjust the normalisation so that  $N_{IJ}^R = 1$  for all eigenvectors. In this normalisation, we find

$$\hat{\mathscr{E}}_{\rho} = \sum_{g \in \mathtt{Basis}} \hat{E}_{\rho g} g, \qquad \hat{E}_{\rho g} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{6} & \frac{1}{6} & \frac{1}{6} & \frac{1}{6} & \frac{1}{6} & \frac{1}{6} & \frac{1}{6} \\ \frac{1}{3} & -\frac{1}{6} & \frac{1}{3} & -\frac{1}{6} & -\frac{1}{6} & -\frac{1}{6} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}} & 0 & \frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}} & -\frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}} & -\frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}} & \frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}} & -\frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}} \\ \frac{1}{3} & \frac{1}{6} & -\frac{1}{3} & -\frac{1}{6} & -\frac{1}{6} & \frac{1}{6} \\ \frac{1}{6} & -\frac{1}{6} & -\frac{1}{6} & \frac{1}{6} & -\frac{1}{6} & -\frac{1}{6} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(D.11)

For example,

$$\widehat{\mathscr{E}}_{1} = \left\{ \boxed{123}, \boxed{123} \right\} = \frac{() + (23) + (12) + (123) + (132) + (13)}{6}$$

$$\widehat{\mathscr{E}}_{6} = \left\{ \boxed{\frac{1}{2}}_{3}, \boxed{\frac{1}{2}}_{3} \right\} = \frac{() - (23) - (12) + (123) + (132) - (13)}{6}.$$
(D.12)

The product of  $\widehat{\mathscr{E}}$ 's is given by

$$\hat{\mathscr{E}}_{\rho}\,\hat{\mathscr{E}}_{\rho'} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathscr{E}_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \hat{\mathscr{E}}_2 & \hat{\mathscr{E}}_3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \hat{\mathscr{E}}_2 & \hat{\mathscr{E}}_3 & 0 \\ 0 & \hat{\mathscr{E}}_4 & \hat{\mathscr{E}}_5 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \hat{\mathscr{E}}_4 & \hat{\mathscr{E}}_5 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \hat{\mathscr{E}}_6 \end{pmatrix}$$
(D.13)

which agrees with (2.49).

1~

# D.1.3 Case of $S_4$

Define the vector of matrix units as

$$\begin{split} & \mathscr{E}_{\rho} \equiv \left(\left\{\underbrace{1234}, \underbrace{1234}, \underbrace{1234}, \underbrace{1233}, \underbrace{123}, \underbrace{123}, \underbrace{1234}, \underbrace{1234}, \underbrace{123}, \underbrace{1234}, \underbrace{12344}, \underbrace{1234}, \underbrace{1234}, \underbrace{1234}, \underbrace{12344}, \underbrace{$$

 $(132), (1342), (13), (134), (13)(24), (1324), (1432), (142), (143), (14), (1423), (14)(23) \Big\}.$ 

(D.15)

The coefficient matrix in the integer normalisation is given by

	(1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1 1 1 1   1 1 1 1
	$3 - 1 \ 3 \ - 1 $
	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
	$\begin{vmatrix} 0 & 2 & 0 & -1 & 2 & -1 \end{vmatrix} 0 \begin{vmatrix} 2 & 0 & -1 & 2 & -1 \end{vmatrix} 0 \begin{vmatrix} -1 & 0 & -1 & -1 & -1 \end{vmatrix} 2 \begin{vmatrix} -1 & 2 & -1 & -1 & -1 \end{vmatrix}$
	$\begin{bmatrix} 6 & 2 & -3 & -1 & -1 & 5 \\ 6 & 2 & -3 & -1 & -1 & 5 \\ \end{bmatrix} -3 & -1 & -3 & -1 & -4 & -4 \\ \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 5 & -1 & 5 & -4 & -4 \\ -1 & 5 & -1 & 5 & -4 & -4 \\ \end{bmatrix}$
	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
	$\begin{bmatrix} 2 & 2 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & $
$E_{\rho q} =$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
pg	$ \begin{vmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & -1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & -1 & -1 &$
	$\begin{vmatrix} 2-2 & 1 & -1-1 & 1 \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} -2 & 2 & -1 & 1 & 1 & -1 \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} -1 & 1 & 1 & -1 & 2 & -2 \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} 1 & -1-1 & 1 & -2 & 2 \end{vmatrix}$
	2 - 2 - 1 1 1 - 1 2 - 2 - 1 1 1 - 1 - 1
	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 3 & -1 & -3 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 3 & -1 & -3 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 3 & -1 & -3 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 3 & -1 & -3 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 3 & -1 & -3 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 3 & -1 & -3 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 3 & -1 & -3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 3 & -1 & -3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 3 & -1 & -3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 3 & -1 & -3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 3 & -1 & -3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 3 & -1 & -3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 3 & -1 & -3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0$
	0 0 0 1 0 - 1 0 0 0 1 0 - 1 0 - 1 0 - 1 1 1 0 1 0
	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
	$ \begin{vmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 \\ \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} 1 & -1 & -1 & 1 & 1 & -1 \\ 1 & -1 & -1 $
	$ \begin{vmatrix} 0 & 2 & 0 & -2 & 1 & -1 \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} 0 & -2 & 0 & 2 & -1 & 1 \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} 0 & 2 & 0 & -2 & 1 & -1 \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} -1 & 1 & 1 & -1 & -1 & 1 \end{vmatrix} $
	$3 \ 1 \ -3 \ -1 \ -1 \ 1 \ -3 \ -1 \ 3 \ 1 \ -1 \ -$
	$\begin{pmatrix} 1-1-1 & 1 & 1 & -1 & -1 & 1 & 1 & -1 & -1 & 1 & $
	(D.16)

# The product $\mathscr{E}_\rho\,\mathscr{E}_{\rho'}$ is given by

1	$24\mathscr{E}_1$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1	0	$24\mathscr{E}_2$	$24\mathscr{E}_3$	$24\mathscr{E}_4$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	$12 \mathscr{E}_{2}^{2}$	$48\mathscr{E}_3$	$48\mathscr{E}_4$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	$4\mathscr{E}_2$	$16\mathscr{E}_3$	$16\mathscr{E}_4$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	$24\mathscr{E}_5$	$6\mathscr{E}_6$		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0		-	$48\mathscr{E}_6$	$48 \mathscr{E}_{7}$		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0		$16\mathscr{E}_{5}$	$16\mathscr{E}_{6}$	$16 \mathscr{E}_{7}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	$24\mathscr{E}_8$				0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0				$48 \mathscr{E}_{10}$		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0			$16\mathscr{E}_{9}$			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0			$24\mathscr{E}_{12}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		24812		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		$8\mathscr{E}_{14}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0 0	0	0 0	0 0	0	0 0	0 0	0	0 0	0 0	$24\sigma_{13}$ 0	$_{3}24\mathscr{E}_{14}$		0 16 <i>E</i> <sub>16</sub> ]	0	0 0	0	0 0	0 0	0	0 0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10Ø15 0	0		0 48 <i>E</i> <sub>15</sub>	~		~	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	48615	48616	40 <i>6</i> 17			0 24 E <sub>17</sub>	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0			$16\mathcal{E}_{19}$			0	0	0015	0816	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	=0	48 <i>E</i> <sub>18</sub>	~	-	-	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0			24 <i>E</i> <sub>20</sub>	
	0	0	0	0	Ő	0	0	0	0	õ	0	Ő	Ő	õ		$16\mathscr{E}_{22}$			0	Ő	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	Õ	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Ő	0	0	0		$48\mathscr{E}_{21}$	48822	12623		Ũ	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0			$24\mathscr{E}_{22}$	$24\mathscr{E}_{23}$	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		$24\mathscr{E}_{24}$

### D.2 Kronecker basis of $S_L$

Recall that the Kronecker basis of  $S_L$  is defined by (2.60),

$$\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau} = \frac{d_{R}}{|S_{L}|} \sum_{g \in S_{L}} \sum_{I,J=1}^{d_{R}} S_{KIJ}^{\tau\Lambda RR} D_{JI}^{R}(g) g^{-1} = \frac{d_{R}}{|S_{L}|} \sum_{g \in S_{L}} \sum_{I,J=1}^{d_{R}} S_{KIJ}^{\tau\Lambda RR} D_{IJ}^{R}(g) g \qquad (D.17)$$

We solve the eigenvalue system (4.17) using the Hermite normal form to compute the integer Kronecker basis, which is related to the original Kronecker basis by

$$\mathsf{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau} \equiv \mathsf{N}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau} \, \mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau} \tag{D.18}$$

where  $N_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}$  is a normalisation constant.

We will omit the multiplicity label  $\tau$ , because  $C(R, R, \Lambda) \in \{0, 1\}$  for  $L \leq 4$ .

### D.2.1 Case of $S_2$

One finds

$$Q^{[2],[2]} = () + (12), \qquad Q^{[1,1],[2]} = () - (12), \qquad Q^{R,[2]}Q^{S,[2]} = 2\,\delta^{RS}Q^{R,[2]}$$
(D.19)

where we omit K because all representations are one-dimensional. There is no basis element with  $\Lambda = [1, 1]$  because C(R, R, [1, 1]) = 0 at L = 2.

### D.2.2 Case of $S_3$

We express the matrix unit  $\mathcal{Q}_{K}^{R,\Lambda,\tau}$  as a pair  $\{R,K\}$ , where R is a Young diagram and K is a Young tableau K of shape  $\Lambda$ . We reorganise them into a vector

$$\mathscr{F}_{\rho} \equiv \left( \mathsf{Q}^{[1,1,1],[3]}, \mathsf{Q}^{[3],[3]}, \mathsf{Q}^{[2,1],[1,1,1]}, \mathsf{Q}^{[2,1],[3]}, \mathsf{Q}^{[2,1],[2,1]}, \mathsf{Q}^{[2,1],[2,1]}, \mathsf{Q}^{[2,1],[2,1]} \right) \\ = \left( \left\{ \underbrace{\square, \square 23}_{1} \right\}, \left\{ \underbrace{\square, \square 23}_{1} \right\}, \left\{ \underbrace{\square, \square 23}_{1} \right\}, \left\{ \underbrace{\square, \square 23}_{3} \right\}, \left\{ \underbrace{\square, \square 23}_{$$

and expand it in the basis of  $S_3$  (D.7) as

$$\mathscr{F}_{\rho} = \sum_{g \in \text{Basis}} F_{\rho g} \, g. \tag{D.21}$$

The coefficient matrix in the integer basis is given by

$$F_{\rho g} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 0 & 0 & -1 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -2 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & -1 & -1 & 1 & 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (D.22)

For example,

$$\mathscr{F}_{1} = \left\{ \boxed{1}, \boxed{123} \right\} = () + (23) + (12) + (123) + (132) + (13).$$
  
$$\mathscr{F}_{6} = \left\{ \boxed{1}, \boxed{123} \right\} = () - (23) - (12) + (123) + (132) - (13).$$
 (D.23)

If we define  $\mathscr{F}_{\rho}^{-1} = \sum_{g \in \text{Basis}} F_{\rho g} g^{-1}$  and compute the  $\delta$ -function inner product, we find

$$\delta\left(\mathscr{F}_{\rho}^{-1}\mathscr{F}_{\rho'}\right) = \mathsf{M}_{\rho}\,\delta_{\rho\rho'}\,,\qquad \mathsf{M}_{\rho} = \left(6,6,6,2,2,6\right).\tag{D.24}$$

### D.2.3 Case of $S_4$

Again, the multiplicity label  $\tau$  is trivial at L = 4. Define the vector of Kronecker basis as

$$\mathcal{F}_{\rho} \equiv \left( \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \hline \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ 1234 \end{array} \right\}, \left\{ \begin{array}{c} 1234 \end{array} \right\}, \left\{$$

and expand it in the basis of  $S_4$  (D.15). The coefficient matrix in the integer basis is given by

-		
	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 $	
	$ \begin{vmatrix} 3 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} 1 & -1 & 0 & -1 & -1 & 0 \\ \end{vmatrix} $	0 -1 1 0 -1 -1 -1 0 0 1 -1 -1
	$\left \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{vmatrix} -3 & 0 & -2 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ \end{vmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 2 & 0 & 0 \\ \end{vmatrix} $
	$ \begin{vmatrix} 0 & 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 & -1 \\ -2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -2 \end{vmatrix} $	$\begin{array}{ cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
	0 0 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0	0  0  -1  -1  0  0  0  0  -1  -1
	$ \begin{vmatrix} 0 & 2 & -1 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 2 & 4 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 \end{vmatrix} $	0  1  -1  0  -2  -2  1  0  0  -1  -2  -2
	$\begin{array}{ cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
	$\left  \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
	$\begin{vmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & 0 \\ \end{vmatrix} $ $\begin{vmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & -1 & -2 \\ \end{vmatrix}$	$0 \ 1 \ 0 \ -1 \ 0 \ -2 \ 1 \ 2 \ 1 \ 0 \ 2 \ 0$
	$\left \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{vmatrix} -3 - 2 & 0 & -1 & 0 & -2 \end{vmatrix} - 2 - 1 & 1 & 0 & 2 & 0 \end{vmatrix}$
	$\left \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
	0 2 -1 0 0 -1 2 0 0 -1 -1 0	
$F_{\rho g} =$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$	
	$\begin{vmatrix} 3 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 3 & -1 & -1 & 0 & 0 & -1 \end{vmatrix} - 1 - 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0$	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -1 & 0 & -1 & 1 \\ \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 1 & -1 \\ \end{bmatrix}$
	$\begin{vmatrix} 0 & 2 & -2 & -1 & -1 & 2 \\ 0 & 2 & -2 & -1 & -1 & 2 \\ \end{vmatrix} -2 & 0 & 3 & 0 & 0 & -1 \end{vmatrix}$	
	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2 & 2 & 1 & 1 & 2 \\ 0 & 2 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 2 & 1 & -1 & -1 & -2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 \end{bmatrix}$	$ \begin{vmatrix} 0 & 0 & 2 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ \end{vmatrix} $
	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & -1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$	$ \begin{vmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ \end{vmatrix} $
	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 2 & -1 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$	
	$\left \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
	$\left \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{vmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 2 \\ -1 & 2 & 1 & 0 & -2 & 0 \end{vmatrix} $
	$ \begin{vmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 3 & -2 & -2 & 1 \end{vmatrix} $	$\begin{vmatrix} -3 & 2 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 2 \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} 2 & -1 & 1 & 0 & -2 & 0 \end{vmatrix}$
	1 - 1 - 1 1 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 1 - 1 - 1 1	$\begin{vmatrix} 1 & -1 & -1 & 1 & 1 & -1 \end{vmatrix} - \begin{vmatrix} -1 & 1 & 1 & -1 & -1 & 1 \end{vmatrix}$
		(D.26)
		(2:20)

Their  $\delta$ -function inner product is given by  $\delta(\mathscr{F}_{\rho}^{-1}\mathscr{F}_{\rho'}) = \mathsf{M}_{\rho} \,\delta_{\rho\rho'}$ , where

 $\mathsf{M}_{\rho} = (24, 24, 48, 24, 8, 48, 16, 8, 24, 48, 24, 24, 8, 8, 8, 24, 48, 24, 8, 48, 16, 8, 24, 48, 24).$ (D.27)

**Data Availability Statement.** This article has no associated data or the data will not be deposited.

Code Availability Statement. This article has associated code in a code repository.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

### References

- J.M. Maldacena, The large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231 [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory, Phys. Lett. B 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109] [INSPIRE].

- [3] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253
   [hep-th/9802150] [INSPIRE].
- [4] J. Polchinski, String Theory, Cambridge University Press (1998)
   [D0I:10.1017/cbo9780511618123].
- [5] S. Corley, A. Jevicki and S. Ramgoolam, Exact correlators of giant gravitons from dual N = 4 SYM theory, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 5 (2002) 809 [hep-th/0111222] [INSPIRE].
- [6] J. McGreevy, L. Susskind and N. Toumbas, Invasion of the giant gravitons from Anti-de Sitter space, JHEP 06 (2000) 008 [hep-th/0003075] [INSPIRE].
- [7] H. Lin, O. Lunin and J.M. Maldacena, Bubbling AdS space and 1/2 BPS geometries, JHEP 10 (2004) 025 [hep-th/0409174] [INSPIRE].
- [8] Y. Kimura and S. Ramgoolam, Branes, anti-branes and brauer algebras in gauge-gravity duality, JHEP 11 (2007) 078 [arXiv:0709.2158] [INSPIRE].
- [9] T.W. Brown, P.J. Heslop and S. Ramgoolam, Diagonal multi-matrix correlators and BPS operators in N = 4 SYM, JHEP 02 (2008) 030 [arXiv:0711.0176] [INSPIRE].
- [10] R. Bhattacharyya, S. Collins and R. de Mello Koch, *Exact Multi-Matrix Correlators*, *JHEP* 03 (2008) 044 [arXiv:0801.2061] [INSPIRE].
- [11] R. Bhattacharyya, R. de Mello Koch and M. Stephanou, Exact Multi-Restricted Schur Polynomial Correlators, JHEP 06 (2008) 101 [arXiv:0805.3025] [INSPIRE].
- [12] T.W. Brown, P.J. Heslop and S. Ramgoolam, Diagonal free field matrix correlators, global symmetries and giant gravitons, JHEP 04 (2009) 089 [arXiv:0806.1911] [INSPIRE].
- S. Collins, Restricted Schur Polynomials and Finite N Counting, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 026002
   [arXiv:0810.4217] [INSPIRE].
- [14] F.A. Dolan, Counting BPS operators in N = 4 SYM, Nucl. Phys. B 790 (2008) 432
   [arXiv:0704.1038] [INSPIRE].
- [15] O. Aharony et al., The Hagedorn-deconfinement phase transition in weakly coupled large N gauge theories, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 8 (2004) 603 [hep-th/0310285] [INSPIRE].
- [16] J. Kinney, J.M. Maldacena, S. Minwalla and S. Raju, An Index for 4 dimensional super conformal theories, Commun. Math. Phys. 275 (2007) 209 [hep-th/0510251] [INSPIRE].
- [17] S. Dutta and R. Gopakumar, Free fermions and thermal AdS/CFT, JHEP 03 (2008) 011
   [arXiv:0711.0133] [INSPIRE].
- [18] V. Balasubramanian, D. Berenstein, B. Feng and M.-X. Huang, *D-branes in Yang-Mills theory and emergent gauge symmetry*, *JHEP* 03 (2005) 006 [hep-th/0411205] [INSPIRE].
- [19] R. de Mello Koch, J. Smolic and M. Smolic, Giant Gravitons-with Strings Attached (I), JHEP 06 (2007) 074 [hep-th/0701066] [INSPIRE].
- [20] R. de Mello Koch, J. Smolic and M. Smolic, Giant Gravitons-with Strings Attached (II), JHEP 09 (2007) 049 [hep-th/0701067] [INSPIRE].
- [21] Y. Kimura and S. Ramgoolam, Enhanced symmetries of gauge theory and resolving the spectrum of local operators, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 126003 [arXiv:0807.3696] [INSPIRE].
- [22] J. Pasukonis and S. Ramgoolam, Quivers as Calculators: Counting, Correlators and Riemann Surfaces, JHEP 04 (2013) 094 [arXiv:1301.1980] [INSPIRE].
- [23] S. Ramgoolam, Schur-Weyl duality as an instrument of Gauge-String duality, AIP Conf. Proc. 1031 (2008) 255 [arXiv:0804.2764] [INSPIRE].

- [24] D. Berenstein, Giant gravitons: a collective coordinate approach, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 126009
   [arXiv:1301.3519] [INSPIRE].
- [25] S. Ramgoolam, Permutations and the combinatorics of gauge invariants for general N, PoS CORFU2015 (2016) 107 [arXiv:1605.00843] [INSPIRE].
- [26] R. de Mello Koch, M. Kim and A.L. Mahu, A pedagogical introduction to restricted Schur polynomials with applications to heavy operators, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 39 (2024) 2430003 [arXiv:2409.15751] [INSPIRE].
- [27] P. Mattioli and S. Ramgoolam, Permutation Centralizer Algebras and Multi-Matrix Invariants, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 065040 [arXiv:1601.06086] [INSPIRE].
- [28] S. Ramgoolam and L. Sword, Matrix and tensor witnesses of hidden symmetry algebras, JHEP
   03 (2023) 056 [arXiv:2302.01206] [INSPIRE].
- [29] S. Ramgoolam and M. Sedlák, Quantum Information Processing and Composite Quantum Fields, JHEP 01 (2019) 170 [arXiv:1809.05156] [INSPIRE].
- [30] J.P. Elliott, J. Hope and H.A. Jahn, Theoretical studies in nuclear structure IV. Wave functions for the nuclear p-shell part b. Fractional parentage coefficients, Phil. Trans. R. Soc. 246 (1953) 241.
- [31] J.-Q. Chen, D.F. Collinson and M.-J. Gao, Transformation coefficients of permutation groups, J. Math. Phys. 24 (1983) 2695.
- [32] F. Pan and J.-Q. Chen, Irreducible representations of hecke algebras in the non-standard basis and subduction coefficients, J. Phys. A 26 (1993) 4299.
- [33] L.F. McAven, P.H. Butler and A.M. Hamel, Split bases and multiplicity separations in symmetric group transformation coefficients, J. Phys. A 31 (1998) 8363.
- [34] L.F. McAven and P.H. Butler, Split-standard transformation coefficients: the block-selective conjecture, J. Phys. A 32 (1999) 7509.
- [35] L.F. McAven and A.M. Hamel, Calculating symmetric group split-standard transformation coefficients using the block selective method: a proof, J. Phys. A 35 (2002) 1719.
- [36] V. Chilla, On the linear equation method for the subduction problem in symmetric groups, J. Phys. A 39 (2006) 7657 [math-ph/0512011] [INSPIRE].
- [37] V. Chilla, Reduced subduction graph and higher multiplicity in S(n) transformation coefficients, J. Phys. A 39 (2006) 12395 [math-ph/0606037] [INSPIRE].
- [38] R. de Mello Koch, M. Dessein, D. Giataganas and C. Mathwin, Giant Graviton Oscillators, JHEP 10 (2011) 009 [arXiv:1108.2761] [INSPIRE].
- [39] R. de Mello Koch and S. Ramgoolam, A double coset ansatz for integrability in AdS/CFT, JHEP 06 (2012) 083 [arXiv:1204.2153] [INSPIRE].
- [40] R. Suzuki, Oscillating Multiple Giants, JHEP 04 (2021) 293 [arXiv:2101.05310] [INSPIRE].
- [41] M. Hamermesh, Group theory and its application to physical problems, Courier Corporation (2012) [ISBN: 9780486661810].
- [42] J. Ben Geloun and S. Ramgoolam, Quantum mechanics of bipartite ribbon graphs: Integrality, Lattices and Kronecker coefficients, Alg. Comb. 6 (2023) 547 [arXiv:2010.04054] [INSPIRE].
- [43] A. Padellaro, Permutation invariance, partition algebras and large N matrix models, Ph.D. thesis, Queen Mary University of London, London, U.K. (2023) [arXiv:2311.10213] [INSPIRE].

- [44] G. Barnes, A. Padellaro and S. Ramgoolam, Permutation invariant tensor models and partition algebras, Ann. Inst. H. Poincare Comb. Phys. Interact. (2024) [arXiv:2312.09205] [INSPIRE].
- [45] G. Kemp and S. Ramgoolam, BPS states, conserved charges and centres of symmetric group algebras, JHEP 01 (2020) 146 [arXiv:1911.11649] [INSPIRE].
- [46] S. Ramgoolam and E. Sharpe, Combinatoric topological string theories and group theory algorithms, JHEP 10 (2022) 147 [arXiv:2204.02266] [INSPIRE].
- [47] N. Beisert, The su(2/3) dynamic spin chain, Nucl. Phys. B 682 (2004) 487 [hep-th/0310252]
   [INSPIRE].
- [48] R. de Mello Koch, P. Diaz and N. Nokwara, Restricted Schur Polynomials for Fermions and integrability in the su(2/3) sector, JHEP 03 (2013) 173 [arXiv:1212.5935] [INSPIRE].
- [49] Wikipedia contributors, Wedderburn-Artin theorem Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia, (2024).
- [50] Wikipedia contributors, Maschke's theorem Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia, (2023).
- [51] J.-P. Serre, *Linear Representations of Finite Groups*, Springer New York (1977)
   [D0I:10.1007/978-1-4684-9458-7].
- [52] A. Ram, Representation theory and character theory of centralizer algebras, Ph.D. thesis, University of California San Diego, CA 92093-0319, U.S.A. (1991).
- [53] P. Mattioli and S. Ramgoolam, Gauge Invariants and Correlators in Flavoured Quiver Gauge Theories, Nucl. Phys. B 911 (2016) 638 [arXiv:1603.04369] [INSPIRE].
- [54] S. Mandelstam, Charge-Monopole Duality and the Phases of Nonabelian Gauge Theories, Phys. Rev. D 19 (1979) 2391 [INSPIRE].
- [55] R. Giles, The Reconstruction of Gauge Potentials From Wilson Loops, Phys. Rev. D 24 (1981) 2160 [INSPIRE].
- [56] D.E. Berenstein and L.F. Urrutia, The relation between the Mandelstam and the Cayley-Hamilton identities, J. Math. Phys. 35 (1994) 1922 [hep-th/9305156] [INSPIRE].
- [57] C. Procesi, The invariant theory of  $n \times n$  matrices, Adv. Math. 19 (1976) 306.
- [58] V. Drensky and E. Formanek, Polynomial Identity Rings, Birkhäuser Basel (2004) [D0I:10.1007/978-3-0348-7934-7].
- [59] D.Z. Djokovic, Poincaré series of some pure and mixed trace algebras of two generic matrices, math/0609262.
- [60] A.T. Kristensson and M. Wilhelm, From Hagedorn to Lee-Yang: partition functions of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM theory at finite N, JHEP 10 (2020) 006 [arXiv:2005.06480] [INSPIRE].
- [61] D. Berenstein, Negative specific heat from non-planar interactions and small black holes in AdS/CFT, JHEP 10 (2019) 001 [arXiv:1810.07267] [INSPIRE].
- [62] D. O'Connor and S. Ramgoolam, Permutation invariant matrix quantum thermodynamics and negative specific heat capacities in large N systems, JHEP 12 (2024) 161 [arXiv:2405.13150]
   [INSPIRE].
- [63] B. Simon, Representations of Finite and Compact Groups, American Mathematical Society (1996) [ISBN: 9780821804537].
- [64] H. Cohen, A course in computational algebraic number theory, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg (1993) [D0I:10.1007/978-3-662-02945-9].

- [65] A.-A.A. Jucys, Symmetric polynomials and the center of the symmetric group ring, Rept. Math. Phys. 5 (1974) 107.
- [66] G.E. Murphy, A new construction of Young's seminormal representation of the symmetric groups, J. Algebra 69 (1981) 287.
- [67] A.M. Vershik and A.Y. Okounkov, A new approach to the representation theory of the symmetric groups. 2, math/0503040.
- [68] M. Lassalle, An explicit formula for the characters of the symmetric group, Math. Ann. 340 (2007) 383.
- [69] S. Corteel, A. Goupil and G. Schaeffer, Content evaluation and class symmetric functions, Adv. Math. 188 (2004) 315.
- [70] I. Makhlin, Why are jucys-murphy elements' eigenvalues whole numbers?, MathOverflow [https://mathoverflow.net/q/83493].
- [71] A. Garsia and O. Egecioglu, Lectures in Algebraic Combinatorics, Springer International Publishing (2020) [DOI:10.1007/978-3-030-58373-6].
- [72] S. Danz, H. Ellers and J. Murray, The centralizer of a subgroup in a group algebra, Proc. Edin. Math. Soc. 56 (2012) 49.
- [73] J. Ben Geloun and S. Ramgoolam, Tensor Models, Kronecker coefficients and Permutation Centralizer Algebras, JHEP 11 (2017) 092 [arXiv:1708.03524] [INSPIRE].
- [74] J.B. Geloun and S. Ramgoolam, Kronecker coefficients from algebras of bi-partite ribbon graphs, Eur. Phys. J. ST 232 (2023) 3637 [arXiv:2211.02544] [INSPIRE].
- [75] A. Padellaro, S. Ramgoolam and R. Suzuki. *Multiplicity resolution in representation bases for multi-matrix invariants*, to appear.
- [76] C.-M. Chang and Y.-H. Lin, Words to describe a black hole, JHEP 02 (2023) 109 [arXiv:2209.06728] [INSPIRE].
- [77] C.-M. Chang and Y.-H. Lin, *Holographic covering and the fortuity of black holes*, arXiv:2402.10129 [INSPIRE].
- [78] R. de Mello Koch et al., Brane-fused black hole operators, arXiv:2412.08695 [INSPIRE].
- [79] The GAP Group, GAP Groups, Algorithms, and Programming, Version 4.13.1, (2024).
- [80] T.S. Developers, SageMath, the Sage Mathematics Software System (Version 10.4), (2024).
- [81] A. Bjorner and F. Brenti, Combinatorics of Coxeter Groups, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg (2005) [D0I:10.1007/3-540-27596-7].
- [82] A.M. Garsia and T.J. McLarnan, Relations between Young's natural and the Kazhdan-Lusztig representations of Sn, Adv. Math. 69 (1988) 32.